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CEO’S MESSAGE

Dear Shareholder,

For the 12 months ended 30 June 2021 (“FY 2021”), we delivered a strong
result across all our segments, but most pleasingly we generated over HK$500
million profit in our Resource Investment segment. We also had a reversal in
the impairment loss on interest in an associate of HK$580,014,000 which relates
to our investment in Mount Gibson Iron Limited as iron ore prices were solid
throughout FY 2021. When combined with profits in our Commodity Business
segment and our Principal Investment and Financial Services segment, we
generated a total profit for the company of HK$1,357,290,000, which is the largest
profit we have delivered since | joined as CEO.

This result comes against a background of strong commodity prices driven by goods consumption as the world remains
partly shut for services consumption due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. As the risks around COVID-19 became
better understood, and the virus has come under a measure of control, we have seen a surge of pent-up demand.
Further fueling commodity prices is loose monetary policy and fiscal stimulus as governments sought to support their
economies during the COVID-19 lockdowns, part of which has translated into increased infrastructure spend.

The COVID-19 pandemic is not yet over, and as new strains like the recent Delta strain flare up means that the recovery
of the global economy will be bumpy. However we are cautiously optimistic that the ongoing roll out of vaccines will allow
the world to stay ahead of hospitalizations and fatalities, providing a path towards normalization.

The US Federal Reserve has indicated that it intends to start tapering asset purchases before the end of 2021 as the
US economy makes progress in employment levels, however Federal Reserve Chairman Powell also reiterated earlier
comments that the current spike in inflation is transitory driven by supply chain bottlenecks, which has dampened
expectations of a near term US rate rise. Other central banks have generally been dovish. ECB is expected to maintain its
PEPP purchases at least until the end of 2021, Reserve Bank of Australia recently went ahead with its planned tapering
starting in September but delayed a potential increase in tapering by at least three months, and Japan’s inflation levels
are well below Bank of Japan’s target of 2% so it is unlikely there will be a wind down of stimulus soon. Meanwhile
various South East Asian central banks increased stimulus from June 2021 as a result of the surge in the Delta variant.
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The near term outlook for the Chinese economy is somewhat uncertain. The country was temporarily impacted by an
outbreak of the Delta variant which led to lockdowns across parts of the country, affecting manufacturing and exports,
and reflected in weaker PMI numbers for August. China has implemented a range of policies to promote the idea of
“Common Prosperity” which has resulted in turbulence across a number of sectors such as technology and education.
Nonetheless, we believe that the People’s Bank of China has room for additional stimulus measures if there is sustained
weakness in the economy, such as cuts in RRRs and interest rates.

Barring another surge in COVID-19 infections, which is still difficult to rule out, we see support for commodities as the
world continues to reopen. We continue to believe that the world is moving towards a lower carbon footprint, and remain
vigilant in identifying investment opportunities that can benefit from this longer term trend.

It is our long held belief that shareholders should receive a return, and given the strong results, we are pleased to

recommend a final dividend of HK10 cents per share and a special dividend of HK10 cents per share for FY 2021.
As ever, | would like to thank you all for your continued faith in APAC Resources.

Andrew Ferguson
Chief Executive Officer

24 September 2021

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

APAC Resources Limited (“APAC” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) reported a net
profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$1,357,290,000 for the year ended 30 June 2021 (“FY 2021”),
compared with a net loss attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$429,401,000 for the year ended 30 June
2020 (“FY 2020”). In the past 12 months our Resource Investment, Commodity Business and Principal Investment
and Financial Services segments generated a combined profit of HK$616,375,000. In addition, we had a non-cash
impairment loss reversal on our ownership in Mount Gibson Iron Limited (‘Mount Gibson”) of HK$580,014,000 driven
by the stronger Mount Gibson share price.

PRIMARY STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS

Our Primary Strategic Investments are in Mount Gibson which is listed and operating in Australia, and in the year ended
30 June 2018 we also acquired an investment in Tanami Gold NL (“Tanami Gold”). The net attributable profit from
our Primary Strategic Investments for FY 2021 was HK$130,374,000 (FY 2020: Net profit of HK$145,377,000). Mount
Gibson reported a FY 2021 net profit after tax of A$64 million.

Mount Gibson is an Australian producer of direct shipping grade iron ore products. Mount Gibson owns the Koolan
Island mine off the Kimberley coast in the remote north-west of Western Australia. Sales of low grade material from and
the Extension Hill/lron Hill operations ended during the FY 2021. Mount Gibson is developing the Shine Iron Ore Project,
located 85km north of Extension Hill, and target Stage 1 production to start in September quarter 2021 at a rate for
1.5 million tonnes per annum for an initial two years period.

Ore sales at the Koolan Island Restart Project started in April 2019, and achieved commercial production in the June
quarter 2019. The restart project had 21 million tonnes of 65.5% Fe reserves. Mount Gibson is partway through a
planned elevated waste mining phase, which should then allow for increased production from the year ending 30 June
2022 (“FY 2022”) onwards.

Mount Gibson reported a net profit after tax of A$64 million for FY 2021 from sales of 3.0 million tonnes.

Mount Gibson’s operating costs remained high in FY 2021 as it continued its waste mining phase at Koolan Island and
upgrade of the crushing circuit, which is expected to be completed in the first half of FY 2022. Operations were also
impacted by a rockfall at the western end of the main pit, and Mount Gibson has engaged a specialist contractor to
provide footwall ground support in the area. Mount Gibson reported an all in cash cost of A$70 per tonne for FY 2021
and expects site operating cash cost of A$75-80 per wet metric tonne in FY 2022,

Mount Gibson'’s cash reserve, including term deposits and tradable investments, ending FY 2021 was A$365 million or
an equivalent of A$0.31 per share, despite paying a A$16 million dividend during FY 2021.

Mount Gibson sales guidance for FY 2022 is 3.0 million tonnes to 3.2 million tonnes, including 1.0 million tonnes from the
new Shine Project in the Midwest region of Western Australia.

The Platts IODEX 62% CFR China index strengthened considerably during FY 2021, starting the year at US$101 per
dry metric tonne (“dmt”) and steadily trended upwards to reach a high of US$233 per dmt by May 2021. Demand for
iron ore was driven by strong steel demand from China construction activity and a global rebound in manufacturing. We
are now seeing a softening in Chinese construction activity, with China announcing a new target to keep steel output
flat this year, implying significantly weaker production in the second half of 2021 and causing iron ore prices to retreat
aggressively. At time of writing it is trading around US$130 per dmt.
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We currently own 46.3% of Tanami Gold.

Tanami Gold’s principal business activity is gold exploration. It holds 50% of the Central Tanami Project and has a cash
balance of A$28 million. In May 2021, Tanami Gold entered into a binding agreement with Northern Star Resources
Limited (“Northern Star”) (ASX: NST) to establish a new 50-50 Joint Venture covering the Central Tanami Project.
Northern Star agreed to pay A$15 million cash to increase its ownership in the project from 40% to 50%, and going
forward both parties will be jointly responsible for funding exploration and development activities. This agreement has
now been completed.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise mainly the Group’s investments in Metals X Limited (“Metals X”)
and Resource Investment. As at 30 June 2021, APAC had a significant investment representing 5% or more of the
Group’s total assets in Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited (“Shougang Fushan”) (HKEX: 639).

For the year ended 30 June 2021 As at 30 June 2021
% of carrying
value to
Name of Number of % of  Investment Dividend Realised  Unrealised Fair value Carrying  the Group’s
investee company  shares held  shares held cost received gain gain gain value total assets

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Shougang Fushan 116,898,000 2.3% 190,767 8,010 2,367 75,018 77,385 267,697 5.4%

190,767 8,010 2,367 75,018 77,385 267,697

Brief description of principal businesses of the investee company of the significant investment held by the Group:

Name of investee company Principal businesses

Shougang Fushan Coking coal mining, production and sales of coking coal products

Shougang Fushan generated a fair value gain of HK$77,385,000 with carrying value as at 30 June 2021 of
HK$267,697,000.
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Shougang Fushan is a coking coal producer listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Its principal
businesses are coking coal mining, production and sales of coking coal products in China. It has 3 mines located in
China with reserves of 75 million tonnes of raw coking coal at 31 December 2020 and during six months ended 30 June
2021 Shougang Fushan produced 2.6 million tonnes raw coking coal.

The market capitalisation of Shougang Fushan in early September 2021 is around HK$14 billion, while its working capital
reported at 30 June 2021 is HK$4.8 billion and it generated EBITDA of HK$1.4 billion in six months ended 30 June 2021.
2021 guidance is for 5.2 million tonnes of raw coking coal, in line with the production rate achieved in the first half of
2021. It declared an interim dividend of HK8 cents per share. In the near term, we are concemed about whether coking
coal demand will remain elevated given a softening in Chinese steel demand, but restrictions on seaborne imports are
expected to remain in place for now which should provide a floor to China domestic coking coal prices.

Other our notable investment is in Metals X.

The carrying value of Metals X as at 30 June 2021 amounted to HK$174,333,000 (As at 30 June 2020: HK$58,398,000)
represented approximately 3.5% (As at 30 June 2020: 1.7%) of the total assets of the Group. In FY 2021, our investment
in Metals X generated an unrealised gain of HK$115,935,000 (FY 2020: Loss of HK$95,631,000) which was accounted
for in profit or loss.

In July 2020, Mr. Brett Robert Smith, who is the Deputy Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company, was
appointed to the board initially as a non-executive director and subsequently as an executive director of Metals X. Since
his appointment, Metals X has sold its copper asset portfolio and is in the process of spinning out its nickel assets. APAC
provided a loan facility to refinance Metals X debt, and at end June 2021 there was A$15.5 million outstanding on the
loan, and subsequent to the FY 2021 year end, the loan has been paid down to approximately A$7.8 million. Metals X is
focused on implementing its life of mine plan at Renison mine, including development of the high grade Area 5 deposit.

During FY 2021, the Renison mine produced 3,974 tonnes of tin (net 50% basis) up 11% year-on-year (“YoY”), and the
average realised tin price of A$27,011 per tonne was up 26% YoY. Tin prices strengthened considerably during FY 2021
as part of the global reopening trade. Tin price ran up from as low as US$17,000 per tonne to a peak of US$36,000 per
tonne by July 2021 and at time of writing is around US$33,500 per tonne. Demand for semiconductors has increased
on the back of consumer electronics sales. We remain bullish on the medium term outlook for tin due to the lack of
significant supply growth and new demand for tin from the growing electrical vehicle and energy storage industries.

The investments in this division comprise mostly minor holdings in various natural resource companies listed on major
stock exchanges including Australia, Canada, Hong Kong, the United Kingdom and the United States. Our investments
focus on select commodities within several commodity segments, namely energy, bulk commodities, base metals and
precious metals. Some of our positions are exploration or development stage companies and this section of the market is
particularly sensitive to risk aversion, lower commodity prices, and the difficult financing markets.

Resource Investment posted a fair value gain of HK$448,111,000 in FY 2021 (FY 2020: Gain of HK$42,317,000), which
after accounting for segment related dividend and other investment income and expenses, resulted in a segment profit of
HK$510,268,000 (FY 2020: Gain of HK$63,356,000).

Our Resource Investment division includes the results of the two resource portfolios which were announced in August
2016. As the world recovered from the shock of the COVID-19 pandemic, the broader commodity complex has had a
strong rebound.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 202



Precious

Precious metals (majority gold exposure) generated a net fair value gain of HK$30,812,000 in FY 2021 while the gold
price was down 1%. As at 30 June 2021, the carrying value of the Precious segment was HK$317,518,000 (As at
30 June 2020: HK$314,449,000). Our largest gold investment in the Resource Investment division is in Northern Star (ASX:
NST) which generated a fair value loss of HK$24,659,000 with carrying value as at 30 June 2021 of HK$102,558,000.
We also own Westgold Resources Limited (“Westgold Resources”) (ASX: WGX) which generated a fair value gain
of HK$11,168,000 with carrying value as at 30 June 2021 of HK$21,950,000. Other notable fair value gains include
HK$10,592,000 generated from our investment in Discovery Metals Corp. (TSX: DSV).

Northern Star owns high grade underground mines in Western Australia and Alaska. In FY 2021 its gold sales were
1,595,000 ounces, and it generated free cash flow of A$735 million before acquisitions. In FY 2022 its production target is
1,550,000 to 1,650,000 ounces of gold.

Westgold Resources produced 245,411 ounces of gold in FY 2021 up 4% YoY but below its target 270,000 to 300,000
ounces. It is guiding for FY 2022 production of greater than 270,000 ounces, with all-in sustaining cost of A$1,500 to
A$1,700 per ounce.

The gold price reached a peak of US$2,050 per ounce in August 2020 and has gradually weakened as market
expectations of real rates increased with the global reopening trade. Recent comments from the US Federal Reserve has
led to expectations that it will start to taper its bond buying program sometime in calendar year 2021. Even though we
do not see rates increasing materially in the medium term, we see limited opportunity for the gold price to outperform if
real rates have indeed bottomed.

Bulk

Bulk commodities segment generated a fair value gain of HK$161,539,000, as iron ore and thermal/met coal have been
strong performers in FY 2021. As at 30 June 2021, the carrying value of this segment was HK$490,627,000 (As at
30 June 2020: HK$189,224,000). This segment included our investment in Shougang Fushan.

Base Metals
Base Metals segment (a mix of copper, nickel and zinc companies) delivered a fair value gain of HK$129,482,000
in FY 2021, the copper, nickel and zinc prices increased by 56%, 47% and 47% respectively. The Base Metals
segment includes our investment in China Molybdenum Co., Ltd. (HKEX: 3993) which generated a fair value gain of
HK$18,000,000 in FY 2021 and had a carrying value as at 30 June 2021 of HK$18,440,000 (As at 30 June 2020:
HK$22,761,000).

Energy

The Energy segment (mainly oil and gas, renewables and uranium exposure) had a fair value gain of HK$63,313,000 in
FY 2021. Our significant Energy investments include CNOOC Limited (HKEX: 883), which generated a fair value gain of
HK$6,833,000 and had a carrying value as at 30 June 2021 of HK$38,411,000 (As at 30 June 2020: Nil) and Peninsula
Energy Limited (ASX: PEN), which generated a fair value gain of HK$3,852,000 and had a carrying value as at 30 June
2021 of HK$7,443,000 (As at 30 June 2020: HK$7,226,000).

Others

We also have a fair value gain of HK$62,540,000 from the remaining commodity (diamonds, manganese and mineral
sands among others) and non-commaodity investments in FY 2021 and had a carrying value as at 30 June 2021 of
HK$117,161,000 (As at 30 June 2020: HK$21,921,000).
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COMMODITY BUSINESS

Qur iron ore offtake at Koolan Island recommenced as the mine restarted operations, and we continue to look for new
offtake opportunities across a range of commodities. For FY 2021, our Commaodity Business, which engaged in trading
of iron ore, generated a profit of HK$55,905,000 (FY 2020: Loss of HK$5,912,000).

PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT AND FINANCIAL SERVICES

The Principal Investment and Financial Services segment, which covers the income generated from loan receivables,
loan notes, convertible notes and other financial assets. For FY 2021, this segment generated a profit of HK$50,202,000
(FY 2020: Profit of HK$57,851,000).

MONEY LENDING

The Group engaged in money lending activities under the Money Lenders Ordinance of Hong Kong. For FY 2021, the
revenue and profits generated from money lending formed part of results of the Principal Investment and Financial
Services segment.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2021, our non-current assets amounted to HK$2,755,862,000 (As at 30 June 2020: HK$1,930,522,000)
and net current assets amounted to HK$2,076,671,000 (As at 30 June 2020: HK$1,506,047,000) with a current ratio of
20.7 times (As at 30 June 2020: 17.7 times) calculated on the basis of its current assets over current liabilities. Included
in non-current assets and current assets are loan notes of HK$3,924,000 (As at 30 June 2020: HK$3,916,000) and loan
receivables of HK$493,850,000 (As at 30 June 2020: HK$468,876,000).

As at 30 June 2021, we had no borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) (As at 30 June 2020: Nil) and had undrawn
banking facilities amounting to HK$217,927,000 secured against certain term deposits of the Group. As at 30 June
2021, we had a gearing ratio of nil (As at 30 June 2020: Nil), calculated on the basis of net debt over equity attributable
to owners of the Company. For this purpose, net debt is defined as borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) less cash and
cash equivalents.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 June 2021 and the circular of the Company dated
27 July 2021, on 29 June 2021, the Company proposed a bonus issue of warrants to the qualifying shareholders of the
Company on the basis of one warrant for every 5 shares held on the record date. A total of 243,778,782 warrants have
been issued by the Company pursuant to the bonus warrants issue, conferring the rights to the holders to subscribe
in cash for 243,778,782 new shares of the Company at an initial exercise price of HK$1.20 per new share (subject to
adjustment) at any time during the period of thirteen months from 7 September 2021 to 6 October 2022 (both days
inclusive).
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

For the year under review, the Group’s assets were mainly denominated in Australian Dollars and Renminbi while
the liabilities were mainly denominated in United States Dollars and Hong Kong Dollars. There would be no material
immediate effect on the cash flows of the Group from adverse movements in foreign exchange for long term investments.
In addition, the Group is required to maintain foreign currency exposure to cater for its present and potential investment
activities, meaning it will be subject to reasonable exchange rate exposure. In light of this, the Group did not actively
hedge for the risk arising from the Australian Dollars denominated assets. However, the Group will closely monitor this
risk exposure as required.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s bank deposits of HK$18,266,000 (As at 30 June 2020: HK$88,611,000) were pledged
to banks to secure various trade and banking facilities granted to the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group ensures that its employees are remunerated according to the prevailing manpower market conditions and
individual performance with its remuneration policies reviewed on a regular basis. All employees are entitled to participate
in the Company’s benefit plans including medical insurance and pension fund schemes including the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (subject to the applicable laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) for
its employees in the PRC).

As at 30 June 2021, the Group, including its subsidiaries but excluding associates, had 15 (As at 30 June 2020: 14)
employees. Total remuneration together with pension contributions incurred for FY 2021 amounted to HK$64,097,000
(FY 2020: HK$12,868,000).

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework. Policies and procedures are developed, regularly
reviewed and updated to enhance risk management and react to changes in market conditions and the Group’s
business strategy. The audit committee of the Company reviews the Group’s policies and scrutinises that management
has performed its duty to have effective risk management and internal control systems necessary for monitoring
and controlling major risks arising from the Group’s business activities, changing external risks and the regulatory
environment, and reports to the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) on the above.

FINANCIAL RISK

Financial risk includes market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Market risk concerns that the value of an investment will
change due to movements in market factors and which can be further divided into foreign currency risk, interest rate
risk and price risk. Credit risk is the risk of losses arising from clients or counterparties failing to make payments as
contracted. Liquidity risk concerns that a given security or asset cannot be traded readily in the market to prevent a loss
or make the required profit. Further discussion on financial risk management is outlined in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

OPERATIONAL RISK

The Group faces various operational risks which are concerned with possible losses caused by human factors,
inadequate or failed internal processes, systems or external events. Operational risk is mitigated and controlled through
establishing robust internal controls, proper segregation of duties and effective internal reporting.

The business and operating line management are responsible for managing the operational risks of their business units
on a day-to-day basis. Each department head has to identify risks, evaluate the effectiveness of key controls in place and
assess whether the risks are effectively managed. Independent monitoring and reviews are conducted by the internal
audit team which reports regularly to the respective senior management and the audit committee of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, during the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group did not hold any other significant

investments nor have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Save as
disclosed in this report, as at 30 June 2021, the Group did not have any plan for material investments or capital assets.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 June 2021, the Group has a capital commitment contracted for of approximately HK$102,582,000 in relation
to the acquisition of an associate. Details of this acquisition is further disclosed in the section “Important Events Affecting
the Group After the End of the Financial Year” of this report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020, the Group had no material capital commitments
contracted but not provided for.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at the date of this report and as at 30 June 2021, the Board is not aware of any material contingent liabilities.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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IMPACT OF NOVEL CORONAVIRUS OUTBREAK TO THE GROUP

The COVID-19 spread globally during 2020 & 2021. When COVID-19 spread to major western economies, the global
economy was once on the brink of paralysis in March 2020. Fortunately, global central banks and governments have
swiftly adopted aggressive fiscal and monetary policies to bolster the economies and global financial liquidity. In the
second half of 2020, global equity markets have rebounded strongly.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Group applies fair value to measure its financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and, if applicable, to estimate impairment loss of the Group’s interests in associates and loan
receivables. In FY 2020 and FY 2021, provision and reversal of impairment loss of the Group’s interests in associates and
loan receivables and fair value of the Group’s financial assets stated at fair value are subject to fluctuations due to the
COVID-19 outbreak. The Group will keep monitoring the situation of the COVID-19 and react actively to its impact on the
financial position and operating results of the Group, in particular the impact of the fair value of its financial instruments
and the recoverable amount of the interests in associates and loan receivables. Save as disclosed in this report, the
COVID-19 outbreak did not have material impacts on our Commodity Business, liquidity positions, working capital
sufficiency and capital commitments for FY 2021.

COVID-19 PANDEMIC RESPONSE

The Group has implemented certain protocols below to minimise the associated risks to employees while ensuring a safe
environment for operations to continue as usual:

e measures to maximise social distancing and staff protection within the offices;
e meetings are held off-site or by conference calls as far as possible;

e cancellation of all non-essential travel;

e flexible and remote working plans for employees;

e self-isolation following outbound travel, development of symptoms, or interaction with a confirmed case of COVID-19
and do coronavirus test as and when necessary at the Company’s cost;

® increased inventory of face mask, hand sanitiser and hygiene supplies; and

e increased focus on cleaning and sanitation.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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IMPORTANT EVENTS AFFECTING THE GROUP AFTER THE END OF THE
FINANCIAL YEAR

On 18 June 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company acquired 29.83% equity interests in Mabuhay Holdings
Corporation (“Mabuhay”) for a consideration of approximately US$4 million. Mabuhay is a company incorporated in the
Philippines with its shares listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange. Mabuhay is a holding company principally engaged in
the acquisition and disposition of investments in securities, stocks, real properties and of investments in other entities. On
2 August 2021, Mr. Andrew Ferguson, who is an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, was
appointed as a director of Mabuhay and Mabuhay became an associate of the Company.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14 May 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 25 June
2021, on 14 May 2021, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary (the “Purchaser”) of the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with Allied Properties Overseas Limited (the “Vendor”),
being an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Allied Group Limited which is a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement and subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions, (i) the Purchaser shall
acquire and the Vendor shall sell the entire issued share capital of Allied Properties Resources Limited (the “Target
Company”); and (i) a shareholder’s loan in the principal amount of HK$412,260,366 due to the Vendor by the Target
Company shall be assigned by the Vendor to the Purchaser, for a consideration of HK$102,581,817.50 (collectively, the
“Transaction”). The principal asset of the Target Company was its 41,032,727 shares in Dragon Mining Limited (“Dragon
Mining”) (HKEX: 1712), which represents approximately 25.83% of its issued share capital. Its principal activities
involve the operation of gold mines and processing facilities in Finland and Sweden. All conditions were fulfiled and the
Transaction was completed on 13 August 2021. After completion of the Transaction, Dragon Mining became an associate
of APAC.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, there was a decline in the share price of Mount Gibson. At the date of this
report, the fair value of the Group’s investment in Mount Gibson reduced to HK$1,165,440,000. The decline in fair value
may impact the impairment loss on interests in associates for the year ending 30 June 2022.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no important events affecting the Group after the end of the financial year and
up to the date of this report.

COMPANY STRATEGY

Commodity markets have benefitted by a rebound in demand for durable goods, and ongoing government stimulus as
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Looking forward, the Board believes that the performance of the equity investments
will be dependent on market sentiment which is affected by factors such as commodity prices, interest rate movements,
geo-political conditions and performance of the macro economy. In order to mitigate the associated risks, the Group
will review its investment strategy regularly and take appropriate actions whenever necessary in response to changes in
market situation. In addition, the Group will also seek potential investment opportunities with an aim to maximise value for
the shareholders.
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FORWARD LOOKING OBSERVATIONS

The COVID-19 outbreak is ongoing, although we remain optimistic that the ongoing vaccine roll out provides a path
forward for normalisation of activity. The Group has maintained protocols to protect the health and safety of our
workforce, their families, local suppliers and neighboring communities while ensuring a safe environment for operations to
continue as usual.

The challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic are not yet behind us, and the outlook for the global economy in the short
term will still be impacted by COVID-19 infection rates and in our view, more importantly, hospitalization rates. We have
already seen the start of a reopening that has driven global growth but have also seen the impact from mutations in the
COVID-19 virus, the most recent being the delta strain. While governments and central banks are likely to dial back some
of the fiscal and monetary support, we still expect a relatively loose environment to support businesses and households.

We remain selective with our investments in the near term, and continue to look for high quality opportunities which will
generate attractive returns over the long run. Our mining and energy investment portfolios are the platform for future
mining and energy investments. Our largest investment is in Mount Gibson which is focused on ramping up production
at the Koolan Island mine as it completes its large waste stripping program and also starting production from its smaller
Shine mine, which will position it for strong free cash flow generation in coming years.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED

15



16

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Brett Robert Smith, aged 60, was appointed as the Deputy Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company
on 18 May 2016. Mr. Smith graduated from Melbourne University, Australia with a Bachelor’s Degree in Chemical
Engineering with Honours. He has also obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Henley Management
College, the United Kingdom and a Master’'s Degree in Research Methodology from Macquarie University, Australia.
Mr. Smith has participated in the development of a number of mining and mineral processing projects including coal,
iron ore, base and precious metals. He has also managed engineering and construction companies in Australia and
internationally. Mr. Smith has served on the board of private mining and exploration companies and has over 35 years
international experience in the engineering, construction and mineral processing businesses. He is currently the chief
executive officer and an executive director of Dragon Mining Limited (“Dragon Mining”) (Stock Code: 1712), an executive
director of Metals X Limited (“Metals X”) (Stock Code: MLX), and a non-executive director of each of Elementos Limited
(“‘Elementos”) (Stock Code: ELT), Prodigy Gold NL (“Prodigy Gold”, formerly known as ABM Resources NL) (Stock
Code: PRX) and Tanami Gold NL (“Tanami Gold”) (Stock Code: TAM). Dragon Mining is a company listed on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Elementos, Metals X, Prodigy Gold and Tanami Gold are
companies listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.

Mr. Andrew Charles Ferguson, aged 48, was appointed as an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company on 12 January 2010. Mr. Ferguson holds various directorships in subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Ferguson holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Natural Resource Development and worked as a mining engineer
in Western Australia in the mid 90’s. In 2003, Mr. Ferguson co-founded New City Investment Managers in the United
Kingdom. He has a proven track record in fund management and was the former co-fund manager of City Natural
Resources High Yield Trust, which was awarded “Best UK Investment Trust” in 2006. In addition, he managed New
City High Yield Trust Ltd. and Geiger Counter Ltd.. He worked for New City Investment Managers CQS Hong Kong, a
financial institution providing investment management services to a variety of investors. He has 26 years of experience in
the finance industry specialising in global natural resources. Being a fund manager for assets in London and Hong Kong,
he was responsible for day to day management of portfolios, risk management, business development, relationship
management and working with independent boards, custodians and auditors to ensure that all shareholders’ funds
were managed properly. He is currently an alternate director to Mr. Lee Seng Hui in Mount Gibson Iron Limited (“Mount
Gibson”) (Stock Code: MGX), a company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. Mr. Ferguson was appointed as a
director of Mabuhay Holdings Corporation (Stock Code: MHC), a company listed on The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.,
on 2 August 2021.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Arthur George Dew, aged 79, was appointed as the Chairman and a Non-Executive Director of the Company on
1 March 2016. Mr. Dew graduated from the Law School of the University of Sydney, Australia, and was admitted as a
solicitor and later as a barrister of the Supreme Court of New South Wales, Australia. He is currently a non-practising
barrister. He has a broad range of corporate and business experience and has served as a director, and in some
instances chairman of the board of directors, of a number of public companies listed in Australia, Hong Kong and
elsewhere. He is currently the chairman and a non-executive director of each of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”) (Stock
Code: 373), a substantial shareholder of the Company, and Dragon Mining (Stock Code: 1712); a non-executive
director of Tian An Australia Limited (“Tian An Australia”) (Stock Code: TIA); and the non-executive chairman and a
non-executive director of Tanami Gold (Stock Code: TAM). AGL and Dragon Mining are companies listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Tanami Gold and Tian An Australia are companies listed on the
Australian Securities Exchange. On 27 April 2021, Mr. Dew resigned as a non-executive director of SHK Hong Kong
Industries Limited (“SHK HK IND”, a company previously listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (Stock Code: 666) until 22 April 2021). He was the chairman and a non-executive director of Allied Properties (H.K.)
Limited (“APL”, a substantial shareholder of the Company which was previously listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 56) until 26 November 2020) between January 2007 and December 2020.
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Mr. Lee Seng Hui (=R &), aged 52, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 2 October 2009.
Mr. Lee graduated from the Law School of the University of Sydney with Honours. Previously, he worked with Baker &
McKenzie and N M Rothschild & Sons (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Lee is currently the chief executive and an executive
director of AGL (Stock Code: 373), a substantial shareholder of the Company, and the chairman and a non-executive
director of Tian An China Investments Company Limited (“Tian An”) (Stock Code: 28). AGL and Tian An are companies
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is also the non-executive chairman of Mount
Gibson (Stock Code: MGX), a company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. He was the chief executive and an
executive director of APL between June 2010 and December 2020.

Ms. Lam Lin Chu (##2k), aged 50, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 21 May 2020.
Ms. Lam graduated from The University of Hong Kong with the degree of Bachelor of Business Administration, majoring
in accounting and finance. She is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Ms. Lam
is currently a certified public accountant in Hong Kong. She had been awarded by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited with a certificate for passing the 15th Securities Brokers Examination. Ms. Lam has extensive experience in the
fields of accounting and finance, management of listed companies, mergers and acquisitions etc.. Ms. Lam is currently
the chief financial officer of Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited (Stock Code: 639), a company listed on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and a substantial shareholder of the Company, and previously
served as its company secretary for over 5 years. She also worked as the corporate finance manager in another Hong
Kong listed company, Soundwill Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 878) and had worked in KPMG for over 5 years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert (£ 7k #), aged 70, has been appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company since 6 July 2004. Dr. Wong holds a Doctor of Philosophy in Business Administration degree from the
Bulacan State University, Republic of the Philippines. He is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute,
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries),
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, Association of International Accountants and Society of Registered Financial
Planners. He is a member of Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute, The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators and
The Chartered Institute of Bankers in Scotland and a full member of Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants.
Dr. Wong is currently the principal consultant of KND Associates CPA Limited. He is also an independent non-executive
director of each of Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 757), China Merchants Land Limited (Stock Code:
978), China VAST Industrial Urban Development Company Limited (Stock Code: 6166), China Medical & HealthCare
Group Limited (Stock Code: 383), China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 6966) (previously listed on
GEM (Stock Code: 8199)) and Dexin China Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2019). These six companies are
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director
of Capital Finance Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8239), a company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis (&#£1&), aged 67, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company on 6 July 2007. Mr. Chang obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Concordia University in
Montreal, Canada in 1976 and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from York University in Toronto, Canada
in 1977. He has over 43 years of experience in banking, corporate finance, investment and management and has held
various executive positions at financial institutions and directorships of listed companies. Mr. Chang is currently an
independent non-executive director of Tian An (Stock Code: 28), a company listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Mr. Wang Honggian (£ Z A7), aged 62, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on
24 May 2019. Mr. Wang graduated from Xi'an Institute of Metallurgy and Construction Engineering (now known as Xi’an
University of Architecture and Technology) with a Bachelor’s Degree in General Layout and Transportation Design in
1982 and holds a Master’s Degree of Business Administration in Finance from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He
is a senior engineer (professor level) and national registered architect (Class A). Mr. Wang is currently a part-time adviser
(industry mentor) of Master of Business Administration in Finance in School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua
University, vice managing director of Expert Committee of China Association of International Engineering Consultants and
commissioner of Committee on Foreign Investment. Mr. Wang worked as the secretary, team leader, deputy director,
director and vice-president of Planning and Design Research Institute under the former Ministry of Coal Industry of China,
vice-president of Beijing Coal Design and Research Institute (Group) (now known as Beijing Huayu Engineering Co.,
Ltd.), chairman and president of NFC Real Estate Development Co., Ltd, and chief engineer of China Nonferrous Metal
Mining (Group) Co., Ltd.. He was the president and a director of the board of China Nonferrous Metal Industry’s Foreign
Engineering & Construction Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 758), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, between
November 2002 and October 2018.

ALTERNATE DIRECTOR TO MR. ARTHUR GEORGE DEW

Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark (£ X $4), aged 57, was appointed as an alternate director to Mr. Arthur George Dew on
1 March 2016. Mr. Wong holds various directorships in subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong has a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration and is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries). Mr. Wong was the financial controller of
other listed companies in Hong Kong. He is currently the director of investment of AGL (Stock Code: 373), a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and an alternate director to Mr. Arthur George Dew in Dragon Mining (Stock Code: 1712),
Tanami Gold (Stock Code: TAM) and Tian An Australia (Stock Code: TIA). AGL and Dragon Mining are companies listed
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Tanami Gold and Tian An Australia are companies
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. He is also a director of each of APL and SHK HK IND.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Brett Robert Smith
Deputy Chairman

Biographical details of Mr. Brett Robert Smith are set out on page 16 of this Annual Report.

Mr. Andrew Ferguson
Chief Executive Officer

Biographical details of Mr. Andrew Ferguson are set out on page 16 of this Annual Report.

Ms. Tam Kit Ling (FE21)
Chief Financial Officer

Ms. Tam Kit Ling, aged 55, joined the Company in July 2016 as the Chief Financial Officer. Ms. Tam is also a supervisor
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. She has over 31 years of experience in finance and accounting with international
businesses and listed companies in Hong Kong. Ms. Tam holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Laws and is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

OTHER MANAGEMENT

Mr. John Ellis
Investment Manager

Mr. Ellis joined the Company in July 2010 as Investment Manager. Prior to joining APAC, he was Portfolio Manager —
Global Resources with Colonial First State in Sydney, and Director — Mining Research Sales with the Royal Bank of
Canada in Sydney and London. Mr. Ellis has over 21 years of experience in resources investments and holds a Bachelor
of Arts degree as well as a number of industry accreditations including the Canadian Securities Course, the ASX/ACH
Responsible Executive, and the Finsia Graduate Certificate of Applied Finance and Investment.

Ms. Jenny Wong (Z5%3#)
Vice President, Corporate and Investment

Ms. Wong joined the Company in February 2012 as Vice President of Corporate and Investment. Prior to joining APAC,
she was an Oil & Gas Research Analyst at Renaissance Capital Hong Kong, and prior to that, was at Credit Suisse
Melbourne for over 4 years also as an Oil & Gas Analyst. Ms. Wong is a Chartered Financial Analyst and completed a
Bachelor of Commerce and Bachelor of Information Systems degrees at the University of Melbourne.
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Mr. To Yung Kan, Kenneth (1t & 1R)
Financial Controller

Mr. To joined the Company as Financial Controller and Company Secretary in January 2007. He resigned in July 2008
and joined China Medical & HealthCare Group Limited (formerly known as COL Capital Limited) (Stock Code: 383), a
company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. To then re-joined the Company in January 2011 as
Financial Controller. Mr. To also holds various directorships in subsidiaries of the Company. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. To has extensive experience in corporate finance, financial management, accounting and auditing.

Mr. Zhou Luyong (B8 E)
General Manager, Shanghai Commodity Business

Mr. Zhou joined the Company in July 2007 and is currently the General Manager, Shanghai Commodity Business.
Mr. Zhou has more than 28 years experience within the natural resource sector, including commodity trading and bulk
carrier chartering. Prior to APAC, Mr. Zhou was the Manager of Baosteel’s overseas subsidiaries (in both Hong Kong and
Europe), and worked as the General Manager of Coal & Coke Department at Shanghai Baosteel International Economic
and Trading Co., Ltd. from 2002, responsible for coal & coke purchase and sales for Baosteel Group. He also established
Shanghai Baoding Energy Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Baosteel Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their report and the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 30 June 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on
page 113.

FINAL DIVIDEND AND SPECIAL DIVIDEND

The board of Directors (the “Board”) has recommended the payment of (i) a final dividend of HK10 cents per share;
and (i) a special dividend of HK10 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2021 (2020 interim dividend (in lieu of
a final dividend): HK10 cents per share), payable to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 31 December 2021 subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“2021 AGM”). The proposed final dividend and
the proposed special dividend will be paid on or around Friday, 28 January 2022.

For holders of the warrant(s) of the Company (Warrant Code: 1074) who wish to exercise the subscription rights attaching
to the warrants and be entitled to the proposed final dividend and the proposed special dividend, they must ensure
that the subscription forms accompanied by the relevant warrant certificates and exercise money be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong for determining their entitement not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
28 December 2021.

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS AND WARRANT HOLDERS

(1) For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2021 AGM scheduled to be
held on Thursday, 2 December 2021

— Latest time to lodge transfer and/or subscription documents for At 4:30 p.m.
registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong on Friday, 26 November 2021
—  Closure of the register of members and the register of warrant holders Monday, 29 November 2021
of the Company to Thursday, 2 December 2021

(both days inclusive)
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— Latest time to lodge transfer and/or subscription documents for At 4:30 p.m.

registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong on Tuesday, 28 December 2021
—  Closure of the register of members and the register of warrant holders Wednesday, 29 December 2021
of the Company to Friday, 31 December 2021

(both days inclusive)

During the above closure periods, no transfer of shares and warrants of the Company will be effected. In order to qualify
to attend and vote at the 2021 AGM and to qualify for the proposed final dividend and the proposed special dividend, (i)
in the case of shareholders, all transfers of share ownership, accompanied by the relevant share certificates; or (i) in the
case of warrant holders, all subscription forms accompanied by the relevant warrant certificates and exercise money,
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than the aforementioned latest time.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong (the “Companies Ordinance”) requires companies to include
a business review in the directors’ report. Specifically, the Companies Ordinance requires a business review to cover a
number of areas which are also approved by the Board and included in the sections headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual Report, the discussion of which forms part of this
Directors’ Report, as follows:

1. Afair review of the Group’s business Pages 6 to 15 of this Annual Report
2. Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group Pages 4 to 15 of this Annual Report
3. Indication of likely development of the Group Pages 14 to 15 of this Annual Report
4. Key relationships with shareholders Pages 43 to 44 of this Annual Report

5. Important events affecting the Group after the end of the Page 14 of this Annual Report
financial year

The Company’s environmental policies and performance, an account of the Company’s relationship with other
stakeholders that have a significant impact of the Group including the community and our staff can be found in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is highly committed to comply with applicable laws and regulations that govern our businesses from time
to time. Being a company listed in Hong Kong, the Company has to comply with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Our money lending business segment is
governed by the Money Lenders Ordinance and Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance of
Hong Kong.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group’s turnover and contribution to results by business activities for the year ended 30 June 2021 is
set out in notes 6 and 5 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARES ISSUED AND WARRANTS

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year ended 30 June 2021 are set out in note 28(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 June 2021 and the circular of the Company dated
27 July 2021, on 29 June 2021, the Company proposed a bonus issue of warrants to the qualifying Shareholders (the

“Bonus Warrants Issue”), details are set out in “Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure” under sections
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES

The Group has not issued any debentures during the year ended 30 June 2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and of the Group during the year ended 30 June 2021 are set out in
note 28(a) to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 117
respectively.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 30 June 2021 represented the aggregate of
contributed surplus and retained profits amounting to HK$1,266,534,000 (2020: HK$989,051,000).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year ended 30 June 2021 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 30 June 2021 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Brett Robert Smith (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Andrew Ferguson (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Arthur George Dew (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark (alternate to Mr. Arthur George Dew)
Mr. Lee Seng Hui

Ms. Lam Lin Chu

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis
Mr. Wang Honggian

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), Messrs. Arthur George Dew,
Andrew Ferguson and Wang Honggian will retire by rotation at the 2021 AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2021 AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2021, the interests and short positions held by the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the “SFO”) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of shares/
underlying shares held

Approximate

Capacity in which Interests Total percentage of

Name of Directors interests are held in shares interests shareholding

Ms. Lam Lin Chu Beneficial owner 75,000 75,000 0.00%

Mr. Lee Seng Hui Other interests 486,457,630 486,457,630 39.90%
(Note 1)

Note:

1. Mr. Lee Seng Hui together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary
trust. The Lee and Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.96% of the total number of issued shares of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”) (inclusive
of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests) and was therefore deemed to be interested in 486,457,630 shares of the Company in which AGL
was deemed to be interested through Allied Properties Investments (1) Company Limited (“API(1)”), its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2021, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Bonus Warrants Issue proposed on 29 June 2021, at no time during the year ended 30 June 2021 was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors, their respective spouse
or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year ended 30 June 2021 and up to the date of this report, the following Directors are considered to have
interests in the businesses listed below which compete or are likely to compete with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules as set out below:

M

)

(iv)

Mr. Arthur George Dew is a director of AGL, and was a director of Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL”, a
subsidiary of AGL and was previously listed on the Stock Exchange until 26 November 2020) (retired in December
2020) and SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited (“SHK HK IND”, a subsidiary of AGL and was previously listed on
the Stock Exchange until 22 April 2021) (resigned in April 2021). Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark, alternate director to
Mr. Arthur George Dew, is a director of certain subsidiaries of AGL (including APL and SHK HK IND). AGL, through
certain of its subsidiaries (including APL and SHK HK IND), is partly engaged in the businesses of (a) money lending; (b)
investment and trading in securities in the resources and related industries and financial instruments; and (c) trading
in listed securities and investment in bonds;

Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of each of AGL, Tian An China Investments Company Limited (“Tian An”), Mount
Gibson Iron Limited (“Mount Gibson”) and a non wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK”),
was a director of APL between June 2010 and December 2020, and is also one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust
which is a deemed substantial shareholder of each of AGL (including APL and SHK HK IND), SHK, Tian An, Asiasec
Properties Limited (“Asiasec”), Mount Gibson, Dragon Mining Limited (“Dragon Mining”) and Tanami Gold NL
(“Tanami Gold”) which, through their subsidiaries, are partly engaged in the businesses as follows:

— AGL, through certain of its subsidiaries (including APL and SHK HK IND), is partly engaged in the businesses of
(@) money lending; (b) investment and trading in securities in the resources and related industries and financial
instruments; and (c) trading in listed securities and investment in bonds;

— SHK, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the business of money lending;
— Tian An and Asiasec, through certain of their subsidiaries, are partly engaged in the business of money lending;

— Mount Gibson, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly involved in the investment and trading in listed
securities in the resources and related industries; and

— Dragon Mining and Tanami Gold, through certain of their subsidiaries, are involved in the exploration for, and
mining and processing gold ores and are partly involved in the investment and trading in listed securities in the
resources and related industries;

Mr. Andrew Ferguson is an alternate director to Mr. Lee Seng Hui in Mount Gibson which, through certain of its
subsidiaries, is partly involved in the investment and trading in listed securities in the resources and related industries;
and

Mr. Arthur George Dew and Mr. Brett Robert Smith are both directors of each of Dragon Mining and Tanami Gold.
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark is an alternate director to Mr. Arthur George Dew in each of Dragon Mining and Tanami
Gold. Dragon Mining and Tanami Gold, through certain of their subsidiaries, are involved in the exploration for, and
mining and processing gold ores and are partly involved in the investment and trading in listed securities in the
resources and related industries.

Although the above-mentioned Directors have competing interests in other companies by virtue of their respective
common directorship (other than an independent non-executive director) or shareholding, they will fulfil their fiduciary
duties in order to ensure that they will act in the best interests of the Shareholders and the Company as a whole at
all times. Hence, the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the
businesses of such companies.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

1. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 1 September 2017, on 1 September 2017, APAC
Resources Treasury Management Limited (“APAC Treasury Management”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) subscribed for US$2.5 million of the five-year guaranteed 4.65% note due 8 September 2022 (the “SHK
Loan Note”) issued by Sun Hung Kai & Co. (BVI) Limited (“SHK BVI”) and guaranteed by SHK. SHK BVI is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of SHK. SHK BVI early redeemed 80% of the SHK Loan Note on 15 November 2019.

2. As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 23 May 2019, 14 June 2019 and 9 July 2019, and
the circular of the Company dated 20 June 2019, on 23 May 2019, Ultra Effort Limited (“Ultra Effort”, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) as the lender entered into the loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with
Best Advantage Limited (“Best Advantage”) as the borrower and Tian An as the guarantor, pursuant to which,
Ultra Effort agreed to, among other things, make available to Best Advantage a revolving loan (the “Loan Facility”)
in the amount not exceeding HK$235,000,000 (or an amount equivalent to HK$235,000,000 in such alternative
currency as acceptable to and agreed by Ultra Effort) during the availability period commencing on the date of the
Loan Agreement and ending on the date falling 1 month prior to the repayment date, at an interest rate of 5.5% per
annum, secured by a guarantee and indemnity provided by Tian An and repayable on 24 months from the date of
first drawdown. Best Advantage is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tian An.

3. As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 10 May 2021, 17 May 2021, 1 June 2021 and 9 July
2021, and the circular of the Company dated 9 June 2021, on 10 May 2021, Ultra Effort as the lender entered into
a supplemental loan agreement (the “Supplemental Loan Agreement”) with Best Advantage as the borrower
and Tian An as the guarantor, pursuant to which, Ultra Effort agreed to, among other things, increase the limit of
the Loan Facility from HK$235,000,000 (or an amount equivalent to HK$235,000,000 in such alternative currency
as acceptable to and agreed by Ultra Effort) to HK$260,000,000 (or an amount equivalent to HK$260,000,000 in
such alternative currency as acceptable to and agreed by Ultra Effort) and extend the repayment date of the Loan
Facility from 12 July 2021 to 12 July 2024 on the terms and subject to the conditions therein (the “Renewal of Loan
Agreement”).

4. As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 14 May 2021, 18 May 2021, 7 June 2021, 18 June
2021, 20 July 2021 and 13 August 2021, and the circular of the Company dated 25 June 2021, on 14 May 2021,
Genuine Legend Limited (“Genuine Legend”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as the purchaser
entered into the sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with Allied Properties
Overseas Limited (“APOL”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL) as the vendor, pursuant to which and subject to the
fulfilment of the conditions, (i) Genuine Legend shall acquire and APOL shall sell the entire issued share capital of
Allied Properties Resources Limited (the “Target Company”, being a wholly-owned subsidiary of APOL); and (i)
the shareholder’s loan in the principal amount of HK$412,260,336 due to APOL by the Target Company (subject
to adjustment provided that it shall not exceed HK$412,260,336 at completion) shall be assigned by APOL to
Genuine Legend, at a consideration of HK$102,581,817.50 (the “Acquisition”). As at the date of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement, the principal asset of the Target Company was its 41,032,727 shares in Dragon Mining, which
represented approximately 25.83% of the issued share capital of Dragon Mining.

Mr. Arthur George Dew, the Chairman and a Non-Executive Director, is also the chairman and a non-executive director

of each of AGL and Dragon Mining, and held approximately 0.14% of the issued share capital of Dragon Mining as at
30 June 2021, was therefore deemed to be interested in the Acquisition.
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Mr. Brett Robert Smith, the Deputy Chairman and an Executive Director, is also the chief executive officer and an
executive director of Dragon Mining, and held approximately 0.07% of the issued share capital of Dragon Mining as at
30 June 2021, was therefore deemed to be interested in the Acquisition.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, a Non-Executive Director, is the chief executive and an executive director of AGL, the chairman and
a non-executive director of Tian An, and also one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust which,
together with his personal interests, controlled approximately 74.96% interests in the total number of issued shares of
AGL, which in turn indirectly owned approximately 39.90% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as at
30 June 2021. Since AGL indirectly owned approximately 72.75% and 48.86% interests in the total number of issued
shares of SHK and Tian An respectively as at 30 June 2021, and APOL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL, Mr. Lee
was deemed to be interested in (i) the subscription of the SHK Loan Note; (i) the transactions contemplated under the
Loan Agreement and the Supplemental Loan Agreement; and (iii) the Acquisition.

Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis, an Independent Non-Executive Director, is also an independent non-executive
director of Tian An and was therefore interested in the transactions contemplated under the Loan Agreement and the
Supplemental Loan Agreement.

Save as disclosed above, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during the year ended 30 June 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts and the sharing of administrative services and management services agreement as
detailed below under “Continuing Connected Transactions”, no other contracts, relating to the management and/or
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during
the year ended 30 June 2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provide that the Directors, Secretary and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts. The Company accordingly maintains
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2021, the following persons, other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, had interests or
short positions in more than 5% of the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Number of shares/
underlying shares held

Approximate

Capacity in which Interests Total percentage of
Name of Shareholders interests are held in shares interests shareholding
Old Peak Asia Fund Ltd. Interest of a controlled 110,000,000 110,000,000 9.03%
corporation (Note 1)
OPG Holdings LLC Interest of a controlled 110,000,000 110,000,000 9.03%
corporation (Note 1)
Shougang Fushan Interest of a controlled 143,400,000 143,400,000 17.64%
Resources Group Limited corporation (Note 2)
AGL Interest of controlled 486,457,630 486,457,630 39.90%
corporations (Note 3)
Lee and Lee Trust Interest of controlled 486,457,630 486,457,630 39.90%
corporations (Note 5) (Note 4)

Notes:

These shares are held by OP Master Fund Ltd. (“OP Master”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Old Peak Asia Fund Ltd., and Old Peak Ltd. (“Old
Peak”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Old Peak Group Ltd. which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of OPG Holdings LLC. Accordingly,
Old Peak Asia Fund Ltd. and OPG Holdings LLC were deemed to have interests in the shares in which OP Master and Old Peak were
interested.

These shares are held by Benefit Rich Limited (“Benefit Rich”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited
(“Shougang Fushan”). Accordingly, Shougang Fushan was deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Benefit Rich was interested.

These shares are held by API(1), a wholly-owned subsidiary of APOL which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of APL. AGL directly
and indirectly (through Capscore Limited, Citiwealth Investment Limited and Sunhill Investments Limited, all being direct wholly-owned
subsidiaries of AGL) owned in aggregate 100% of the total number of issued shares of APL. AGL was therefore deemed to have an interest
in the shares in which API(1) was interested.

This represents the same interest of AGL in 486,457,630 shares.
Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Director, together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a

discretionary trust. The Lee and Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.96% of the total number of issued shares of AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee
Seng Hui’s personal interests) and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which AGL was interested through API(1).
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Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Directors’ Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”, as
at 30 June 2021, the Company was not notified of any other persons having any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 30 June 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate accounted for 80% of the turnover of
the Group and the largest customer accounted for approximately 25% of the total turnover of the Group.

For the year ended 30 June 2021, the entire purchases of the Group were attributable to the sole supplier.

Shougang Fushan, a substantial shareholder of the Company, is deemed to have interests in the sole supplier of the
Group.

Save as disclosed above and to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, at no time during the year ended 30 June 2021
did a Director, a close associate of a Director or a shareholder of the Company, which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the total number of issued shares of the Company, have a beneficial interest in any of the five
largest customers and the sole supplier of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The Group’s employees are selected, remunerated and promoted based on their merit, qualifications and competence.

The Company adopted the model set out in Code Provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its
remuneration model for determining the emoluments of the Directors. This model stipulates that the remuneration
committee shall make recormmendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management. The remuneration committee of the Company would take into consideration, among other
things, the duties and responsibilities of the Directors and senior management and prevailing market conditions when
determining their remuneration.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group entered into transactions with related parties, details of which are set
out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. Certain of these related party transactions constitute a connected
transaction or a continuing connected transaction of the Group as defined in and required to be disclosed under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules and the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 14 May 2021, 18 May 2021, 7 June 2021, 18 June 2021,
20 July 2021 and 13 August 2021, and the circular of the Company dated 25 June 2021, on 14 May 2021, Genuine
Legend as the purchaser entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement with APOL (a wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL)
as the vendor in respect of the Acquisition. The transaction contemplated under the Sale and Purchase Agreement was
subsequently approved by the independent Shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company held on 20 July
2021. The Acquisition was completed on 13 August 2021.

As at the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, since APOL was a substantial shareholder of the Company through
its interest in API(1), APOL was a connected person of the Company and the Acquisition constituted a connected
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 23 May 2019, 14 June 2019 and 9 July 2019, and
the circular of the Company dated 20 June 2019, on 23 May 2019, Ultra Effort as the lender entered into the
Loan Agreement with Best Advantage (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tian An) as the borrower and Tian An (a then
48.66%-owned company of AGL through APL) as the guarantor, pursuant to which, Ultra Effort agreed to, among
other things, make available to Best Advantage the Loan Facility. The transaction contemplated under the Loan
Agreement was subsequently approved by the independent Shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 9 July 2019.

The annual caps in respect of the Loan Facility under the Loan Agreement were set at HK$249,900,000,
HK$249,900,000 and HK$236,300,000 for each of the three financial years ending 30 June 2022 respectively. The
aggregate amounts for the principal loan outstanding and the interest amount under the Loan Agreement payable
by Best Advantage to Ultra Effort for the year ended 30 June 2021 was HK$227,856,000 which did not exceed the
annual cap of HK$249,900,000 for the financial year ended 30 June 2021,

2. As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 10 May 2021, 17 May 2021, 1 June 2021 and 9 July
2021, and the circular of the Company dated 9 June 2021, on 10 May 2021, Ultra Effort as the lender entered into
the Supplemental Loan Agreement with Best Advantage (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tian An) as the borrower and
Tian An (a then 48.86%-owned company of AGL) as the guarantor in respect of the Renewal of Loan Agreement.
The transaction contemplated under the Supplemental Loan Agreement was subsequently approved by the
independent Shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company held on 9 July 2021.

The annual caps in respect of the loan facility under the Supplemental Loan Agresment were set at HK$273,869,000,

HK$274,300,000, HK$274,300,000 and HK$260,431,000 for the period from 12 July 2021 to 30 June 2022, each
of the two financial years ending 30 June 2024 and the period from 1 July 2024 to 11 July 2024 respectively.
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3. As disclosed in the 2020 Annual Report of the Company, on 2 January 2020, the Company entered into a renewed
sharing of administrative services and management services agreement (the “Services Agreement”) with AGL,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to renew and extend the term of the sharing of administrative services and
management services agreement dated 7 February 2017 entered into between the Company and AGL for a period
of three years which commenced from 1 January 2020 and expiring on 31 December 2022 and engaged AGL for the
provision of, (i) the administrative services, which included the corporate secretarial services, provision of registered
office address, utilities services including water, electricity, telephone (including international telephone services)
and internet, photocopying, postal, courier, delivery and other services ancillary to the day-to-day administration
and operation of the Group provided by AGL to the Group, and shall reimburse AGL the actual costs incurred; and
(i the management services, which included the management, consultancy, strategic, internal audit, management
information system consultancy and business advice services provided by the senior management and selected staff
of AGL (the “Management Staff’) to the Group (the “Management Services”), and shall reimburse a portion of
the actual costs of the services incurred by AGL by reference to a specified percentage of the remuneration of the
Management Staff providing the Management Services.

As (i) Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by being a Non-Executive Director, and also one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust,
being a discretionary trust which, together with his personal interests, controlled approximately 74.96% interests in
the total number of issued shares of AGL as at 30 June 2021; (i) Mr. Arthur George Dew, by being the Chairman
and a Non-Executive Director and a member of the Management Staff providing the Management Services under
the Services Agreement; and (i) Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark, by being an alternate to Mr. Arthur George Dew and a
member of the Management Staff providing the Management Services under the Services Agreement, all of them are
deemed to be interested in the Services Agreement.

Since AGL is a substantial shareholder of the Company, and Tian An and Best Advantage are all associates of AGL,
each of AGL, Tian An and Best Advantage is a connected person of the Company and the transactions contemplated
under the Loan Agreement, the Supplemental Loan Agreement and the Services Agreement (other than the sharing of
the administrative services) constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company under Rule 14A.31 of the
Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under the Loan Agreement (the “Continuing Connected Transaction”)
and the Supplemental Loan Agreement are subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, the transaction contemplated
under the Services Agreement (other than the sharing of the administrative services) constituted a de minimis transaction
which is fully exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. The information is disclosed herein for
information only.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Independent Non-Executive Directors have reviewed the Continuing
Connected Transaction and have confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transaction was entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iiy according to the relevant agreements governing them on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed
upon procedures in respect of the above Continuing Connected Transaction and the auditor has reported its conclusion
on these procedures to the Board, confirming the matters set out in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The auditor
of the Company was engaged to report on the above Continuing Connected Transaction in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DONATION

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group made donations of total HK$41,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws, or the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Act”),
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules,
based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of its Directors.

AUDITOR

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned as auditor of the Company and Messrs. Crowe (HK) CPA Limited was
appointed as auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy, both with effect from 22 June 2020.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021 were audited by Messrs. Crowe (HK)
CPA Limited. Messrs. Crowe (HK) CPA Limited will retire and a resolution for re-appointment of Messrs. Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2021 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change in the auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three
years.

REVIEW OF RESULTS BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group’s final results for the year ended 30 June 2021 have been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Arthur George Dew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 September 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within a sensible framework with an
emphasis on the principles of transparency, accountability and independence. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is essential to the success of the Company and to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In the light of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules, the Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices of the Company with the adoption
of the various enhanced procedures which are detailed in this report. The Company has applied the principles of, and
fully complied with, the applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year ended 30 June 2021. The Board will
review the current practices at least annually, and make appropriate changes if considered necessary.

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises eight Directors in total, with two Executive Directors, three Non-Executive Directors
(“NEDs”) and three Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The composition of the Board during the year
ended 30 June 2021 and up to the date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors: Mr. Brett Robert Smith (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Andrew Ferguson (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors: Mr. Arthur George Dew (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark (alternate to Mr. Arthur George Dew)
Mr. Lee Seng Hui
Ms. Lam Lin Chu

Independent Non-Executive Directors: Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis
Mr. Wang Honggian

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the Biographical Details of Directors and Management on
pages 16 to 20 of this Annual Report.

During the year, the NEDs (at least three of whom are independent) provided the Group with a wide range of expertise
and experience. Their active participation in the Board and committee meetings brought independent judgment on
issues relating to the Group’s strategy, performance and management process, taking into account the interests of all
Shareholders.

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company has had at least three INEDs representing not less
than one-third of the Board. At least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has received from each INED an
annual confirmation of his independence and considers that all the INEDs are independent under the guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group, and to review and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and other ad hoc matters which need to be
dealt with. During the year, seven Board meetings were held and the individual attendance records of each Director
at the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and general meeting during the year ended
30 June 2021 are set out below:

Number of meetings attended/held

Remuneration Audit General

Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Meeting
Executive Directors:
Mr. Brett Robert Smith (Deputy Chairman) 6/7 - - 11
Mr. Andrew Ferguson (Chief Executive Officer) 77 - - 11
Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Arthur George Dew (Chairman) 7/7 11 2/2 11

(Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark as his alternate) (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 1)
Mr. Lee Seng Hui 4/7 - - 0/1
Ms. Lam Lin Chu 7/7 - - 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert 77 1/1 2/2 11
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis 6/7 i7al 2/2 11
Mr. Wang Honggian 77 i7al 2/2 11

Note:

1. All meetings were attended by himself.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual
and interim results, approval of Directors’ appointment or re-appointment (based on the recommendations made by
the Nomination Committee), material contracts and transactions, corporate governance as well as other significant
policy and financial matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive management
under the instruction/supervision of the Executive Committee which has its specific written terms of reference. The
respective functions of the Board and management of the Company have been formalised and set out in writing and will
be reviewed and updated by the Board from time to time to ensure that they are consistent with the existing rules and
regulations.

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least
14 days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman of
the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are complied with.
The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended
date of a regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board meetings). Draft minutes of each Board
meeting are circulated to all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following Board meeting for approval.
All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice
by any Director.
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According to the current Board practice, if a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to
be considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by the Board at
a duly convened Board meeting. The Bye-laws also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a Director
shall abstain from voting on any Board resolution and not be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving any
contract or arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her close associates has a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and has access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to the
Company’s senior management. Directors will be continuously updated on the major development of the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices.
In addition, a written procedure has been established to enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.

For continuous professional development, in addition to Directors’ attendance at meetings and review of papers and
circulars sent by the management of the Company, Directors participated in the activities including the following:

Participation in Continuous Professional Development Activities

Attending trainings/

briefings/seminars/

Reading Regulatory conferences relevant to

Name of Directors Updates Directors’ duties

Executive Directors:
Mr. Brett Robert Smith (Deputy Chairman) v v

Mr. Andrew Ferguson (Chief Executive Officer) v v
Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Arthur George Dew (Chairman) v v
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark (alternate to Mr. Arthur George Dew) v v
Mr. Lee Seng Hui v v
Ms. Lam Lin Chu v v
Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert v v
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis v v
Mr. Wang Hongajian v v
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The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy in September 2013 which sets out the objectives and principles
regarding board diversity to ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of corporate
governance. Board nomination and appointments will be made on merit basis based on the Company’s business needs
from time to time while taking into account diversity.

Selection of Board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s
business model and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background, educational
background, skills, knowledge and professional experience.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Arthur George Dew, being the Chairman of the Board, is primarily
responsible for the leadership of the Board, ensuring that (i) all significant policy issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely and constructive manner; (i) all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and (iii)
the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. The functions of the chief executive are performed by
Mr. Andrew Ferguson, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, who is responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Group’s business. Their responsibilities are clearly segregated and have been set out in writing and approved by the
Board.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the nomination procedure specifying the process and
criteria for the selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package from the Company Secretary on the first occasion of
his/her appointment. This induction package is a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the responsibilities and
on-going obligations to be observed by a director pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, Listing Rules and Securities
and Futures Ordinance. In addition, this induction package includes materials briefly describing the operations and
business of the Company, the latest published financial reports of the Company and the documentation for the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Board. Directors will be continuously updated on any major developments of
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices.

All NEDs (including INEDs) of the Company were appointed for a specific term which has been renewed for further two
years commenced from 1 June 2021, but subject to the relevant provisions of the Bye-laws or any other applicable laws
whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their offices but eligible for re-election.

According to the Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation. Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company whilst for those appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold office until the
next following AGM and in both cases, those Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at the relevant meeting. Every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties and has adopted the written terms of reference on
its corporate governance functions.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance functions include:
(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;
(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 30 June 2021 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed the corporate
governance duties in accordance with its terms of reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including a Nomination Committee, a Remuneration Committee, an Audit
Committee and an Executive Committee, each of which has its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of
all meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board
members and the committees are required to report back to the Board on their decision and recommendations where
appropriate. The procedures and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the section headed “The Board” of
this report, have been adopted for the committee meetings so far as practicable.

The Nomination Committee has been established since March 2012 and is chaired by the Chairman of the Board and
comprises a majority of INEDs. Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of four members, including Mr. Arthur
George Dew (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) (Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark as his alternate), being a NED, and
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis and Mr. Wang Honggian, all being the INEDs. The
Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to independent
professional advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the
Nomination Committee are included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The Nomination Committee has formulated and set out the nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”) in its terms of
reference. The objective of the Nomination Policy is to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. To ensure changes to the Board
composition can be managed without undue disruption, a formal, considered and transparent procedure is in place for
selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly succession (if considered
necessary), including periodical review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional Director or
fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon
the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.
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The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the effective carrying
out by the Board of the responsibilities. Further details of the selection criteria and the procedure are set out in the terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in accordance with its terms of reference and may also
deal with matters by way of circulation. During the year ended 30 June 2021, no Nomination Committee meeting was
held while the Nomination Committee dealt with matters by way of circulation. During the year ended 30 June 2021 and
up to the date of this report, the Nomination Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the proposed resolution for re-election of the retiring Directors
at 2020 AGM and 2021 AGM,;

(i) reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board and assessed the independence of each INED;
and

(iiy reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the renewal of the term of appointment of the re-appointing
Executive Director and NEDs (including the INEDs) for two years commenced from 1 June 2021.

The Remuneration Committee has been established for more than ten years and currently consists of four members,
including Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis
and Mr. Wang Honggian, all being the INEDs, and Mr. Arthur George Dew (Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark as his alternate),
being a NED. The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access
to independent professional advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles and
functions of the Remuneration Committee are included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in accordance with its terms of reference. During the year
ended 30 June 2021, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held and the attendance of each member is set out in
the section headed “The Board” of this report.

In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during the year ended 30 June 2021. During the year ended 30 June 2021 and up to the date of this report,
the Remuneration Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed the existing policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management;

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the existing remuneration packages of the Executive Directors
and senior management;

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the existing remuneration of the NEDs (including the INEDs);

(iv) recommended for the Board’s approval the bonus for the years ended 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2021 of the
Executive Directors and senior management; and

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the remuneration and the renewal of the term of appointment
of the re-appointing Executive Director and NEDs (including the INEDs).
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The remuneration payable to Directors will depend on their respective contractual terms under their employment
contracts or service contracts as approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee.
Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements whereas detailed
changes in the emoluments of certain Director during the interim period and up to the date of the Interim Report were
also disclosed in the Interim Report of the Company dated 25 February 2021. Details of the emolument policy of the
Group are also set out in the “Emolument Policy” section contained in the Directors’ Report on page 30.

The Audit Committee has been established for more than ten years and currently consists of four NEDs, three of
whom are INEDs. To retain independence and objectivity, the Audit Committee is chaired by an INED with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. The current members of the Audit
Committee are Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis
and Mr. Wang Honggian, all being the INEDs, and Mr. Arthur George Dew (Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark as his alternate),
being a NED. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles and
functions of the Audit Committee are included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance with its terms of reference. During the year ended
30 June 2021, two Audit Committee meetings were held and the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “The Board” of this report.

In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee also dealt with matters by way of circulation during the
year ended 30 June 2021. During the year ended 30 June 2021 and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee
performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed by the external auditor;

(i) reviewed the reports of findings/independent review report from the external auditor and the management’s
response in relation to the final audit for the year ended 30 June 2020, the interim results review for the six months
ended 31 December 2020 and the final audit for the year ended 30 June 2021 of the Group;

iy - reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the financial reports for the year ended 30 June 2020, for the
six months ended 31 December 2020 and for the year ended 30 June 2021 together with the relevant management
representation letters and announcements;

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems;

(v) reviewed the Internal Audit Report prepared by the Internal Audit Department (“IAD”);

(vi) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the report on substantiation of the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and
their training programmes and budget; and

(vii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the Procedure for Reporting Possible Improprieties
in Financial Reporting, Internal Control or Other Matters, Related Party Transaction Policies and Procedures,
Procedures for the Identification and Monitoring of Connected Transactions, Policy on the Disclosure of Inside
Information, Internal Control Manual and Policy on Risk Management, Compliance and Internal Control Procedures.
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The Executive Committee has been established by the Board with specific terms of reference and currently consists of
two Executive Directors, being Mr. Andrew Ferguson (Chairman of the Executive Committee) and Mr. Brett Robert Smith.
The Executive Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving, inter alia, any matters arising from the day-to-day
activities of the Group and any matters to be delegated by the Board from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lau Tung Ni is the Company Secretary. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board governance matters, and is responsible for
ensuring that Board procedures are followed and for facilitating communications among Directors as well as with the
Shareholders and management.

Ms. Lau is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries). During the year ended 30 June 2021, Ms. Lau
undertook over 15 hours of relevant professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT
EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
All Directors have confirmed, following a specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to
regulate dealings in securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who are
considered to be likely in possession of inside information in relation to the Company or its securities.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with the support from the Accounts Department, the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2021, the accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been adopted and the requirements of
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance were complied with. The Directors believe that they have selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, and made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and have ensured that
the consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to the financial reporting are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report of this Annual Report.
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The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems covering all material controls, including financial, operational, compliance and Environmental, Social and
Governance-related controls. During the year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, had reviewed the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely eliminate the risk of system failure;
and to assist in the achievement of the Group’s agreed objectives and goals. They have a key role in the management
of risks that are significant to the fulfilment of business objectives. In addition, they should provide a basis for the
maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in the compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Systems and procedures are put in place to identify, evaluate and manage the risks of different businesses and activities.
The annual assessment is performed through the completion by the relevant department heads of their respective
responsibility statements as co-ordinated by the IAD. The result and findings are reported by the management to the
Chairman of Executive Committee who puts forward the same to the Audit Committee and the Board for review on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems, which have been considered effective and adequate.

A discussion of the policies and procedures on the management of each of the major types of risk which the Group is
facing is included in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements and in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
section of this Annual Report.

The Head of Internal Audit reports to the Chairman of the Board and the Audit Committee. The IAD generally carries out
the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The Internal Audit Report was prepared by the IAD and issued to the Audit Committee and the Board for review.

The Board has adopted the Policy on the Disclosure of Inside Information (“Policy”) with respect to the procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information. The Policy sets out guidelines and procedures
to the Directors and relevant officers of the Group to ensure inside information of the Group is to be disseminated to the
public on an equal basis and in timely manner. Directors and relevant officers in possession of potential inside information
and/or inside information are required to take reasonable measures to ensure that proper safeguards are in place to
preserve strict confidentiality of inside information and to ensure that its recipients recognise their obligations to maintain
the information confidential. The Policy shall be updated and revised as and when necessary in light of changes in
circumstances and changes in the Listing Rules, Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and relevant statutory
and regulatory requirements from time to time.
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During the year ended 30 June 2021, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited, is set out below:

Fee paid or

Services rendered payable

HK$’000

Audit services 800
Non-audit services:

— assurance work on continuing connected transactions 30

— review interim financial information 100

930

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest corporate information and
news are also made available on the website of the Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly with Shareholders. The Chairman
actively participates at the AGM through telephone conference due to COVID-19 and the relevant travel restrictions to
answer any guestions from Shareholders. The chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee or in their absence, another member of the respective committees or failing that their respective
duly appointed delegate, are also available to answer questions at the AGM. The chairman of any independent board
committee formed as necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is appointed, at least a member
of the independent board committee) will also be available to answer questions at any general meeting of Shareholders
to approve a connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’ approval.

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the 2020 AGM was held on 20 November 2020. The attendance records of the
Directors at the general meeting are set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meeting for each substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring
Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of AGM at least 20 clear business days before the meeting and to
be sent at least 10 clear business days in case of all other general meetings. An explanation of the detailed procedures
of conducting a poll is provided to the Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman answers
questions from Shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed
under the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such requisition must
state the purposes of the general meeting, signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and can be addressed to the Board
or the Company Secretary in writing by mail to the Company’s registered office in Bermuda (“Registered Office”) and
preferably with a copy to its principal office in Hong Kong (“Head Office”). Besides, Shareholder(s) may make a proposal
at a Shareholders’ meeting by submitting it in written form addressed to the Board or the Company Secretary at the
Registered Office and preferably with a copy to the Head Office in accordance with the Act and the Bye-laws where
applicable.

The Board established a shareholders’ communication policy. Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the
Board. Such enquiries can be addressed to the Board or the Company Secretary in writing by mail to the Registered
Office and preferably with a copy to the Head Office.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the dividend policy since November 2018. The Company’s dividend policy aims at providing
reasonable and sustainable returns to its Shareholders whilst maintaining a position of financial stability which allows the
Company to take advantage of any investment and expansion opportunities that may arise from time to time.

The Board may declare or propose dividends on an annual basis and/or may declare interim dividends or special
dividends. Proposal or declaration of dividends by the Board is subject to consideration of the Company’s and the
Group’s operating results, accumulated and future earnings, gearing, liquidity position, capital commitment requirement
and future expansion plan as well as general economic conditions and external factors that may have impact on the
financial performance and position of the Company and the Group. In addition, as the Company is a holding company,
the Board will also consider the dividends received from its subsidiaries and associates as the ability to pay dividends by
the Company is dependent on the dividends received from those subsidiaries and associates.

The Board will regularly review the dividend policy and will amend and/or modify the dividend policy if necessary.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying and complying with the CG Code of the Stock
Exchange but also about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. We will continue to
review and, where appropriate, improve our current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory changes and
developments. Any views and suggestions from our Shareholders to promote and improve our transparency are also
welcome.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE, APPROACH AND STRATEGY

APAC Resources Limited (the “Company” or “APAC”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to
present its Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the “Report”). This Report outlines the Group’s
sustainability initiatives and selected targets and Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) that are material to the Group and
its stakeholders on ESG issues. This Report supplements information disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report.

APAC is an established natural resource investment fund and commaodity trading house which owns strategic interests
in natural resource companies with the main business lines comprising of primary strategic investment; resource
investment; and commodity trading business, focused primarily on metals, mining and energy and investment in financial
assets.

APAC believes in delivering long term, sustainable value creation not only to our shareholders and investors but to all our
stakeholders, including employees, and the broader environment and society. In doing so, we recognise that the choices
we make will have an impact on the communities in which we carry on business and we commit to make such impact
a positive one. Central to our ESG approach is our commitment to creating sustained value for all our stakeholders.
We believe a robust governance structure is important in effectively managing risk and ESG performance. We consider
stakeholder opinions are crucial for our continuous improvement. We strongly believe that ongoing communication
with major stakeholders is vital to understand the interests and expectations of our stakeholders, as well as to help us
prioritise ESG topics that may ultimately serve the Company.

The Board is accountable for oversight ESG issues and endorses the initiative to pursue a clear ESG management
approach that is closely in line with the Group’s overall business strategic development. The Board has delegated the
day-to-day responsibility for all related matters to the senior management and department heads. Department heads
are responsible for identifying, evaluating and managing business and operating risks including ESG-related risks for
the Group. The result and findings are reported annually by department heads to the Chairman of Executive Committee
who puts forward the same to the Audit Committee and the Board for review. In addition, designated personnel of
the management are responsible to identify and manage ESG issues, collecting and analysing relevant ESG data from
various departments and reporting in the ESG Report on an annual basis. This Report has been reviewed and approved
by the Board.

The Company has adopted a Sustainability Policy in September 2017 which covers our principles in the area of
employment and labour practices, business integrity, the environment and the community. We shall endeavor to embrace
these principles as part of our practice and governance to guide our business and operational decision-making and to
contribute to the sustainable development of society and the environment.

REPORTING BOUNDARY AND SCOPE

This Report covers the operations of APAC and all its subsidiaries. There is no significant change in the reporting
boundary compared to the previous year. The subject areas and aspects are presented based on the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” for listed issuers published by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”).
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

All information of this Report has been compiled according to the data and information obtained within the Group.

» o«

The preparation of this Report strictly adheres to the reporting principles of “materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance” and

“consistency”.

Materiality

Quantitative

Balance

Consistency

This Report is structured based on the materiality of respective issues, determined
by the management that are important to stakeholders after taking into accounts
stakeholders expectation.

This Report discloses material environmental and social KPIs. Targets are set to
reduce impact if relevant. Information of the standards, methodologies, assumptions
and/or calculation references, and sources of key conversion factors used on these
KPlIs are stated wherever appropriate.

This Report presents an unbiased overview of the Group’s ESG performance with
both achievements and areas of improvements disclosed.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide, as well as
consistent methodology for the calculation of KPIs in order to provide a meaningful
comparison over years.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group aims to actively collaborate with its stakeholders to ensure that their opinions can be voiced out through a

proper communication channel.

Stakeholders

Communication channels

Government and regulatory authorities e Routine reports

Shareholders and investors

Employees

Customers

Suppliers

Media and the public
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We defined material stakeholder groups as those who have frequent connections, significant financial and operational
influence, and form a long-term and strategic relationship with the Group. After conducting a materiality screening, our
material stakeholders are identified as: the Board, management, shareholders/investors, employees and customers.

Amongst various environmental and social issues based on the ESG Reporting Guide within the scope of sustainability,
the following is the list of issues that are considered to be material and relevant to the Group. The priorities are set based
on management’s view as well as certain conclusions from our stakeholders’ engagement. Based on management’s
view, the aspects and KPIs relevant to this Report’s disclosure are set out as follows:

Climate Change (Aspect A4) general disclosure, KPI A4.1
Employment (Aspect B1) general disclosure, KPI B1.1, B1.2
Anti-corruption (Aspect B7) general disclosure, KPI B7.1, B7.2, B7.3

Emissions (Aspect A1) general disclosure

Use of resources (Aspect A2) general disclosure, KPI A2.1, A2.3

The environment and natural resources (Aspect A3) general disclosure, KPI A3.1
Health and safety (Aspect B2) general disclosure, KPI B2.1, B2.2

Development and training (Aspect B3) general disclosure, KPI B3.1, B3.2
Labour standards (Aspect B4) general disclosure

Supply chain management (Aspect B5) general disclosure, KPI B5.1, B5.2, B5.3
Product responsibility (Aspect B6) general disclosure, KPI B6.1, B6.2, B6.3
Community investment (Aspect B8) general disclosure, KPI B8.1, B8.2

All other KPIs not mentioned above were considered not relevant for detailed disclosure.
The following ESG issues are presented based on the classification of provisions by the ESG Reporting Guide.
A. Environmental Issues

The Group’s Sustainability Policy encompasses our general approach towards environmental issues. We endeavour
to:

— observe relevant laws and regulations and aim to go beyond minimum requirements;

— prevent/minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste;

— make efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials;
— minimise the impact of the Group’s activities on the environment and natural resources; and

— engage our staff, customers and partners to promote environmentally sustainable business practices and
constantly re-assess our processes to minimise environmental impact.

This Report does not include the disclosure of all the environmental KPIs as they are not considered material or

relevant. Instead, we have discussed our general approach and effort to reduce the Group’s environmental footprint
in various aspects.
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Emissions (Aspect A1)

The Group is not involved in any manufacturing activities. Emissions produced directly by the Group related to 2
executive vehicles in Hong Kong and mainland China. These are used for senior staff’s local travel only. The scale
and usage are immaterial. Other emissions produced are mostly on a “second degree” basis as incurred during
occasional business travels and the Group did not generate any hazardous waste during the year. The Group’s
non-hazardous waste consists of paper, office equipment waste, office stationery, as well as domestic waste
generated from our employees.

In line with our policy to minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste, major operations are equipped with audio conferencing facilities to minimise the need for face
to face meetings and keep business travelling to a minimum. We aim to reduce the amount of waste generated by
diverting useful resources from landfills to recycling or repurposing, whenever applicable.

There are no relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact to our business on this aspect.

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)

We place a high priority on the efficient use of resources. With only 15 staff members across the Group, we consume
limited amounts of electricity and paper. Water consumption is not material to our business as it relates only to the
personal consumption of our staff for their personal hygiene.

Environmental protection guidelines in relation to energy savings, materials recycling and reduction in paper
consumption are in place. For instance, staff are encouraged to use duplex printing for internal documents, return
used printer toner capsules and coffee capsules to respective suppliers and facilities and procedures are in place for
paper waste recycling. Staff are reminded to switch off lights and equipment after work, during lunch break or during
the time working outside the office and wherever possible. Electronic communication and storage are promoted and
energy efficiency of office equipment is taken into consideration in making purchase decision. During the year ended
30 June 2021, the Group’s total electricity and paper consumption were 35,800 kWh (2020: 35,000 kWh) and
105,000 pages (2020: 89,000 pages) respectively, equivalent to 2,387 (2020: 2,500) kWh/employee and 7,000 (2020:
6,357) pages/employee respectively.

Throughout the Group, the following business processes were implemented whenever possible to improve efficiency
and to reduce paper usage:

—  Electronic bank and broker statements;

— Recycling schemes of office equipment and supplies; and

— Internal electronic administration and communication platform.

Except for the abovementioned, the Group’s businesses have no direct impact on the environment and natural
resources. Despite the growth in activities, the Group targets to maintain its current energy and paper consumption
with the steps described above.

Climate Change (Aspect A4)

Climate change is materially affecting societies and economies around the world and therefore it also impacts upon

our businesses. As a listed company, we are aware of the increasing demands and requirements of climate-related
information disclosures.
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The risks posed by “stranded assets” that unexpectedly loss value as a result of climate change is a major concern
in the investment industry. At APAC, climate change is increasingly becoming a focus of investment risk as our
investments are mainly on mining, metal and energy companies which are of relatively high carbon emission. In
evaluating climate risk, we consider both the physical risks brought by more frequent and severe weather conditions
and other environment impacts and the transition risks from changes in government policies, technological
innovation and shift in market preference.

The investment implications of climate risk are multi-faceted and complex. We conduct climate risk analysis through
ongoing engagements with the companies in which we invest. We have increasingly focused our investments on
segments that are exposed to low carbon industries, including electric vehicles, battery metals and renewable
energy. If relevant and appropriate, we will also consider applying hedging tools or implementing and managing
different dimension divestment strategies, changing the balance of our portfolio and its risk/return parameters in
order to mitigate climate risk. In this respect, our ultimate goal is to invest in companies that are well positioned to
manage the physical and transition risks and opportunities associated with climate change.

In addition, changes in weather patterns and the increased severity of extreme weather events will likely disrupt
the continuity of daily operations. For this reason, we have developed emergency protocols to handle such events,
including procedures to approach typhoons and black rainstorms.

Social Issues
Employment (Aspect B1), Health and Safety (Aspect B2) and Labour Standards (Aspect B4)

Our people are our most important assets that will drive the long-term development of the Group. The Group’s policy
on employment is as follows:

observing relevant laws and regulations;

— being an equal-opportunity employer, implementing fair practices relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare for our staff;

— providing a safe, healthy and quality workplace and protecting employees from occupational hazards;

— promoting a good work-life balance for staff;

— investing in training and professional development of our staff for the purpose of improving their knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work;

— maintaining an open dialogue with our staff, facilitating a transparent two way communication; and

—  preventing child and forced labour.
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In Hong Kong and in the mainland China, the Group’s employment of staff is governed by the following laws and
regulations:

—  Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

—  Employment of Young Persons (Industry) Regulations (Cap. 57C of the Laws of Hong Kong)

—  Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

—  Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 426 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

—  Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

— Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

— Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

—  Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

—  Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

— Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

—  Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

—  Labour Law and Labour Contract Law of the PRC

—  Labour Relations Law (Law No. 7/2008)

— Regulation on Prohibition of llegal Work (Ordinance No. 17/2004)

—  Law of Hiring Non-Residents Workers (Law No. 21/2009)

The Group has no known non-compliance with the above relevant laws and regulations. The Group ensured that our
compensation and benefits (including working hours, rest periods, welfare) are according to the prevailing manpower
market conditions and individual performance.

Further information on the Group’s emolument policy is also included in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
section of this Annual Report.

As at 30 June 2021, the Group has a total of 15 full time staff, 9 in Hong Kong and 6 in mainland China. By gender,
47% is male and 53% is female. By age group, 40%, 20%, 20% and 20% are between age groups of 30 to 39,
40 to 49, 50 to 59 and over 59 respectively.
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Employee turnover rate calculated by the number of permanent staff who left during the year divided by the average
total number of staff employed by the Group over the same timeframe is 11.1% in Hong Kong (2020: Nil) and nil in
mainland China (2020: Nil). By gender, 14.3% is male and nil is female. By age group, 16.7% is between the age
group of 30 to 39 and nil for other age groups.

The Group endeavours to provide a safe and pleasant working environment for our staff. Employees are required to
be familiarised with the location of fire alarms, fire-fighting equipment, fire escape routes and emergency response
protocols. Fire drills are also conducted regularly in accordance with property management guidelines. Safety
equipment including first-aid boxes and trolleys for heavy goods is accessible in the workplace. In addition, to
maintain good indoor quality, smoking indoors is strictly prohibited.

Under COVID-19, in order to protect our employees’ health and well-being while maintaining business-as-usual, the
Group reacted quickly to implement a set of measures as detailed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
section of this Annual Report. Through monitoring the situation stringently and keeping informed of local and regional
guidelines, we adjusted our updates and advice on a regular basis.

Most of our staff have to use computer for a long period. Their regular and repetitive actions in operating their
computers may cause repetitive strain injuries and visual fatigue if they have not adopted a proper working posture.
A Guide to Work with Computers prepared by the Labour Department has been circulated to all staff to enhance
their awareness in this aspect.

There are no work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years and in the reporting year, no working
days were lost due to work injury.

The Group respects all basic human rights and forbids any forms of child or forced labour practice. During the
recruitment process, we require all personnel to provide valid personal identification documents for verification
purposes, while background checks will also be carried out whenever necessary. In the unlikely event that false
information or a false identity is discovered, the Group will address the situation by closely following the necessary
procedures in accordance with laws and regulations.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to labour standards. Additionally, no cases of child or
forced labour were reported during the reporting period.

Development and Training (Aspect B3)

The Group is committed to fostering a culture of continuous learning in our organisation. Emphasis is placed on
staff training which is tailored to equip our workplace with the necessary professional and market knowledge and
skills relevant to their work, as well as to build our talent pool. Our Directors are required to participate in training to
enhance their knowledge to enable them to discharge their duties and responsibilities more effectively. Management
have participated in seminars in relation to anti-money laundering and update of Listing Rules and corporate
governance code. Our investment specialists have frequently attended various seminars and webinars in order to
keep up to date on the investment markets. The Group has also provided support for our staff in their continuous
professional development.
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Total Training Hours Average Training Hours

Gender (hours) (hours/employee)
Female 198 25
Male 54 8

Total Training Hours Average Training Hours
Employment Category (hours) (hours/employee)
Management 128 32
General Staff 124 11

Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5)

The Group aims at building our primary strategic investments which will provide off-take to complement our commodity
business in China. The Group’s sole supplier of commodity trading is a listed company in Australia in which the Group
has equity interest. We manage environmental and social risks through ongoing engagements with the company. We
have periodically reviewed its sustainability report for its awareness and commitment to its environmental and social risks.

As an investment fund, the Group’s general business suppliers include providers of information technology, financial
information and services, agents, consultants, law firms and over 70 securities brokers located mainly in Hong Kong,
Australia, Canada, the United States of America and the United Kingdom. These are not considered to pose significant
environmental and social risks for our business and procurement decisions are based on pricing, track record of good
practices, suitability as well as the reputation of suppliers.

Product Responsibility (Aspect B6)

The Group is dedicated in providing products with good quality and up to the specification to our customers. Customers
of commodity trading are provided with quality certifications to prove the product quality. The Group strictly complies
with all relevant laws and regulations in relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products. The Group is involved in money lending activities operating under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions) Ordinance
(Cap. 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Other than that, there are no laws and regulations that has a significant impact on
the Group.

Comprehensive policies and procedures have been implemented to facilitate a responsible and efficient investment
process. Investment opportunities are subject to stringent screening in line with our procedures by the investment team,
comprised of experienced professionals, to ensure our investment decisions are prudent, consistent and impartial.

We strictly protect the confidentiality of non-public material information. All staff members are reminded of the importance
of keeping confidential any aspects of the Company’s business and the need to comply with the requirements of
confidentiality. Non-disclosure agreements are signed with the counterparty where applicable to prevent leakage and
loss of confidential information.
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During the reporting period, there are no products sold and shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons nor
complaints in relation to our products or services. The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance of laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to product and services responsibility, including matters
in relation to data privacy and copyright.

We respect intellectual property rights, including but not limited to trademarks, patents and copyrights. Employees
shall not privately use or allow outside parties to possess and exploit intellectual property, unless permission has been
obtained by copyright owners. Our MIS department carries out periodic inspection of employees’ computers, ensuring
that genuine software is installed.

Anti-Corruption (Aspect B7)

The Group is committed to compliance with applicable anti-corruption laws and regulations and to uphold ethics. The
Group has implemented a whistle blower policy for reporting fraud, corruption and other improprieties. We encourage
the reporting of suspected business irregularities and provide clear channels specifically for this purpose for access to
the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Group also provides assurance to protect the whistle-blower from common
concerns such as confidentiality, reprisal and victimisation. This policy is circulated to employees periodically to facilitate
employees’ easy access and reporting. To maintain appropriateness to our business and regulatory compatibility, the
whistle blower policy will be subject to review from time to time whenever necessary.

For the year ended 30 June 2021, there were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the
Group or its employees and no significant risks relating to corruption had been identified. During the year, Directors and
relevant staff have been provided training materials on anti-corruption and ethical issues in order to strengthen business
ethics and to keep them updated in relation to regulatory requirements.

Community Investment (Aspect BS)
APAC undertakes the responsibility of a good corporate citizen contributing by encouraging our staff to participate in
community and charitable activities and support with sponsorship and donation.

APAC focused its engagement in developing a better and healthier local community. During the year, our staff members

participated in the Virtual Walk for Millions organised by the Community Chest. The Group has donated approximately
HK$41,000 to the Hong Kong Cancer Fund.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

A\ Crowe

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of APAC
Resources Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) set out on pages 113 to 251 which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

FREZSE

s E R ERRREAZEE 2 EEXH
B - WARZBENEZARERS BB ®ER
EMEEZEH ARBEERBELLS
EMBHRREAULEREARBEZEFE
B ARt EEREFERER -

Refer to accounting policy note 2(d) and disclosure in note 16 to the HRHG AU BmERM T2 TR

consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter
ERERBE

We identified impairment assessment of the Group’s
interest in an associate in Australia, namely Mount Gibson
Iron Limited (“MGX”), as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant
estimation and judgement involved by the management of
the Group in determining the recoverable amount of MGX.

AAZEENIE & & ERENE Q7 (BIMount Gibson
Iron Limited(TMGX 1)) Z #2 Z BER L5 REREZE
B RARBBEAKEGAVEBRRERMEEEX

B B£EEIEENEEMCXAIIE SRS & E X
Ko o

As set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the recoverable amount of MGX are
determined by the management of the Group with
reference to the higher of its value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the
management of the Group to estimate the present value
of the future cash flows expected to arise from dividends
of MGX which is estimated based on the cash flows from
the operations of MGX and the proceeds on the ultimate
disposal of MGX. The estimation takes into account the
estimated future prices and production volume of hematite
iron ores of MGX, a suitable discount rate and historical
dividend payout ratio of MGX. The fair value less costs of
disposal of MGX is determined by reference to the closing
price of its shares listed on the ASX as at 30 June 2021.
HANAR & I SRR M EESFT & - MGX 2 AJ Y2 Bl & %8 T)
H BEEEEREL2ZACTABERATEREEXE
RrREREMERE HEAEER X BE5EEERES
ZHEAMCXIRETEMEELE Z RRBEREZIRE - A
fET IR BEMOXE EFT 1S IR @ 8 A R &R HEMGXZ
FISRIEMSH - &5t RMGXTRIETEA M b5t R IRER
RiEtEE - @R EUARMGXZ BEIREE o MGX
ZATEREEXRADZ2ZEENRIM ETRHN T
T FARNA=TAZWMEERE °
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

FEBMEELPEEZEEZL

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of the Group’s interest in MGX included:

AIZHEA R

EEBPMCXE R 2 R B2 EZ

BB

Understanding the impairment assessment of
the Group’s interest in MGX performed by the
management of the Group, including the valuation
model adopted and key assumptions used;

TR BEEEEREEMRNMGXZERETZRE
FHE > BREARAZEHEEREEMAERZ T ER
= -

Evaluating the key assumptions and inputs used
by the management of the Group in the value in
use calculation, including the future cash flows
expected to arise from dividends of MGX which
is estimated based on the cash flows from the
operations of MGX and the proceeds on the
ultimate disposal of MGX and the discount rate
used, with reference to historical performance and
publicly available information;

iHh EEEERENRGEEREBERMAEALZ
FERZLBABE - BEERMOXEEMEEH
e REELEMCGXZ BRI RKELE R
ERBERAFAIEERMSEEARA 2 TR EMG
FHZMGXIL S TR EE 2 KRR RE



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) B EIZETE (@)

The Key Audit Matter
BREZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FEREMEBRRTREZSEZIA X

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, the recoverable amount of the Group’s
interest in MGX, which represents the fair value less costs
of disposal, is higher than its carrying amount. Accordingly,
a reversal of impairment loss of HK$580,014,000 in
respect of the Group’s interest in MGX is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year and
it results in the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in
MGX of HK$2,185,085,000 as at 30 June 2021.

WANGRE MR T 16FTIREE - S5EMNRMGX 2 #Ea=
ZAWEeEEATFEREERA) SREREE -
It REEFEEERAS BEXEMNRMCXZ EmiERRE
JE18 [0 #580,014,0008 7T - HH BEEBENMCXZ #Eam
R -E - —F XA =1HZRAE~S2,185,085,000/& T

Checking the closing price of the shares of MGX
which are listed on the ASX as at 30 June 2021;
ZEMCGXR BRI EMROHNRZE=Z—F<A
=+ RZWHE

Comparing the result of the value in use calculation
with the fair value less costs of disposal of the
Group’s interest in MGX, which is determined
by reference to the closing price of shares of
MGX as at 30 June 2021, when determining the
recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in
MGX;

REE BEEENRMGXZ #Em 2 Al e ¢ EEE -
HBEREBEFEAREZEMGXRNHRKR _E
Z—FARNA=ZTHRZUTEEEN BEEER
MGX 2 #zs 2 A BRI B A

Comparing the recoverable amount of the Group’s
interest in MGX with its carrying amount; and

L EEEMRMGX 2 #am 2 AT 6 & 58 8 H AR
HE: &

Recalculating the reversal of impairment loss of
the Group’s interest in MGX.

BHEE BSEERMGX 2 R EEER #
i
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

B EXETE ()

Refer to accounting policy note 2(h) and disclosure in notes 19 and BHREGA U B HRERM 20T

31(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter
BREXSE

The measurement of expected credit loss (‘ECL”) requires
the application of significant judgement which include the
identification of exposures with a significant deterioration
in credit quality, and assumptions used in the ECL
models, such as the probabilities of default, loss given
default, expected future cash flows and forward looking
macroeconomic factors.
BHEEER(AREEBRNAESZKEAERY
i - PEBGIEEERRER AR  UKBREER
BRAGERMRE - fIEQORE - BAEKRE - 78H
BIARRIR S REMAEMNEELCERZ -

Due to the subjectivity inherent in the estimation of ECL
allowances, we considered this as a key audit matter.
AAMEFTTEREEERRERSEAN BN - NZEAR
BT — IR EZEIE -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

FEBMEERTREEZBEZT

Our audit procedures included the following:

AZBEMEBEZIEFIT -

Assessing controls over the origination,
segmentation, ongoing internal credit quality
assessments, recording and monitoring of loan
receivables;

HMEHEKRERNES - 2 HERNBEEE
SAHE - AR R EE R

Assessing the effectiveness of key controls over
the application of the impairment methodology,
the governance for the ECL models, inputs and
assumptions used by the Group in calculating the
ECL and the mathematical accuracy of the ECL
calculations;

AHEE EERIERETENER - THEEEEE
REEYS - BEEEFERBEEEEMANEA
%f%é@i%&?ﬁ%1§%@??§%+%E’J&ﬁ(%&iﬁﬁﬁésﬁ

R ,

Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
models, including the model input, model design,
model performance and calculation;

it EEEEHEEEEELNSEN - B
REG ABUR - RERET  REIRBKRETE

Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s
criteria for assessing if there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime
ECL basis and the qualitative assessment;

i EEEGEERR SR D EZIEMEE
PREENBERZBEBEEBEELEFE
NEMFEEIRERN SR ;

Challenging whether historical experience is
representative of current circumstances and of
the recent losses incurred in the portfolios and
assessing the reasonableness of the forward
looking adjustments;
BRELEBREERREANBEAALKEAEH
EERIHRER W EAE RN S

Reviewing the Group’s assumptions on the
expected future cash flows, including the value
of realisable collateral based on available market
information; and

BE EEEBEHRRRERENRE - B
ERTiSrSERN A ZRERRER : &
Assessing the financial statement disclosures

relating to the Group’s exposure to credit risk.
s BESEEEERBRM O AENT SRR E



INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

e B EwR KRB A &R E S
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

BB RS S M HRR AR
EzsFwm

e HEERMAFELEGHERZIREN
AR - WARBAIER 2 BRE
TR FEEFRABRBEBIEXN
THEEM - EmAleEsE BEREZ
FEKERNELERRE  WAZH
AR RTFEEATHENE  AIENER
ZEEN R EPIRB T B A M B HRET
Z BRI EE - MARIEE TR - RIERT
AZBMER - AEBEERIDER
BERBERE BB ILAMEG 2 ER
BEE o R RREHMIENAIGEE
B EBERBEELSELE -

o HMERAMBHMARZEBIHIA - &
BREAR  BEEEER  UREAE
BHRE AT B RRIBARZZMER -

o 3 BERENERIXBEDHIMEE
FHERFE R MEE < BORE - AESH
REMBHRERER - ARBEE R
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 September 2021

Chan Wai Dune, Charles
Practising Certificate Number PO0712

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

B ERGS
EzsFwm

BA RS ER AR

AZBE T AEZZBEGFELER B
AREMENaARBELE 2 HEERE
Ko WRRERBBUEKAERRSGTE
ARBEBELEZ AEBENREMER
VAR FTERBR LA R BB 91T B 3 P 3% R Y
BrE b (2EA)

HREZZBRBBLERET - NZEE
EEHAMEGAMBRR2EREHE
BEE AMERBAREZER - A%
B ERBABRETRAZEZER - RIE
ERBERTIAFAFAREZESRE %
EERmERLZBERT @ HEBBHRELRZ
BEN RS PBBREFRER 2 AR RS
HEAZ AR - BIAZBENRE T &
EREPEELSE -

B EEE (BB S MERMARLAR

%JZ%E GTED
B —E-—FhA-+WH

HEFEZEIT PO0712



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 30 June 2021

HE_Z-_—FXA=THILFE

2021 2020
—E-—F T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Htat FExT FAT
Revenue Wzs
Trading of goods EmE 517,672 367,690
Interest income FLE U A 46,928 68,837
Total revenue WaskagR 6 564,600 436,527
Cost of sales SHER AR (461,968) (386,639)
Gross profit EF 102,632 49,888
Other gains and losses HAb s R EE 7 646,759 (56,684)
Other income H A 8 18,021 25,735
Reversal of impairment loss/ REERA 2w 16 580,014 (549,614)
(impairment loss) on interests in EESREESE,(RE
associates, net [E518) 558
Administrative expenses THER (111,267) (45,032)
Finance costs BhE A 9(a) (162) (240)
Share of results of associates DIRBE N A EE 16 131,973 146,545
Profit/(loss) before taxation B AT (EE) 9 1,367,970 (429,402)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTsfi(Fx) R 10 (10,680) 1
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable Zs/A &G A E(LEE 1,357,290 (429,401)
to owners of the Company wm Al (ER)
Earnings/(loss) per share BREFN,(EB) 14
(expressed in HK cents) (LABALZIR)
- basic —EK 111.35 (35.29)
— diluted —8E 111.35 (35.23)

The notes on pages 121 to 251 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

Details of dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable to

profit for the year are set out in note 13.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GEEER

Hit2mEkaER

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE_ZT-—FX A=1tHILtFE
2021 2020
—E—-F —ETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Htat FExT FAT
Profit/(loss) for the year FERr (&) 1,357,290 (429,401)
Other comprehensive income/ EhamiEs,/ ()
(expense), net of tax (FBRBEIE)
ltems that may be reclassified Al EREFNHES
subsequently to profit or loss: BmIEE -
Exchange differences on BER SN EIRESL 148,972 (30,625)
translation of associates 2N R
Exchange differences on BEEMGINETE R 6,509 (2,047)
translation of other foreign EEZEHZER
operations
Share of other comprehensive S —EBERE 2 89 180
income of an associate, net Hith 2 mEE
of related income tax (FNERIEREFTIS L)
155,570 (82,492)
ltem that will not be reclassified to T & EHHIEE B
profit or loss: ZIEH -
Share of other comprehensive Dih—EBE AR Z (3,185) 5,104
(expense)/income of an Hthz2m(Zd),/
associate, net of related Wezs (FOBR A5
income tax FriSHi)
Other comprehensive income/ FRNEMEEKZE(ZH) 152,385 (27,388)
(expense) for the year, (FBRFTSHR)
net of income tax
Total comprehensive income/ RAEEE ANEIHEA 1,509,675 (456,789)
(expense) for the year attributable Y28,/ (52 ) 4258

to owners of the Company

The notes on pages 121 to 251 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R

At 30 June 2021 RZZE-_—FA=1+H
2021 2020
—E-—F T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt FHET FHETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 15 4,299 5,653
Interests in associates i AN W e 16 2,404,381 1,525,576
Financial assets at fair value A ER BRI 18 208,234 76,379
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) ([RDAFEREER
BE)ZEREE
Loan receivables R E R 19 133,170 317,813
Loan notes BERER 20 3,924 3,916
Rental deposits HERe 21 239 539
Deferred tax assets FEREFRIBE & 25 1,615 646
2,755,862 1,930,522
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 17 33,604 108,356
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMEKREER 21 121,070 43,568
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFERERREE 2 18 1,227,912 640,472
EREE
Loan receivables R E R 19 360,680 151,063
Pledged bank deposits BIRHIRITIF R 22 18,266 88,611
Bank balances and cash RITERNIRS 22 420,389 564,039
2,181,921 1,596,109
Total assets EEHE 4,937,783 3,526,631
TARERERAT
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At 30 June 2021

R-ZE-—FA=1H

2021 2020
—B-—-F —E-FHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
it FET FHET

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BREREE

Capital and reserves BAEREE
Share capital A% 2 28(b) 1,218,894 1,218,894
Other reserves Hi 402,635 251,991
Accumulated profits Sl 3,202,064 1,964,923
4,823,593 3,435,808

Non-current liabilities IRBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 1,238 761
Deferred tax liability FEERIBAE 25 7,702 =
8,940 761

Current liabilities REERE

Trade and other payables BN EMEMAERR 23 99,837 85,443
Tax payable FERFIE 3,232 876
Lease liabilities HEEE 24 2,181 3,743
105,250 90,062
Total liabilities BEHEE 114,190 90,823
Total equity and liabilities BREREEHEEE 4,937,783 3,526,631
Net current assets REBEESE 2,076,671 1,506,047
Total assets less total liabilities EEAER A G4 4,823,593 3,435,308

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

24 September 2021.

Arthur George Dew

Director

EBEF

The notes on pages 121 to 251 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF MEEREEHR
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_Z-—FA=tHIFE
Investment Capital
Share Share Special revaluation  Exchange redemption Accumulated Total
capital  premium reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits equity
k& g%

Bx  RftRE  RARE EERRE  EXRG RERE  RHRA RE4E
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKSO000  HKSOOD  HKS000  HK§000  HKS000
et TEn  TEn  TEr TR TR TEr TR

(note (j) (note (i)
() (i)
At July 2019 RZE-NnE+A-A 1218894 206,694 (14,980) 18,944 (2,863 79436 2508362 4,014,487
Loss for the year FEBR - - - - - - (429.401)  (429401)
Other comprehensive income/{expense) FRLb2ENG /(i) - - - 584 (3267 - - (27,389)
for the year
Total comprehensive expense for the year — EE2ER HAE - - - 5,284 (32,672) - (429401)  (456,789)
Share of reserve movements of an associate 25— FRBE ARz REED - - - (7.85) 5 = 7852 =
Dividends recognised as distribution (Note 13 B AN REMRE (H:213) - - - - - - (121890 (121,890)
At 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2020 RZB-SF7A=1TAR 1,218,804 206,694 (14,980) 16,376 (35,535) 79436 1964923 3435808
“ZCZELA-A
Profit for the year EFET| = = - - - - 1,357,290 1,357,290
Other comprehensive (expense)income FEEBRA(IE) YE - - - (3006) 155,481 = - 152385
for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year FERANGEE = - - (3096) 155481 - 1357290 1509675
Share of reserve movements of an associate 16— BB LN EEES - - = (1,741) = = 1,741 =
Dividends recognised as distrioution (Note 13 2 A% RAR 8 (Hi#13) = = = = = - (12180 (121890
At 30 June 2021 RZE--F~A=1H 1,218,894 206,694 (14,980) 11,639 119,946 79436 3202064 4,823,593
Notes: Mt

1 The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of 1 R IR B A B 2 IR AN E (E B K
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the NER—NANEEBEAEINEmETY
share capital of the Company issued for the acquisition at the time of a group rNET A
reorganisation in 1998.

2  The capital redemption reserve represents the par value of ordinary shares 2 EAREEEEKRAATRBAEEEERD T BRI
transferred from accumulated profits upon repurchase of these shares by the g 2% FEE 2 2SR EE -
Company in previous years.

The notes on pages 121 to 251 form part of these consolidated financial 121 £&251 B MM X B K% S 454 B 15 3R
statements. RZ—EMD
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF HEHERER
CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE
2021 2020
—B-—-F —E-FTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FHET FHT
Operating activities R
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRELATE R, (E1E) 1,367,970 (429,402)
Adjustments for: BLTHIIEE fER A% -
Depreciation of property, YE - BEREREZ 9(c) 440 419
plant and equipment e
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FREZEZINE 9(c) 3,984 3,908
(Gains)/loss arising from changes in 2 A T ERIBLREIE 2 7 (558,159) 61,824
fair value of financial assets at SREEANTEEZY
FVTPL, net mEEz (W),
B85
Loss arising from deemed RELER—REEE QA 7 1,911 1,679
disposal of partial interest in HintEmmEE 2 B8
an associate
Impairment loss on loan EWERZ REESIEFEE 7 19,218 4,048
receivables, net
Interest income FLEMA (48,045) (73,973)
Interest expenses MEZH 9(a) 162 240
(Reversal of write-down)/ (FEMIRER), 9(c) (8,980) 5,833
write-down of inventories MREFE
Share of results of associates PaRloY NG (131,973) (146,545)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ NN v (580,014) 549,614
impairment loss on interests in CREFBRIE) RE
associates, net E R F R
Gain arising from modification of FEEKRERMELZ 7 (5,010) (5,934)
loan receivables &
Fair value loss/(gain) on trade T BEATFERIEREER 7 3,498 (1,749)
receivables designated at FVTPL RIEZEFREWERR
NTHEEE, (W)
Fair value gain on trade payables B AEATERIERER 7 (4,604) (19,549)
designated at FVTPL BEZE P EMERER
AP EWRE
Gain arising from changes in PTESMTI AN FEES 7 (32,822) (NPl
fair value of derivative financial MEA 2 W
instruments — warrants — AR IERE
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net PE 5, (Wes) /B 1B F 58 (38,125) 13,681
Dividend income from financial BAFERESRERE Y 8 (15,136) (15,630)
assets at FVTPL SR EEMERERA
Others HAh (1) (18)
(25,686) (62,968)

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



For the year ended 30 June 2021

BE

—E-—FXA=+tHLFE

2021 2020
—B-—-F ZETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
BiaF FHET FHET
Changes in working capital EEESEE
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEREL(Em) 89,895 (66,311)
Increase in trade and other B 5 N E At e U BR 5138 00 (80,700) (16,286)
receivables
Increase in trade and B 5 M E M BRR 18,998 92,181
other payables N
Increase in financial assets at BRAFERBREREE S (57,130) (33,809
FVTPL held for trading FEEBEZEmMEE
0
Cash used in operations BEFARS (54,623) (87,193)
Income tax paid ERFTER (1,591) -
Net cash used in operating REERFTRAE SR (56,214) (87,1993
activities
Investing activities BRETH
Purchase of property, BEME - BELEE (20) (186)
plant and equipment
Purchase of listed equity securities BEWIEREEHEA (31,121) (67,141)
not held within the trading BH 2 EmRAES
portfolios
Purchase of unlisted equity EEVIENESHAR (40,063) (1,361)
securities not held within the BEZIELETIRAES
trading portfolios
Proceeds from disposal of HETIFREBEHEENA = 36,132
listed equity securities not held BB 2 ETRAES
within the trading portfolios FriSsE
Proceed from redemption of fEC B R EE TS R0E 20 - 46,997
loan notes
New loans granted HILE 19(b) (201,331) (347,981)
Repayments of loan receivables BEERKER 19(b) 197,560 278,527
Placement of pledged bank FHREERRITER (383,862) (351,175)
deposits
Withdrawal of pledged bank B HIRRITIFR 454,135 335,747
deposits
Investments in associates AR AT (29,016) (45,613)
Interest received BT B 50,917 64,856
Dividend received from REFEFRE 2 BHARE 15,136 15,630
investments in securities
Net cash generated from/ REFEFE(FTH) 32,335 (35,568)
(used in) investing activities RE&FE
BAERERAR
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2021 2020
—B-—-F —E-FHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
k3 FHET FHT
Financing activities L& EE
Capital element of lease ENHEER SN ERIHD 22(b) (4,122) (3,905)
rentals paid
Interest element of lease ENEERSHF B0 22(b) (162) (240)
rentals paid
Dividend paid B E 22(b) (121,890) (121,890)
Net cash used in financing RETEMARSFE (126,174) (126,035)
activities
Net decrease in cash ReREERS (150,053) (248,796)
and cash equivalents B FEE
Cash and cash equivalents at RENZREREERS 564,039 814,547
beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExgmH s EEE 6,403 (1,712)
changes, net
Cash and cash equivalents at RELRZREREERS - 22(a) 420,389 564,039

end of the year, represented by RRBITEBRERES
bank balances and cash

N

The notes on pages 121 to 251 form part of these consolidated financial 55121 E251 B KM sT A% Z 42 & B 15 3R
statements. RLZ—EMR °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2021

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

APAC Resources Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in

Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
primary strategic investments, resource investment, commodity
business, and principal investment and financial services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional and presentation
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted
by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs which
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 4 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. =T ESHEHE @)

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2021 comprise Group and the Group’s interests in
associates.

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below:

Listed equity securities held-for-trading (note 2(h))

—  Convertible notes (note 2(h))

— Listed equity securities not held within the trading portfolios
(note 2(n))

— Unlisted equity investments (note 2(h))

—  Derivative financial instruments — warrants (note 2(h))

— Trade receivables designated at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”) (note 2(h))

— Trade payables designated at FVTPL (note 2(j))

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

e |evel 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

e |evel 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs,
that is, observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not available

e | evel 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
Note 3.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss (see note
2(j), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost
of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of the investment, and any direct investment into the associate
that forms part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 2(j)). At each reporting
date, the Group assesses whether there is any objective
evidence that the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for
the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose,
the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method, together with the any other long-
term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate (after applying the ECL model to
such other long-term interests where applicable (see note 2(j)).
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former investee at the date when significant influence is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses, unless
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Acquisition of additional interests in associates

Goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of
the consideration paid over the share of carrying amount of
net assets attributable to the additional interests in associates
acquired. Any excess of share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates acquired
over the consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the additional interest are acquired.

Disposal of partial interests in associates

For disposal of partial interests in an associate that does not
result in the Group losing significant influence over the associate,
the difference between the carrying amount of the associate
attributable to the interests disposed of and the consideration
is taken into account in the determination of the gain or loss on
the disposal of partial interests. In addition, the Group accounts
for amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would
be required if the associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income (i.e. exchange reserve and investment revaluation
reserve) relating to that reduction in ownership interest is
reclassified to profit or loss as if the associate has disposed of
the related assets or liabilities proportionately.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 2())):

— right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered owner of
the property interest; and

— items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets
arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment (see
note 2(f)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:
Leasehold improvements, Over the lease terms
furniture and fixtures

Office equipment 5 years
Computers 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value,
if any, are reviewed annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from
equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of
foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for
as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the reporting period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net proceeds on disposal and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss
on the date of retirement or disposal.

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both
the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. = E&HEHE @)

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 2(e) and 2())).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate,
or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (lease modification)
that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

b

As a lessee (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current
portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due to be settled within
twelve months after the reporting period.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property in property, plant and
equipment and presents lease liabilities separately in the
statement of financial position.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. = E&HEHE @)

132

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
“Business Combinations” applies.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

Classification and subsequent measurement of ERMEENSEMERTE

financial assets (Continued) (#%)

A financial asset is held for trading if: WRFE TR - S REERIFE

BE:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in s FIKEMEMEEFZARE
the near term; or REREE =k

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified o MYIXIERE  ¢MEERE
financial instruments that the Group manages together and BAERRSETENDERS
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or mTAEAEM—3H  BAEA
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e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a o TRMEEARITATE - B3EHE
hedging instrument. ERBREHTH -

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial AN - REER ARSIt IE T A

asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost REEN AT EIE AT EREW
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)
(i) Amortised cost and interest income

(i)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

b

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including
pledged bank deposits, receivable from security brokers, other
receivables, deposits, loan receivables, loan note and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

For the financial assets at amortised costs, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credlit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) ﬁmﬂﬁélﬁiﬁ(%ﬁ)
() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) () 1EEEEEZ FT(E)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
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reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash HSSERARBITEALOR ST
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to SETHEH  BIEKIAN

have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit
rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.

EERBREERE - MEBKT
BARBHIEEFRAMR
BRI (RREFEENE
) AAREEERZEHT
AW EERBRAE -

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the ZIS’i ETrHERAREAREE
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ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. = E&HEHE @)

SREERE®
(i) EHZEZE

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) - Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties; or

() the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SREERE@®
(iv) Write-off policy (v) WHBE

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount.

EHEEMBTEFIRREE
B NE - B EERERK
Bl (FIans F e /58KE
EAWERF) - AAEEE
MIHSREE - CHENSR
BENAEFTEREASEDN
WRIRFEITARETE - 1ES
REEFREIUEAERER © M
AR L HERFMF - (EAHE
RO ST R TERR ©

B REREIEEER

FAEBEHMEEBRDEON
R EHBRREREE (A%
ERAOMBRIEE) REOR
BE KB o BB EREMNE
REREHHARIBLATIE T
BRI ESL BIBEDL - B
HEREBRENGERRIAZE
T EXNNRRIEIEEE R
RIERBEERINESEE -

—RiME - REEEEETR
BROENAKENMESN
B 8 8N E 18 8 K
BOMARSRERNERER
it WERRERREENE
PRAREER -

MEWMATIZEBEE K
REE  BIFEBEBEELR
EERE  EHERT - FE
WA TR & B A B 2 B SHA AR
AEERBAEEEMENRE
RLATA € BT AR E K
MHER °

DAERERAE

3R 2021



140

For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

Financial liabilities TRBE

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised FTE SRl B EREEINEERNE AR

cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL. BHEXASIRATFERERER
g o

Financial liabilities at FVTPL RAFERERREE2S
=R

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial e aE)AKBANERSH

liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business AR ARE(EAREBTER

combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) XERNEISR) - () EE B k(i)ig

it is designated as at FVTPL. EAEAFERBRERERE - AJE

DRRRATHENERREERE

A financial liability is held for trading if: EREUTERE - AlEmBGERRE
EEE -
e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of o WEMFEEMARNEIHRME
repurchasing it in the near term; or i1
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financial instruments that the Group manages together and EEMN—HEHR SR TED
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BERESR X
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. = E&HEHE @)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading
or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

e the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability
is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk
in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. For financial liabilities that
contain embedded derivatives, such as trade payables with
commodity derivative, the changes in fair value of the embedded
derivatives are excluded in determining the amount to be
presented in other comprehensive income. Changes in fair value
attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised
in other comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to accumulated
profits upon derecognition of the financial liability.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and lease
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets;

— interests in associates;

—  prepayments; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of
financial position.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. = E&HEHE @)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is IMRBREREDSR - A 2HET&
estimated. BE 2 W EI g o

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying amount of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit
or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial
asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated. The
entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in
its entirety as either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are
not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated
as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a
derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument
that are separated from the host contracts are treated as a
single compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives
relate to different risk exposures and are readily separable and
independent of each other.

&

z=
/=

T —FRNA=THILFE

TTET AP ATET AG MR
BEORFERER  HRANARSE
HIROATEEHAE - TELD
Wk B RS IRE R NER - IR
FZOTET AR —IBIREL AU
BHRTHE - HIERT - RERER
PR B By P BRURTA 1 b AR 0 1
B o

BMALTETR

BEBREBYM B HREERFENR
HEANTREEZ RS AR
ZIUTETATEHRD - BIEE S
MID B R R ERIEREE R IRE X
AERAFERFERTE)GFE -

FA SF B B 75 o HE R SR 95 86
BANSREEHFITETAES
WABRZITETAMS @ HEF
BITETANER - HER ISR
BLF A KRR S i B 0 R B
B BEAOLIFRAFEREBR
AREEIE - RIRIEEBITAETA -

EREms  BEXE00HNE—T
BEFNZERATETR » HER
B-BEEMANTETARIE ' BRIE
ZETETES R RRER A
iR D 7 S R Uk 2 FRPEIAL

DAERERAE

3R 2021

145



For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. = E&HEHE @)

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any
write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses
of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) in accordance with the policy
set out in note 2(h).
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

(i) Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. = E&HEHE @)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided that those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary differences or in periods into which a
tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting
nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

e inthe case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

e in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

(ii)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits
expected to be received from the contract. Provisions for
onerous contracts are measured at the present value of the
lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and
the net cost of continuing with the contract.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

(i)

(ii)

BERIAREE

A B AR BESRIEX
FEREEEE  METZEE
BRESIEEMNSRE R
REH B Al bt - RIRE
REE - HMeBERREREEBE
R AR BRENETEEN
FSREDIR °

el 75 B2 A 7 M) 207 HH B T BEME
PR B REEA EHMA
it BIAEEERHERRA
BE - BIREEMDER LA
BEMEIRF-HOR - AIRE IR E
F(EFEETEURN —IRK
SIEAREHREEL) TR
BRIAREE - FRIFEENE
M B AT BEE TR o

BRESH

HAKEFTARAOMAHN TS
ERES VAR B
B B A AU E B &
B RISERIEEH - BEKE
BRBERE LA O TERINX
RRHEE A KA F R
EERREE -



For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, underlying the particular
performance obligation at the amount of promised consideration
to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of
any trade discounts.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. = E&HEHE @)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for more
than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately under
the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a
financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. The Group takes advantage
of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and
does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is 12 months or
less.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

() Sale of goods

The Group recognises revenue from the sale of commodities
(i.e. iron ore) in the period that the performance obligations
are satisfied which refers to delivery of the goods to the
destination specified by the customers. The destination
may be the destination port or the customer’s premises.
The quantity of commodities as specified in each sales
contract is separately identifiable and represents a distinct
performance obligation to which the transaction price is
allocated. Performance obligations are satisfied at a point in
time once control of the commodities have been transferred
to the customers. The customers have obtained control on
the commodities through their ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all the benefits from the commodities.

Provisional pricing arrangements in relation to trading of
commodities

For trading of commaodities, the sales price is determined
on a provisional basis at the date of sale, as the final sales
price is subject to (a) final assay for the quality and quantity
of commodities after discharge and (b) movements in
prevailing spot prices up to the date of final pricing, normally
within the month at which the commodities are delivered to
customers (i.e. quotation period). Revenue on provisionally
priced sales is recognised based on the estimated quality
and quantity of commodities and fair value of the total
consideration receivable.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. = E&HEHE @)

Principal versus agent (Continued) ZEANRBREA@®
(i) Sale of goods (Continued) () HEEm(#E)

Provisional pricing arrangements in relation to trading of
commodities (Continued)

The Group estimates the amount of the variable
consideration of trading of commodities to which it will be
entitled using the most likely amount as it better predicts
the amount of consideration to which the Group will be
entitled. The estimated amount of variable consideration
is included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved. At the end of each reporting period,
the Group updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.

Adjustment to the sales price occurs based on movements
in prevailing spot prices up to the completion of quotation
period and, thus, the revenue adjustment mechanism has
the characteristic of a commodity derivative. Accordingly,
the fair value of the total consideration receivable subject to
the final sales price adjustment is re-estimated continuously
by reference to prevailing spot prices and the changes in
fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Such fair value
adjustments do not form part of the revenue recognised
from contracts with customers but included in “other
gains and losses” line item in these consolidated financial
statements. These trade receivables are governed under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and are recognised at fair
value through profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

Principal versus agent (Continued) ZEANRBREA@®
(i) Interest income (i) FEHA

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost that are not credit impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see
note 2(h)).

Dividend income

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have
been established. Dividend income from listed investments
is recognised when the share price of the investment goes
ex-dividend.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of
financial position initially when there is reasonable assurance
that they will be received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of
the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. = E&HEHE @)

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
The transaction date is the date on which the Group initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value is measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items are translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. =T E&HEHE @)

b

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non — controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

i) has significant influence over the Group; or

i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

vii) The entity or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s executive
directors (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. S E2: YR &5t
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(i) Estimated impairment loss of the Group’s

(i) XEERAMGX(E&ZR

interest in MGX (as defined in note 16)

Determining whether impairment loss should be recognised
in relation to interest in MGX requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the interest in MGX which is the
higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the management of the
Group to estimate the present value of the future cash flows
expected to arise from dividends of MGX which is estimated
based on the cash flows from the operations of MGX and
the proceeds on the ultimate disposal of MGX taking into
account the estimated future prices and production volume
of hematite iron ores of MGX, a suitable discount rate and
historical dividend payout ratio of MGX. The fair value less
costs of disposal of MGX has been determined based on
the closing price of shares of MGX listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange (“ASX”). Where the actual cash flows
are less or more than expected or upon the management’s
revision of estimated cash flows for the purpose of
determining the value in use due to changes in conditions,
facts and circumstances, the recoverable amount may
change and a material reversal or further recognition of
impairment loss may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal or
further recognised takes place.

Impairment allowance on loan receivables

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across all categories of financial assets requires judgement,
in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a
number of factors, changes in which can result in different
levels of allowances.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. S ES: YR &5t
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(i) Impairment allowance on loan receivables (i) ERER ZRERE @

(Continued)

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex
models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding
the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies.
Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting
judgements and estimates include:

e The Group’s internal credit grading model, which
assigns probabilities of default to the individual grades;

e The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL
basis and the qualitative assessment;

e The segmentation of financial assets based on risk
characteristics of the customers when their ECL is
assessed on a collective basis;

e Development of ECL models, including the various
formulas and the choice of inputs over determination
of the period over which the entity is exposed to credit
risk based on the behavioral life of the credit exposures,
loss given default and collateral recovery of the credit
exposures;

e Determination of associations between macroeconomic
scenarios and, economic inputs, and the effect on
probabilities of default, exposures at default and losses
given default; and

e  Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios
and their probability weightings, to derive the economic
inputs into the ECL models.

It has been the Group/s policy to regularly review its models
in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary.

AEBNBRHEEBENER
ERELNE LB ETE
SZRARERRERH AR
N B 1Rtk 2 P ) B B A 9 AR 2R
RER » ARG HIE AT
BEHEEERERARES E
EEE

o AKEMAEETRIE
- HEQA RS
{EFFRACE

. AEBEFEEEEARRE
KIEEF (AT 2 BB
ERBRTRE2HAY
EREREENE) RE
HERHE OB |

. WESEEBRRARE
T EREFHER
HESBSREE

o ENEERRITAEN
BREFEBEBEREER
BB R s e =R -
ERBEEEEEL 8
BERAAMERETE
BEEEERROEFN
BWABUR

o ETELREBUSEMMR - K
) A\ BUE & ¥ )RR 8T
R HERBR KRR IE K
BEERNTE 2 HHEE
R

o BEENBEMERBLEMNRR
R B A PATS TR
EEEBERMNEERA
2% -

AEBENBRSEERBERE
BEYIEN T EREBERE K
R BESEH R ©

DAERERAE

3R 2021



For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. S E2: YR &5t
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(i) EMITEZ QAP EFE

(iii) Fair value measurement of financial

instruments

As at 30 June 2021, certain of the Group’s financial
assets, including unlisted equity investments, investments
in convertible notes and trade receivables designated
at FVTPL amounting to HK$158,705,000 (2020:
HK$24,254,000), and certain of the Group’s financial
liabilities, including trade payables designated at FVTPL
amounting to HK$28,916,000 (2020: HK$61,852,000) are
measured at fair value with fair value being determined
based on unobservable inputs using valuation techniques.
Judgment and estimation are required in establishing
the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs
thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors
could result in material adjustments to the fair value of these
instruments. See note 31(h) for further disclosures.

(iv) Current tax

Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income tax. There are many transactions for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current tax and
deferred tax provisions in the financial period in which such
determination is made.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. S ES: YR &5t
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(v) BFEMBRET 2R F

(v) Write-down of inventories to net realisable

Value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made
based on the estimated net realisable value of inventories.
The assessment of the required write-down amount involves
management’s judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such difference will have an impact on the
carrying amounts of inventories and the write-down charge/
write-back amount in the period in which such estimate has
been changed.

(vi) Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 2(f), the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term. In determining the lease term
at the commencement date for leases that include renewal
options exercisable by the Group, the Group evaluates
the likelihood of exercising the renewal options taking into
account all relevant facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive for the Group to exercise the option,
including favourable terms, leasehold improvements
undertaken and the importance of that underlying asset
to the Group’s operation. The lease term is reassessed
when there is a significant event or significant change
in circumstance that is within the Group’s control. Any
increase or decrease in the lease term would affect the
amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised
in future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the
“Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards” and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA which are mandatory effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 July 2020 for the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material

and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

The application of the “Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards” and the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by business lines (products and services). In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Company’s executive directors (the chief operating decision maker)
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment,
the Group has presented the following three reportable segments.
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

1. Commodity business (trading of commodities);

2. Resource investment (trading of and investment in listed and
unlisted securities of energy and natural resources companies);
and

3. Principal investment and financial services (provision of loan
financing and investments in loan note, convertible notes and
other financial assets and receiving interest income from these
financial assets).

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Company’s
executive directors monitor the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to sales generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise
from the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to
those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss) is earnings
and loss of each segment without allocation of share of results
of associates, reversal of impairment loss/(impairment loss)
on interests in associates, loss arising from deemed disposal
of partial interest in an associate, net gain/(loss) arising from
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL not held within
the trading portfolios, other corporate income and gain, central
administrative expenses and other corporate losses, and central
finance costs.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets include all assets of operating and reportable
segments other than interests in associates, certain property,
plant and equipment, certain loan notes and financial assets
at FVTPL not held within the trading portfolios not managed
under principal investment and financial services segment,
financial assets at FVTPL not held within the trading portfolios
not managed under resource investment segment, certain other
receivables and certain bank balances and cash.

Segment liabilities include provisions and trade and other
payables and lease liabilities attributable to the activities of the
individual segments and borrowings managed directly by the
segments.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning segment
profit/(loss), the Board is provided with segment information
concerning revenue, interest income (included in other income),
depreciation, dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL,
gain/(loss) arising from changes in fair value of financial assets
mandatorily measured at FVTPL, net, (impairment loss)/reversal
of impairment loss on loan receivables, net, (loss)/gain arising
from changes in fair value of provisional pricing arrangements in
relation to trading of commaodities, net, finance costs, net foreign
exchange gain/(loss), income tax and additions to non-current
segment assets (other than financial instruments and deferred
tax assets) used by the segments in their operations.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED iRa
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bk MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THILFE
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) DEHER @)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (a) PEpEE - EERAEBE @)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the AT # R ERERE D 2 &
timing of revenue recognition, as well as information regarding Featlzoniy  BEREZ2-F
the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s N ZEEFXA=THIE
executive directors for the purposes of resource allocation FERAEEBHITESEME(A
and assessment of segment performance for the years ended VEB RSB LT h o Ep3R IR ) R

30 June 2021 and 2020 is set out below.

SEAIHRE D HBABZERY

Year ended 30 June 2021
BE-Z--FExACtHLEE
Principal
investment
Commodity Resource and financial
business  investment services Total
ITERE
mmER ERRE REeBBH a5t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
TET THT TET TET
Segment revenue: AU
Disaggregated by timing of revenue BYERERRRZS
recognition
- Point in time —RE—E 517,672 = = 517,672
— Revenue from other source: —H R 2 e - - 46,928 46,928
Interest income FIEHA
Revenue from extemal customers REINDEP 2 Wias 517,672 - 46,928 564,600
Gross sales proceeds from resource HEBRKEMETELE - 2,800,470 - 2,800,470
investment
Segment results PEEE 55,905 510,268 50,202 616,375
Share of results of associates DHEER T%F 131,973
Reversal of impairment loss on interest ~ EIRSA—FEEE R E 2 580,014
in an associate BaRESE
Loss arising from deemed disposal of {’E HER—HBENF (1,911)
partial interest in an associate B ERmES:  BE
Gain arising from changes In fair value of I?EEA B Ezﬁ/\ e 100,733
financial assets at FVTPL not held within -~ & A FERER Eﬁ
the trading portfolios, net T %
Other corporate income and gains E‘rﬁzﬁ%ﬂﬁli\&ﬂﬁlé 33,610
Central administrative expenses and MRTHEY REMm M E (92,704)
other corporate losses B
Central finance costs R B AR (120)
Consolidated profit before taxation BRE AT A 1,367,970
Segment assets ﬁ*ﬁﬁg 219,340 1,472,640 502,210 2,194,190
Interests in associates i AEYNTIP 3 2,404,381
Unallocated head office and AOMBHREERE
corporate assets
— Financial assets at FVTPL not held ~WIFREE E’\WHﬁ 208,234
within the trading portfolios ZEATERNER ,
ﬁEJ&’iﬁZ%nﬂﬁF
- Bank balances and cash —RITEREAS 126,173
— Other unallocated corporate assets —Eﬁﬂﬂi%ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁff‘% 4,805
Consolidated total assets REBERE 4,937,783
BAERERAE

3R 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED A HmARNE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE_ZE-_—FA=Z+tHILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

5. DEER @)
(a) D E¥E BEEREB®E

Year ended 30 June 2021
BE-Z--FXA=tHLEE
Principal
investment
Commodity Resource and financial
business  investment services Total
_— IRRH R
BRER EREE REMRE &t
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR THEx TR TR
Segment liabilities FHAE 37,576 16,884 1,635 56,095
Unallocated corporate liabilities ROMBEEE 58,095
Consolidated total liabilties FRBEAT 114,190
Other segment information Hit &R
Interest income (included in other income) 18U A (5 AEALUA) 1,017 5 - 1,022
Unallocated Al 95
1,117
Dividend income from financial assets at A FENMERERIEZ - 15,136 - 15,136
FVTPL TREBEZREWA
Gain arising from changes in fair value of 3% A FEMBRE - 490,248 - 490,248
financial assets mandatorly measured Bz & WEEATE
at FVTPL, net FYMELE WS FE
Unallocated AAOE 100,733
590,981
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net ~ EUNE T 7 Fi{EEEE5A - - (19,218) (19,218)
Gain arising from changes in fair value BRRnE SRR EETH 1,106 - - 1,106
of provisional pricing arrangements in ATEZMESE L
relation to trading of commodities, net a5 a8
Net foreign exchange gain MBS TR 2,757 16,218 18,827 37,802
Unallocated AAOEL 32,988
70,790
Additions to non-current assets ERBEENRE 276 - - 276
Unallocated F vl 2,766
3,042
Depreciation e (1,101) - - (1,101)
Unallocated RAE (3,323)
(4,424)
Finance costs BARA (42) = = (42)
Unallocated ROEE (120)
(162)
Income tax (expenses)/credit FisEi (F%)/HR (2,258) (8,768) 346 (10,680)
Unallocated RO -
(10,680)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

VPN

A B TSR aR BT ot (4

AR

HE

H

R -FXA=THILFE

5. 7EER @)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

(a) P EpEE - EERAEB @)

Year ended 30 June 2020
“ECRERASTALFE

Principal
investment
Commaodity Resource  and financial
business investment services Total
TERE
HmES BREE  Lemki AF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEr T FEr FET
Segment revenue: DEBE
Disaggregated by timing of revenue et s Eb)
recognition
— Point in time - RAE—EE 367,690 - - 367,690
- Revenue from other source: —H Rz U - - 68,837 68,837
Interest income FEWA
Revenug from external customers REMDER 2 Wi 367,690 - 68,837 436,527
Gross sales proceeds from resource HEBRREMGHELSE - 977,887 - 977,887
investment
Segment results PEWEE (6,912) 63,356 57,851 115,295
Share of results of associates AMEGE AR EE 146,545
Impairment loss on interests in REE AR 2 B RE (649,614)
associates, net BEFE
Loss arising from deemed disposal of BIELER—HgE AR (1,679)
partial interest in an associate HEEmES 2 ER
Loss arising from changes in fair value of ~ W3ERBEHA NEHE Y (104,141)
financial assets at FVTPL not held within -~ 32 A HERMESRRIE
the trading portfolios, net SREENTEED
MELZBEFE
Other corporate income and gains H dERA Rz 7,538
Central administrative expenses and RRITHES REM (43,161)
other corporate losses B8
Central finance costs R ETFSRKA (185)
Consolidated loss before taxation RERTAER (429,402)
Segment assets PEEE 403,136 824,292 505,796 1,733,224
Interests in associates REE N T2 R 1,625,576
Unallocated head office and corporate A A L@ RAEEE
assets
- Financial assets at FVTPL not held ~WIREERARER 76,379
within the trading portfolios ZIEATERNERR
REZERMEE
- Bank balances and cash —SRITEREAS 185,665
- Other unallocated corporate assets —ERDECEEE 5,787
Consolidated total assets RABERE 3,526,631
BARERERAT
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30 June 2021 and 2020.
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B IEFEI & BRI o

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED e BHRRMEE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 30 June 2021 HE_Z-—FXA=1THILFE
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 2EER @)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (a) PEBHEE - EEREE W@
Year ended 30 June 2020
@ 7 —= g/ \ﬂ —l— El JJ:@F_
Principal
investment
Commaodity Resource  and financial
business investment services Total
IEHRE
BmE% BRIEE  REBRE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT THT THL
Segment liabilities PHEE 72,579 9,410 1,023 83,012
Unallocated corporate liabilities APECEEE 7,811
Consolidated total liabilities HABERE 90,823
Other segment information HitpHER
Interest income (included in other income)  F| YA (GHAEMUA) 1,457 7 = 1,464
Unallocated AOE 3,672
5,136
Dividend income from financial assets at AT ERBRERIE - 15,630 - 15,630
FVTPL TREEIREWA
Gain/(loss) from changes in fair value of & &R A FERERE - 53,731 - 53,731
financial assets mandatorily measured at  FIEc SREE A FELH
FVTPL, net ﬁﬁFizuﬁz 3/ (BR)FE
Unallocated vl (104,141)
(50,410)
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net  FEUNEZ 7 BB BIE A = = (4,048) (4,048)
Gain arising from changes in fair value & ﬁﬁﬁfm‘é’%ﬁwﬂ B 21,208 - - 21,298
of provisional pricing arrangements in NHEEEmES 2 i
relation to trading of commodities, net SRR
Net foreign exchange loss HNEEIE TR (5,241) (1,271) (12,175) (18,687)
Unallocated RO (9,110)
(27,797)
Additions to non-current assets ERBEERE = - - i
Unallocated ROEE 2,794
2,794
Depreciation e (1,074) = = (1,074)
Unallocated RAE (3,259)
(4,327
Finance costs BMEMA (65) = = (69)
Unallocated RO (185)
(240)
Income tax (expenses)/credit PR (Fx)/Be (1) = 2 1
Unallocated RO =
1
There are no inter-segment revenue during the years ended HE_ZT - FR-_Z_TF A=+



For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 7EER @)

The following is an analysis of geographical location of (i) the
Group’s revenue from external customers and (i) the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and interests in associates. The
geographical location of customers is based on the location
of goods delivered; the Group’s interest income derived from
loan receivables in respect of principal investment and financial
services is analysed by the location where the loan financing is
provided; and the Group’s interest income derived from loan
notes in respect of principal investment and financial services is
analysed by the location where these investments are managed
by the Group. In the case of non-current assets (excluding
financial assets and deferred tax assets) which is presented

TY%OﬁEIXE%%EﬁZW
=RAEEDE  BEREER
REEE R E) 2 iR I B D
e REMMIEME HERERE
REFTEH c AEBREFERE
Y& r RIS EERKE R F B UL
ATV E R E T T
RAEBEREEERE RS BRE
HEERER 2 F BRA TR RS
BEEZEREMEIDN o 3B
PEE(TREERMEERELER
HEE) AR NIRBEEEMTH

based on geographical location of assets (where the property,
plant and equipment are located and where the associates are
incorporated/listed).

(%% 5% 5= I 5% H FT 7 b Ne B
NAFEMAS, EThE) 251 -

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REMBEF 2= FRBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—EC--F —ET-TF B —FT-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FAT FET FAT

Hong Kong (place of domicile) & (M Fricith) 14,600 16,023 3,788 4,339
The PRC == 537,079 385,726 45,377 40,772
Australia B 9,981 2,850 2,359,515 1,486,118

Southeast Asia region R [&E 2,940 31,928 - -

564,600 436,527 2,408,680 1,531,229
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED A HmARNE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 HE-T-—FA=1THIEFE
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 2EER @)
(c) Information about major customers (c) EEXFZEHR
Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the AAEBRZER10%TIA LT
Group’s revenue are as follows: ISEUNNE
2021 2020
—E-—F e Sl a3
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Commodity business [EERES
Customer A ZFEH 139,665 70,104
Customer B TR 108,483 =
Customer C =FR 87,788 =
Customer D Z2ET 77,221 -
Customer E BEX - 194,469
Customer F =FEE - 54,620

1 72 APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

6. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

—E-—FXA=+tHLFE

LAE

BERERIRBERE D ZFP

major products or service lines is as follows: BHWmDFWT -
2021 2020
s T T
HK$°000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Revenue from contracts with customers &7 78 B 75 3R & 4 8]
within the scope of HKFRS 15 F15RHBEANZE
X ollEe
Trading of goods P E
— Commodities (Iron ore) —Hm(EEL) 517,672 367,690
Revenue from other sources E bR A e
Interest income under effective AEBRF R EFTER
interest method FEUA
— Loan receivables —EIRE 46,748 68,385
— Loan notes —EBERERE 180 452
46,928 68,837
Total revenue WS sa 58 564,600 436,527

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the
timing of revenue recognition and by geographic markets are
disclosed in Notes 5(a) and 5(b) respectively.

All sales contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15
are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these contracts for the
remaining unsatisfied performance obligations is not disclosed.

UL A ME RS IR R I T 5 85
ZREBBEEHZWAD BIRKIRE
5(a) & 5(b)HE °

BB MG ERFE 1555 EE AT
BEEFHEARN IR A —FK
AT - tn B/ B R EENE15
SRETA T - MR T REKRBHET
PREZZEHNZ R BRI AR

Ego

BAERERAR
3R 2021



For the year ended 30 June 2021

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

7. Htths= R E#E

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —EIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Gain/(loss) arising from changes in fair B R A ERERER
value of financial assets mandatorily RIS EENTE
measured at FVTPL, net: SEmELZ KeE,
(E18)F8 -
— listed equity securities held-for-trading ~ — ¥ {EE & 2 FHRA 448,111 42,317
— listed equity securities not held —WIRHEEBMHEE 2 115,686 (87,419)
within the trading portfolios FRAES
— convertible notes — AR R (9,690) (2,283)
- unlisted equity investments — I LETRAEKRE 4,052 (14,439)
— derivative financial instruments —PTESmIA 32,822 11,414
— warrants — RAR R
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net  FEUK B 5% 2 R E 5 18 % 58 (19,218) (4,048)
Loss arising from deemed disposal of WIERE N — B QA (1,911) (1,679)
partial interest in an associate BSR4 2 B 1R
(Loss)/gain arising from changes in fair R nE SEETETH
value of provisional pricing arrangements ‘AP ESE MES 2
in relation to trading of commodities: (E518), Wz
— fair value (loss)/gain on trade — TR ATFERIEZRR (3,498) 1,749
receivables designated at FVTPL BRIE 2 B 5 AR
ZAFE(EER)S
Iz
— fair value gain on trade payables —ETERATFENERER 4,604 19,549
designated at FVTPL BRIE 2 B 5 ENERK
ZANFERE
Gain arising from modification of loan FEEWERMES 2 5,010 5,934
receivables (Note 19(b)) Wz (K17 19(0b))
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) SNEU S (B518 ) F 58 70,790 (27,797)
Others HAth 1 18
646,759 (56,684)

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

e B EHmRIE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

8. OTHER INCOME 8. Ha A
2021 2020
—E=-—F T T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Interest income on financial assets BEHEK AT EC S REE
measured at amortised cost: ZFBUA -
— bank deposits —RITER 1,117 3,478
— loan notes —-EREE = 558
1,117 4,036
Interest income from convertible notes Al AR EE 2 R B UL A - 1,100
Interest income FEHA 1,117 5,136
Dividend income from financial AT ERBRREREEY &
assets at FVTPL: RMEEZREWA :
— listed equity securities —RBIEEE 2 LR 15,136 15,630
held-for-trading BE
Others Hih 1,768 4,969
18,021 25,735
BARERERAT
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

9. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging the following:

T_—FRA=THIFE

HE—T

9. BRBIAEF,(B5R)

BREBADEM, (18 R T 511518

2021 2020
—B-—fF —TTF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
(a) Finance costs: (a) B :
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGERE 162 240
(Note 22(b)) (Hiz#22())
Total interest expense on financial WIEE N THERBEER 162 240
liabilities not at fair value through BEzEMABEZ
profit or loss T 2R 48
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EILHA&(BIFES
emoluments) (note (i): &) (AEE)
Salaries and allowance e MoER 80,380 19,781
Contributions to defined FERFRRET B 323 317
contribution retirement plans
80,703 20,098
(c) Otheritems: (c) HfthigR :
Cost of goods recognised as R AR 2 459,983 384,605
expenses (note (ii)) RS (B a2i)
Auditors’ remuneration (note (i) BN (A7)
— audit services —ZERTE 800 750
— non-audit services — IR ERTS 130 307
Depreciation charges (note (i) e ()
(Note 15) (H1a15)
— owned property, —BAUE BEX 440 419
plant and equipment B
- right-of-use assets —FRAEEE 3,984 3,908
Short-term lease expense (note (i) NEEERS (HE)) 38 89

Notes:

@

(i)

Classified under administrative expenses in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. Other major components of administrative expenses
include brokerage and custodian fees for investments of HK$10,834,000
(2020: HK$4,293,000) and legal, professional and consultancy fees of

HK$5,426,000 (2020: HK$5,930,000).

The amount for the year ended 30 June 2021 includes reversal of write
down of inventories of HK$8,980,000 (2020: write down of inventories of
HK$5,833,000). The reversal of write down of inventories during the year
ended 30 June 2021 is due to the sale of inventories at net realisable value of

higher than the carrying amounts.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

wit -

)

(i)

FHRABEERFTIEAITHRER - TR
ERAMHEMEZ LD BERENLCLT
FEEE 10,834,000 T (Z T T4 ¢
4,293,000 7C) * A KA - BEREA
& F 5,426,000 T (=T ZF F :
5,930,000/ 7T) °

HE-_Z- S XA=1THIFEZLHE
B IE B 15 S 408,980,000/ 0 (= F =
TE - FEHUS5,833,000/87T) © REE
—E-—F A= HILFEREEFEM
B DHERGFEHEENASIRFEESRE
FE{EFTEL



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

ire B maR MR (8

)

HE_Z-_—FXA=THILFE

10. FREHBI (%)

(a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

(a) RERRER 2 EH :

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Current tax BNERT I8
— Hong Kong Profits Tax for —FRNEBNET 2,357 644
the year (note (i) (H1E0)
— Under-provision of Hong Kong —-BEFEEHE 1,066 =
Profits Tax for the prior year FEHEETT
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) —FERPEPEMREH 524 -
for the year (note (i) ([fZFTEHE )
(Kiaa)
— Under-provision of EIT for —BEFEZLEMS = 1
the prior year REET T
Deferred tax ERER IR
— Origination and reversal of —EREEIEER 6,733 (646)
temporary differences (Note 25(a)) B 5 (Hi7#25(a)
Income tax expense/(credit) FTsRiFsy (Fx) 10,680 (1)

Notes:

0

(i

(i)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2021 and 2020 were
calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the year,
except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying corporation
under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime. For this subsidiary, the first
HK$2 million of assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

The Group’s subsidiaries established in China are subject to the PRC
EIT at 25% (2020: 25%).

The Group is not subject to any taxation under the jurisdiction of
Bermuda and the British Virgin Islands for the years ended 30 June
2021 and 2020.

(i)

(i)

ZE I —FRIZZZEFNEBF
B TIRF R T FERT A AR
E16.5%:T 1R « HEAEE—RM
B ARSI - EARE RSB AR G
BEEWER - WREZHMBAR -
BHE2A SR ITERTIFEIA8.25%
RO R - AR ER T FE ER B
LA16.5%Fy i KT ©

AE B B B A BRI
25%HIB RN B EHFH (=
T_TF 1 26%) °

AEERBE=ZT=_—FR=_F=
TEXNA=ZTHILEFEEBESMT
REREBREAHSAEBERNE
A HiE -

BAERERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

e MR ECGE)
BE-F-—FXA=TALEE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued) 10. FR{8BiBAY, (%) m)

(b) BIERI S (JE &) L& k%
i, (F18) 2 BEEEHE

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense/(credit)
and accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax

rate: 2R
2021 2020
—B-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F#T
Profit/(loss) before taxation BrEADE T (ER) 1,367,970 (429,402)
Notional tax on profit/(loss) before #£16.5% K BB IS 225,715 (70,851)
taxation, calculated at Hong Kong R E ZBREA]
Profits tax rate of 16.5% wmAl (ER) 2z
ZEBIE
Effect of different tax rates arising from — ELfh 51 7% Bl A HE (@ PREE 4 682 (124)
other tax jurisdictions TRBE E
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A 1B G~ Bi g o 28 12,959 107,840
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERMBA 2 IR 2 (206,690) (17,438)
Tax effect of share of results of DEHE R R FEE B (21,776) (24,180)
associates T
Statutory tax concession EETIERZ (127) (165)
Tax effect of tax losses/deductible SR Z HIERE, 2,773 4,855
temporary differences not AHIBRE R ERE 2
recognised b7
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B8 4 BT RiER 2 Fi1R (3,980) =
recognised E1E
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETE 1,066 1
Others H 58 61
Income tax expense/(credit) FAAEHRRAY(ER) 10,680 (1)

for the year

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS " EEME
RIBEBCD BEG) F383(1) R BB
A(REEENRER) RO B2
BrEEHENT

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are

as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2021

BE-E-_—FXA=1+HLEE

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other Discretionary schemes
Fee benefits bonus contributions Total
iR BKER
e REMER A SHEf @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThER ThEr TER TER FER
Executive directors: HTESE:
Mr. Andrew Ferguson (note (3)) Andrew FerqusonL £ (#1#a) - 4,656 10,963 18 15,637
Mr. Brett Robert Smith Brett Robert Smith2t £ - 1,369 - 124 1,493
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Lee Seng Hui BRELE 127 - - - 127
Ms. Lam Lin Chu (note (b)) WER L (Hizh) 127 - - - 127
Mr. Arthur George Dew Arthur George Dewt - 207 401 - 698
(note (d) (i)
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark, FABEE - 144 169 7 320
alternate director of (Arthur George Dew’t 42
Mr. Arthur George Dew (note (d) BHEES) W)
Independent non-executive directors: BUHNTES !
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert ToxiEREL 201 - - - 201
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis HEELE 201 - - - 201
Mr. Wang Honggian TEA%E 201 - - - 201
857 6,466 11,533 149 19,005
BAERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Year ended 30 June 2020

4= A

A SRR M (48)

N

S —FXA=1THIFE

HE-Z

1. EEME @

BE_ZT-_TFA=+HILtFE

Salaries, Retirement
alowances benefit
and other  Discretionary schemes
Fee bengfits bonus  contributions Total
e 2 EINAEN
e  REMER BT STl b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEL Thr ThEL FhL FhL
Executive directors: WES:
Mr. Andrew Ferguson (note (3)) Andrew FergusonZt & (#a) - 4,769 - 18 4,787
Mr. Brett Robert Smith Brett Robert Smith %4 = 1,380 - 126 1,506
Non-executive directors: FHTESE:
Mr. Lee Seng Hui FRERE 127 - - - 127
Ms. Lam Lin Chu (note (b)) WER L (W) 14 - - - 14
Mr. So Kwok Hoo (note (c) BEIREEM20) 13 = _ - 13
Mr. Arthur George Dew Arthur George Dew %t & - 301 401 - 702
(note (d) (i)
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark, TAERE - 146 156 7 309
alternate director of (Arthur George Dew’t 42
Mr. Arthur George Dew (note (d) BIE%)WH)
Independent non-executive directors: BunnEs:
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Abert TiigdL 201 - - = 201
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis BEELE 201 - - - 201
Mr. Wang Honggian TRAEE 201 - - - 201
Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks Robert Moyse Wilcocks % 4 80 = = = 80
(note (e) (i)
937 6,596 557 151 8,241
Notes: B

(@ Mr. Andrew Ferguson is also the chief executive officer of the Company and
his emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as

a chief executive officer.

Included in salaries, allowances and other benefit, there is payment of
HK$1,380,000 (2020: HK$1,279,000) being the payment made by the Group
for Mr. Andrew Ferguson’s use as the director’s quarter which the Group
is the lessee for the year ended 30 June 2021 and 2020, which represent
the repayment of capital and interest for capitalised lease payments payable

under tenancy agreement during the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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Andrew Ferguson 5t 4 INA AR A 7] Z 1T
B - TR E 2 B e BIEREETR
BERERG 2 BS -

e RUREMENBENSK
1,380,000 7c (= Z == 4 : 1,279,000
BIT) AN 5% B 5 Andrew Ferguson 5t
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 1. EEEE @)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)  Ms. Lam Lin Chu was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company
on 21 May 2020.

()  Mr. So Kwok Hoo resigned as a non-executive director of the Company on
21 May 2020.

(d) These directors of the Company received certain remuneration from the
parent company of the substantial shareholder of the Company which
provided management services to the Group and charged the Group a
management service fee for services provided by these directors as well as
other management personnel who are not the directors of the Company.
Details of these management services and the related expenses are set
out in Note 33. The amounts disclosed above represented the emoluments
paid or payable to these directors by the parent company of the substantial
shareholder of the Company which is included in the amounts disclosed in
Note 33(b).

(e) Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks retired as an independent non-executive director
of the Company on 22 November 2019.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above are mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and of the Group.

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above are mainly for their services as
directors of the Company.

The bonus was determined in accordance with the performance of
the Group and of the individual.

These was no arrangement under which directors and chief
executive of the Company have waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors of
the Company or the five highest paid individuals of the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020.

A bonus for the year ended 30 June 2021 payable to Mr. Andrew
Ferguson, the Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director
of the Company, in the amount of HK$9,962,550 is subject to the
approval by the board of directors of the Company.

Hrat - (&)

(b) MEURLZTHR-_T-_TFRA-T—HE
REREABIFFHITES -

© BHEZEER-_FT-_TFAA_+—HE
ERDBFERITES -

(d) ZEARFEZAARAEIERRZER
Bl(EmAS R E IR RS ) WHCE T3
B ZBARRZEEEARILIFEARF
B HEMERABRMRHRZREAASE
BB EEREE - EREZFERRBL
1HRIE AR FHB BN M RESS » XX EER
SREEARATERRZERRENH
ENZEERHBE (GH AN E33(0) K E
HEEA) o

(e) Robert Moyse Willcocks e £ =& — A,
FE+— A+ - BEERRTBMLIFAIT
EEo

EXFIRMITES 2ME X BERBERR
REEEEARFRAEEEHEEH L
RIS S AT o

EXFURIEMITER B FFRITES
ZHEEBERBRFEEARRES 2B
Bm A -

TEATIRBEASBEREMEAARRE
EO

REBEZT-_—FRZZFZFFH
=+ALFE  ARAMEEAFNEER
= TERA BEXREMELANES
sz

RBE_T-_—FR_FT_FTF, XA
=+AHIFE  AEBWERTRARD
AEESARERZ R ALE
IS - YERWSIEINAS S INARSE
B 2 52E) - SIERBERLAS(E -

FARBESSHER - BIAREITT
X 483, 2 #1172 = Andrew FergusonZt
EEE_E-—FA=THLFES
859,962,550/ TLHIFEAT

DAERERAE

3R 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT

For the year ended 30 June 2021

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two
(2020: two) are directors of the Company whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 11. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of

KRB B
INUED)

SRR MR ()

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

(—7—7q§

2. REME AL

AEBSEEMEzERALH  ME
ME)REAAFES B
e WERKT11 - BEASKRT=5

the remaining three (2020: three) individuals were as follows: TEBECRF  ZH/) N2 EEES
HIET

2021 2020
:%:—ﬂi —_ 7 — E'E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e R R EMEF 5,659 5,577
Discretionary bonus @’J BAEAL 54,014 4,505
Retirement benefits schemes contributions iR /RTEFIEH 22k 54 54
59,727 10,136

The emoluments of the three (2020: three) individuals with the e =B(ZTZFF : ZH)A

highest emoluments are within the following bands: iE’J@Jﬂ(ﬁ) AT EE -

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ETF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AH
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T % 2,000,000/ 7T 2 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,00178 7% 2,500,000/ 7T = 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,0017% 7T £6,500,000/%8 7T - 1
HK$55,500,001 to HK$56,000,000 55,500,001 1.2 56,000,00058 7T 1 -
3 3

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. K&

2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FA&T
2020 interim dividend declared BEER-_Z_ZFHHIRE 121,890 121,890

— HK10 cents (2020: 2019 interim — 10BN ZE=FF -

dividend declared — HK10 cents) BEER-ZE—NFFHE

%2 —10784l)

During the year ended 30 June 2021, an interim dividend of HK10 HE_Z-_—FXXA=THILHE"

cents (2020: HK10 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate
amount of HK$121,890,000 (2020: HK$121,890,000), was
declared in respect of the year ended 30 June 2020 (2020: year
ended 30 June 2019) and an amount of HK$121,890,000 (2020:
HK$121,890,000) is paid or payable in cash.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the directors of the
Company recommended a final dividend of HK10 cents per share
and a special dividend of HK10 cents per share for the year ended
30 June 2021 (2020 interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend):
HK10 cents per share) subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share is based
on the profit attributable to the owners of the Company of
HK$1,357,290,000 (2020: loss of HK$429,401,000) and
the weighted average number of 1,218,893,914 (2020:
1,218,893,914) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020. The diluted earnings/
(loss) per share is the same as the basic earnings/(loss) per
share for the year ended 30 June 2021 and 2020.

ARABERBEE T -_TF A=+
AEFE(ZZE-_FF  BE-_F—NI
FRAZTHIEFE)SRPHRE
BREBRIOBWUW(ZZEZFF : 10
L) - 48%8 A121,890,00058 7T ( —
T T4 121,890,000/ 7T) » M
¥121,890,0008 T (ZEZF F :
121,890,000/ 7T ) AR & S sk fEST -

RREIRE - ARRIEBERIREE
BT —FXRA=THIEFEZREH
B% B EFRA10E U R 5B B B B 1075
W ZE=ZFFREHRE(RERAR
B BR10B1W) - EEAFAR TR
FREEARRRERFT ARG EHER
FA{EE

14. BREFN,(FE)

BRELRERN (BRER) HBRE
FRAARXRAIEAR AEMNGZF
1,357,290,000/8 7T( ZF —F4F :
E518429,401,0008 7T ) R B 1T
BA% 2 INHE - ¥5 £1,218,893,914
(=T =T : 1,218,893,914A%)
FTE o

REEZZ—FER-T_FTF
A=+THIFERECZTEEE
ELak BE—_ET-—FK-F
“ZEEXNAZTHIEFE  BR#E
SEAF(BE)BERERAT,
(E18)48R -

TAEFERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED A HmARNE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE_ZE-_—FA=Z+tHILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - BERRE

Leasehold
improvements,
Right-of-use furniture Office Motor
assets and fixtures equipment Computers vehicles Total
HENERE
FREEE FAR%E NAET gl RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Thr Thr Thn Thr ThL Fir
Cost A
At 1 July 2019 RZE-NE+F-H 4,863 3,339 126 2,343 1,789 12,460
Additions RE 2,608 - - 186 - 2,794
Lease modfication BT 97 - - - - %7
Exchange adjustments P e (12) - - _ _ (12
M30June2020and 1uy 200  R-E-EERA=TRR 8416 3339 126 2529 1,789 16,199
e
Additions RE 3,022 - - 20 - 3,042
Lease modification &5 (78) - - - - 78)
Wite off iss (3,584) - - - - (3,584)
Fxchange adjustments EfRE 200 - 1 - 3% 235
At 30 Jung 2021 AZEZ-E5A=1H 7976 3339 1271 2,549 1823 15,814
Accumulated depreciation ZHHE
At 1July 2019 RZE-hEtA-H - 2,045 107 1415 1762 6,229
Charge for the year ERE 3,908 182 4 233 - 43271
Exchange adjustments i EE (10) - - . _ (10)
A30June2020and 1uy 200  R-E-EERA=TAK 3898 3127 111 1648 1,762 10,546
ZECTELA-R
Charge for the year Efz 3984 182 5 253 - 442
Write off i (3,584) - - - - (3,584)
Exchange adjustments 355 97 - 1 - 3 129
At 30 June 2021 AZEZ -5 A=1H 4,3% 3,300 17 1,901 1793 11,515
Carrying amounts FEE
At 30 June 2021 Y 3,581 30 10 648 30 4,299
At 30 June 2020 RZZ-FF7A=1H 4518 212 15 881 21 5,663

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of

E=PAN
%T\Cl

Bk MR ()

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

15. Y% - BERFRE @

EREEE

RIRMEEER SN EREEERE

underlying asset is as follows: FELTT -

2021 2020

—E-—F e S a3

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FiBT

Properties leased for own use, BITER AR B A 3,437 4,331
carried at depreciated cost (note (i) HEWE )

Equipment leased for own use, I ER AT BEH 8 A 144 187
carried at depreciated cost (note (i) TERME A Z0)

3,581 4,518

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in

REGERNEEEEROHER D

profit or loss is as follows: iR
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use RIERBEEHBREI D
assets by class of underlying asset: FRESENEER
— Properties leased for own use —BEREEwE 3,934 3,827
— Equipment — R 50 81
3,984 3,908
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 9(a)) HEBEFE(Hi7H9E) 162 240
Expense relating to short-term leases %2 HATH S4B R 2 i 38 89
EAERERAT
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Notes:

@M

(i)

Properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use properties as its offices and staff
quarters through tenancy agreements. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 2 years.

Some leases include an option to renew the lease for an additional period
after the end of the contract term. Where practicable, the Group seeks
to include such extension options exercisable by the Group to provide
operational flexibility. The Group assesses at lease commencement date
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. If the Group
is not reasonably certain to exercise the extension options, the future lease
payments during the extension periods are not included in the measurement
of lease liabilities.

Other leases

The Group leases office equipment under leases expiring in 5 years. Some
leases include an option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated,
while some include an option to purchase the leased equipment at the end of
the lease term at a price deemed to be a bargain purchase option. None of
the leases includes variable lease payments.

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were HK$3,022,000
(2020: HK$2,608,000), which is related to the capitalised lease
payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in Note 24.

As at 30 June 2021 and 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term
lease expense disclosed above.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

e B EHmRIE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

16. REEE QR 2 s

2021 2020

S —zoTs

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FiBT

Interests in associates before B AT 2w ORIERT) 2,404,381 2,105,590

impairment (note (i) (H1aza)

Impairment losses recognised (note (i) B HEARABEIE(H757()) - (680,014)

2,404,381 1,525,576

Fair value of listed investments EHREZATE 2,601,366 1,500,361
Notes:

)

(i)

The balance includes cost of interests in associates, after adjustment for
sharing of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of
associates, dividend received and exchange differences.

The movement of the impairment losses recognised is as below:

paz -

() SHEERBEATZERRA  BEE
RO 2 AR R B 2 T
- BRI B R 2

iy BHERRESEZHNT :

2021 2020

B T TF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FAT

At beginning of the year RFEH] (580,014) (30,400)
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE - (680,014)
Reversal of impairment loss B R EE 1R 580,014 30,400
At end of the year REXR - (580,014)

At the end of the reporting period, the management of the Group carried
out review on impairment loss on the carrying amounts of its interests in
Mount Gibson Iron Limited (“MGX”) and Tanami Gold NL (“Tanami”) by
comparing their recoverable amounts (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its respective carrying amounts. The reversal of
impairment loss/(impairment loss) on interests in associates recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2021, net,
are as follows:

RBEHR  AEEEREEEER
Mount Gibson Iron Limited ([ MGX | ) K
Tanami Gold NL([ Tanami]) 2 ## 2 BR
EEREESE  FEAAEEATKESEE
(EREEEQATFERHERAME TR
BE)BEEANKRABLE REEZ
T —FXNA-THIEEEZEABRER
R 2 R E S A R 2 ek 2 B BOm B &
B/ CREEER)FENT :

2021 2020
—B-— T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
MGX 580,014 (580,014)
Tanami - 30,400
580,014 (649,614)
EAERERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED A B HRARMEE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 16. REEE D7) 2 E = ()
Details of the Group’s interests in associates, which are accounted AREBRBE N R 2R (LESER
for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, GABIEHRERAR)GBHT ¢

are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

ERERSLA
Place of Issued and paid Group's
Listed/ establishment/  up registered effective ~ Held by the Held by
Name of company unlisted  operation capital interest Company  subsidiaries  Principal activities
1/ R/ BRAR 13-4 b} %] il 15
G Lo GEny HRimbA Enin 58 BE  IZER
THLBESERAA Urled ~ ThePRC/MePRC  Paick-up capitalof 40% 40% - Wholesales, import and export, agency senvice
RMB50,000,000 (2020: 40%) (2020: 40%) 2020: Ni) and relevant senvice for coal, coke, material
out of registered capital for metallurgy, mineral products, chemical
of RMB50,000,000 engineering proalucts, mechanical and
electrical equipment and spare parts, steel
and steel products, construction material and
related products and technology.
Fth o 4848 iRREARE 40% 40% - BEEAN SEEBRARE ER nd
50,000,0007C% (CE2%%: (BB (CBCEE: f BOER (EIRED BAREHEE
BRBEARK 40%) 40%) B HEEK BREER BEVHRERER
50,000,0007C T et «
Mount Gibson lron Limited ~~ Listed Australia/Australia — 1,185,917,178 36.41% = 3641%  Mining of hematte iron ore in Westem Australia.
['MGX’) (ot 477 (3) ordinary shares (2020: 35.14%) (2020 Ni)  (2000: 35.14%)
(2020: 1,157,682,542
ordinary shares)
Bl M/ 1,185,917, 178K 36.41% - Ba%  HNERNRRRERE
EAR(CECRE:  (CBCEE: (CRCBEr (DR
1,157,682, 5420 36.14%) &) 3.14%)
L)
Tanami Gold NL (‘Tanami’)  Listed Australia/Australia — 1,175,007,046 46.30% - 46.30%  Gold exploration in Tanami Desert stradding
(note fz# (b) ordinary sheres (2020: 46.30%) (2000:Ni) - (2020: 46.30%)  the Western Australian and Norther Territory
(2020: 1,175,097,046 border,
ordinary shares)
il 2N/ %N 1,175,007 046% 46.30% - 4630%  HTanami Desort REERAR Y Bti8R )&
ERR(-E-TE:  (CRCRE (CRCEE: (CRCEE fRGERC
1,175,007 0461 46.30%) &) 46.30%)
EER)
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

(@

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group’s shareholdings in MGX
increased from 35.14% as at 30 June 2020 to 36.41% as at 30 June 2021.
Such increase is mainly due to the combined effects of MGX’s issuance of
2,545,900 restricted shares to senior management, acquisition of 7,818,007
shares in MGX and the Group’s reinvestment of its dividends entitled from
MGX in exchange of MGX’s 17,141,362 new ordinary shares. The Group
recognised a loss of HK$1,911,000 from the deemed disposal of its partial
interest in MGX upon MGX’s issuance of the restricted shares and the Group
recognised a goodwill of HK$8,864,000, which is included in the Group’s
interest in MGX, from the acquisition of additional shares in MGX and
reinvestment of its entitled dividends into MGX.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group’s shareholdings in MGX
increased from 33.23% as at 30 June 2019 to 35.14% as at 30 June 2020.
Such increase was mainly due to the combined effects of MGX’s issuance of
1,705,800 restricted shares to senior management, acquisition of 9,716,569
shares in MGX and the Group’s reinvestment of its dividends entitled from
MGX in exchange of MGX’s 22,217,842 new ordinary shares. The Group
recognised a loss of HK$1,679,000 from the deemed disposal of its partial
interest in MGX upon MGX'’s issuance of the restricted shares and the Group
recognised a goodwill of HK$22,641,000, which is included in the Group’s
interest in MGX, from the acquisition of additional shares in MGX and
reinvestment of its entitled dividends into MGX.

During the year ended 30 June 2021, there is no movement of the Group’s
shareholdings in Tanami.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group’s shareholdings in Tanami
increased from 43.55% to 46.30% due to acquisition of 32,238,736 shares
in Tanami. The cash consideration for the acquisition was A$1,454,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,684,000). The Group recognised a
goodwill of HK$745,000, which was included in the Group’s interest in
Tanami, from its acquisition of additional interest in Tanami.

RE=T

——FXA=THILFE

16. REEE 1 B 2 #E 28 ()

wiiz -

(@)

REBEE-Z-—FXA=THLFE &
EERAMCXZ BER—Z=FF A=+
A2Z3514%EME_S-_—F A=+
H.236.41% ° BRI INTIEE HIMGX
A= 4R B 1R 35 172,545,900 % 5 IR Il %
7~ WEEMGXH)7,818,007 & A& 1) K AN &
E A B MGXU B A IR B B A IR E
MGXZ7T8)17,141,362 R FT L BRI A
L - REERMGXEITZREHIRMNE
ERIEEHEENMOXZ S EREE
Z 581,911,000/ 7T R AN B R IG S
MGX & 15 2 1§ H B = i% B 5 1% & FAMGX
B 2 78,864,000/ 7T (fF AR B A
MGXZ #z5) ©

REBE-Z-_ZEA=FTALEE &
EERMCXZ R =T —NF A=
AZ33283%EME—S_TF A=+
H.235.14% ° B IMNTE ZHMKMGX
ﬁmﬁ&”é@ 771,705,800 % 52 R %1 %

- W BEMGX#99,716,569 A% A% 17 K2 Ak 5=
Eﬁé@Mexuﬁzﬁx%%%ﬁ&étﬁﬁﬁx
MGx%éfﬁa’J22217842H§%ﬁjﬁ‘ g0k

B2 o REEPMGXEITZRFIRNE
ﬁEu/Jﬁf’Fﬁ%ﬁEAMGXZ*m BmELE
2 B5181,679,00058 7T K AR S B W SR 1 BE
MGX& 17 & 8 £ Bt Z AR B B 1% & R MGX
B 7 B #02 641,000 T (5 AZKRSEE
AMGX 2 155 °

REBEE_Z-_—FXA=THLEFE &~
%lﬁéTanamZHx%jIﬁé%@J

Wﬁi 7—7¢AH +E¢¢F'
£ 7 U B Tanami #9 32,238,736 AX A 17
7R B A Tanamiz AX # 1 43.55% 18 i &
46.30% ° Z W iEH)IR & KB A1,454,000
SRIT (FHE R 47,684,000/ 7T) - ANEE
ERH KB TanamiZBIMER EA 2 G2
745,000/ 7T (5T A &N & B Tanami 2 #&
=) ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, in view of increase (2020:
decrease) in share price of MGX, the management of the Group
carried out review on reversal of impairment loss (2020: impairment
loss) on the carrying amount of its interest in MGX by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount. In determining the value in use of
MGX, the Group estimated the present value of the future cash flows
expected to arise from dividends of MGX which is estimated based
on the cash flows from the operations of MGX and the proceeds on
the ultimate disposal of MGX. The estimation takes into account the
estimated future prices and production volume of hematite iron ores
of MGX, a discount rate of 9.4% (2020: 9.4%) and historical dividend
payout ratio of MGX. The fair value less costs of disposal of MGX
was determined based on the closing price of the shares of MGX
listed on the ASX at the end of each reporting period. As at 30 June
2021, the recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in MGX, which
represents the fair value less costs of disposal of HK$2,377,465,000
(2020: HK$1,320,852,000), is higher (2020: lower) than its
carrying amount. Accordingly, a reversal of impairment loss of
HK$580,014,000 (2020: an impairment loss of HK$580,014,000) is
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2021.

At the end of the reporting period, the management of the Group
carried out impairment review on the carrying amount of its interest
in Tanami by comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying
amount. In view of the material uncertainty associated with the
exploration for and evaluation of the mineral resources possessed
by Tanami, no sufficient information is available for the management
of the Group to estimate future cash flows used in the value in
use calculation. Therefore, the recoverable amount of the Group’s
interest in Tanami is based on its fair value less costs of disposal,
which has been determined based on the closing price of the shares
of Tanami listed on the ASX at the end of the reporting period. As
at 30 June 2021, the recoverable amount of the Group’s interest
in Tanami, which represents the fair value less costs of disposal of
HK$218,698,000 (2020: HK$179,150,000), is higher (2020: higher)
than its carrying amount. Accordingly, no impairment loss (2020: a
reversal of impairment loss of HK$30,400,000) is recognised in profit
or loss during the year ended 30 June 2021.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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RIREER - ERMCXEIE EF (=
TTF TH) AKEEEEBE
PMGXZ #Ezs 2 Al Bl & 58 (F R{EE
HAFERLEXNAF 2 REE)HEE
REEELER  HZEscREEE
TEEBBEBERN (ZEZZF 7
BEEE) - EEFEMGXZ F REER -
RNEBEFMEXIR BB S E £ 2 &
RIBEMEZIRE © IR IEMGXE
ERERESRENRREHEMCGXZ
Fr8 sk m s o B B{EET 5 RMGX
REBEOMNGARRERRESZ - I
WROA%( B -FTF 1 04%) AKX
MGXZ BT R B E - MGXZ A FER
B AR Th IR IR & RS B AR MGX R R
R ETRHDZWTEET - R_F
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Wz 2 AT el 28 (B0 A FE R B K
7)2,377,465,0008 T( ZE T F :
1,320,852,0008 70) ®(ZEZFF :
BE)REEEE Bt REE=F
Z—FRNA=-TALFEZBERER
o] #5548 580,014,000 7T ( = =
—TF  {EE1E580,014,000/87T) ©
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F -R-Z-_—FXA=1H " £&H
M TanamiZ #z 2 AJ Y B & 78 (BIAF
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 16. REEE D7) 2 BE 2= ()
FEBERNRCHMBEERMRE(EHNE
FTECGR 2 A ERELFE - WHLERE
IS ImERAZ RAESR)FENT

Summarised financial information of the material associates, adjusted
for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are

disclosed below:

MGX MGX
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Gross amounts of MGX MGX 2 48 %8
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,839,529 1,692,683
Current assets MENVE E 2,404,187 2,590,380
Current liabilities mEAE (718,032) (431,629)
Non-current liabilities JEmBAE (324,138) (281,803
Equity Rz 4,201,546 3,569,631
Revenue Wzs 1,952,861 2,373,949
Profit from continuing operations FHBICE BT 5T 371,990 443,254
Post-tax loss from discontinued BRI EETE 2 BRBE - (1,328)
operations g
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  Hih e miiz(ZH) 346,042 (84,320)
Total comprehensive income PHEWEERE 718,032 357,606
Dividend paid by MGX MGXZ 14 2 f& & 198,442 240,115
The Group’s share of profit of MGX NEEDIEMGXZ % F 133,913 147,195
(note (i) (H1E0)
The Group’s share of other AEBDEMGX 2 HAth 129,364 (26,835)
comprehensive income/(expense) 2EE ()
of MGX
The Group’s share of total AEESEZFERNEE 263,277 120,360
comprehensive income for the year W a%E
Dividend declared by MGX attributable 2~ [E E{EMGXFTE R 2 69,757 79,715
to the Group (note (i) 1% B (K1)
Reconciled to the Group's interest EAA & BIAMGX 2 #E 3
in MGX: HER
Net assets of MGX MGX 2 & EFE 4,201,546 3,569,631
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEB AR Z ST 36.41% 35.14%
interest
The Group's share of net assets of MGX AEEDEMGXZ BEFE 1,529,880 1,254,525
Goodwill IR 655,205 646,341
Impairment loss recognised ERERRERE = (580,014)
Carrying amount of the Group’s KEBRMGXZ HEZFH 2 2,185,085 1,320,852
interest in MGX BREE
Notes: Hiat -

HE-_Z-—FXA=1HILFE K&
B 5 (E MGX 5 | T 4 A B MGX L iif 85 &
B4 2 AREIEEF16,163,0008 (= F =
T4 1 5,591,00087T) °

AEBE % E69,757,0008 (T ==
F 1 79,715,000/ 7T ) B B AMGXIA IR
HVH E3AR -

(i)  The Group’s share of profit of MGX for the year ended 30 June 2021 is after i)
adjustment of the unrealised profit of HK$6,163,000 (2020: HK$5,591,000)
arising from the upstream sales of MGX.

(i)  The Group reinvested dividend of HK$69,757,000 (2020: HK$79,715,000) (ii)
into MGX in return for its ordinary shares.

BAERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

e P BHmRE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

16. REEE N T 2 = ()

Tanami Tanami
2021 2020
—B-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Gross amounts of Tanami TanamiZ B8
Non-current assets ERBEE 176,699 172,163
Current assets TRENEE 206,185 189,667
Current liabilities mENEE (917) (431)
Non-current liabilities JEMBBE (9,878) (9,1086)
Equity s 372,089 352,293
Revenue Uk - =
Loss from continuing operations SEISE ETG TSR 1E (7,645) (3,957)
Other comprehensive income HE 2w 27,441 1,145
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 2 E /() 4258 19,796 (2,812)
Dividend paid by Tanami Tanamixz 2 B2 & = -
The Group’s share of loss of Tanami AEE DG Tanamiz E518 (3,539) (1,818)
The Group’s share of other KEE DG Tanamiz E 12,703 2,893
comprehensive (expense)/income 2E(AX), W=
of Tanami
The Group’s share of total comprehensive ZNEE D5 2 ERNDE 9,164 1,075
(expense)/income for the year (A%, Wzs#Ezs
Dividend declared by Tanami attributable 7<% & f&{h Tanami - =
to the Group FrEikz 8
Reconciled to the Group's interest in B ARE B A TanamiZ
Tanami: TR HTER
Net assets of Tanami Tanamiz EEFE 372,089 352,293
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEBE AR Z ST 46.30% 46.30%
interest
The Group’s share of net assets of AREED(ETanamiZ 172,261 163,097
Tanami BEFAE
Goodwill (SRS 2,169 2,169
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest ~ A"N&EE A TanamiZ ##82 174,430 165,266

in Tanami

FREE
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 16. REfE A B 2w (@)
An associate that is not
individually material

BREFBERZ —BBE QT

2021 2020
—E-—F ZTTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
The Group’s share of this associate: KEEDHZIEE QT
Profit from continuing operations FHEICE TSR 1,599 1,168
Other comprehensive income Hith 2 ES 3,809 (1,399)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) ~ FARZEWE 5,408 (231)
for the year (Xih) 4
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in HREBRZHERFZ
this associate: fEm ik
Net assets of this associate B NP2 BEFE 112,165 98,645
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBEGEBE 2w 40% 40%
interest
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest ~ ANEBIREZBE R R Z 44,866 39,458

in this associate 7 BREE

As disclosed in the annual report of MGX for the year ended 30 June BIMCGXEEZE T = —FHA="1H
2021, there is contingent liabilities, details of which are extracted IEFEZ FmAEE  FEAAE -
below: IR

[1. XEBREE E%ﬂ/@ﬁ%ﬁsﬁz]ﬁ
B H7,495,0008 T (= FE-FF :
6,587,00087T) o JBAIREIERA
EEHT EEREFEEREZEE
HIE A -

“1. The Group has a Performance Bonding facility drawn to a total
of A$7,495,000 as at balance sheet date (2020: A$6,587,000).
The performance bonds secure the Group’s obligations relating
primarily to environmental matters and infrastructure assets.

TRV E RN —REBBET
LI BCEITH IR HES - fER
BRI RACEELRNETHE #75'
DHERFBINE, - EFILT
1% F HFAG & AR EA i?f?“
HIRI AR TEKEAR T - |

2. Certain claims arising with customers, employees, consultants, 2.
and contractors have been made by or against certain controlled
entities in the ordinary course of business, some of which
involve litigation or arbitration. The Directors do not consider
the outcome of any of these claims will have a material adverse
impact on the financial position of the consolidated entity.”

SAEREMRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED A HmARNE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE_ZE-_—FA=Z+tHILFE
17. INVENTORIES 17. #&
2021 2020
—B-—F —ETHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Iron ores HEa 33,604 108,356

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 18. B AFEREBREERE ([ &

PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVTPL”) ATEREZREE)z2E
RIE =
2021 2020
—EB-—%F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
(@) Listed securities held-for-trading: @ BIEEFZ FhES:
— Equity securities listed in —RBEBLETZ 371,789 213,948
Hong Kong RE AN
— Equiity securities listed in Europe —FREUM ETi 2 108,654 18,607
— Equity securities listed in Australia —RBMETZ 469,495 300,298
— Equity securities listed in Canada N = 138,895 86,667
— Equity securities listed in the —REE LW 45,465 9,538
United States of America AR A E H
1,134,298 629,058
(b) Unlisted equity investments (note (i) (o) 3F_FHRRANIR & (A152(3)) 52,406 8,291
(c) Listed securities not held withinthe  (c) WIERHEBEAHS 2
trading portfolios: LEWES
— Equity securities listed in Australia —RBMETZ 174,333 58,398
— Equity securities listed in the —RIERE LT 30,873 =
Philippines (note (i) ENCE
(Bt &t (i)
205,206 58,398
(d) Derivative financial instruments: o) fTAESRTHE: 44,236 11,414
— Warrants — R HER
(e) Convertible notes (note (i) () RN (H15£(i) - 9,690
1,436,146 716,851
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

e B EHmRIE(E)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVTPL”)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

(Continued)

B E = m)

18 BRAFERBERRERE ([
AFEREZREE ) zS

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
The carrying amount of the financial WMAFERERRRIEZ &
assets at FVTPL is presented as: REEZRAEZSA
— Non-current assets —ERBEE 208,234 76,379
- Current assets —mEEE 1,227,912 640,472
1,436,146 716,851

Notes:

U

(i)

(i)

These unlisted equity investments primarily represent investments in unlisted
equity securities issued by certain private entities incorporated in Canada,
Australia and Bailiwick of Guernsey (the “Private Entity”), respectively. These
unlisted equity investments are measured at fair values and the details of the
fair value measurement are set out in Note 31(h).

The fair value measurement was carried out by GW Financial Advisory
Services Limited (“GW Financial”) (2020: GW Financial), an independent
qualified professional valuer not connected to the Group.

Of these unlisted equity investments, HK$49,378,000 (2020: nil) are held-for-
trading as they are expected to be listed on the recognised stock exchange
within one year from the end of the reporting period.

In previous year, the Group subscribed convertible notes with a nominal value
of US$1,200,895 from the Private Entity, which carry 12% coupon interest
per annum and will mature on 30 November 2022. The interests, at the
Private Entity’s option, are payable in cash quarterly or on the maturity date of
the convertible notes or settled by the allotment and issue of the conversion
shares. The convertible notes are guaranteed by the Private Entity and certain
of its related companies. The Group is entitled to convert the convertible
notes into preference shares of the Private Entity at a conversion price of
US$0.145 per preference share at any time from the subscription date to the
maturity date.

During the year ended 30 June 2021, in view of the severe financial difficulties
of the Private Entity, the management of the Group considered the fair value
of such convertible notes are of nil value.

The fair values of these convertible notes as at 30 June 2020 were estimated
by GW Financial using valuation techniques and key inputs as disclosed in
Note 31(h).

The investment subsequently became an associate of the Group after the
end of the reporting period, details of which are set out in Note 34(i).

Mt

() ZEFLTRAREIBERERETD
BIRINER RN FRFESITEE (TFAA
W) ML ZLABRMETTZIE
EWRAES o ZFFLTRARERR
FEAE - MAFEEZFERNME
31(h) °

NHEFETY R EARREY REEN L
BRAREXLEMRBUNBEARBER
RE([BERH ] (ZZ_ZF : BEY
T)HETT -

ZEIELETRRAEH + 49,378,000/ 7T
(ZZ=ZF  D)AEBEEE - HAEH
ZEREBNREPLERE—FRERD
BHEZ S LT

(i) RBEFE  AEEALATERBEEE
£1,200,895% T2 AJ R RE - EEF
MEAH12% A —_T-_—F+—HB=+
HEIE - ALABEARER SIEFHNA
BRZRI ARSI - BB
REITEBRMGD A o TREREEELA
ERLREETHREARER - AEEHE
AR E 2R H A 2 AR LR ES
RREERR0.1455 TS AT AR Z iR eI A
FLAZEEZEEAR -

REE-Z-—F A=tHILFE =
RILABE R REENMRREE - ~NEH
ERERLAZEATRBRERNAFER

RZZE_TFA=1+H 25U HKE
BN B T R R I ISR A (i (B B K
REBL s A BUE (RNPHREST (N FT ISR ) fdiaT ©

(i) SR R RE AR AR E
BEAT - FEHRHIES4) -

EAERERAAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES

SRE SRR MR (4)

19. BUE K

T —FRA=ZTHLEFE

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —EIEHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Fixed rate loan receivables: JEWTE BEK
— unsecured — I 363,021 349,343
- secured —HEH 64,425 124,139
427,446 473,482
Variable rate loan receivable, unsecured  JEUT B B2 « LT 90,228 -~
517,674 473,482
Less: loss allowance (Note 31(a)) B EEEHE (KE31(a) (23,824) (4,6006)
493,850 468,876
The carrying amount of the loan EWER 2 BRHEE
receivables is presented as: 2% :
— Non-current assets —IEREEE 133,170 317,813
— Current assets —REEE 360,680 151,063
493,850 468,876

(@ Loan receivables, net of loss allowance as at 30 June 2021 and

2020 comprises:

@ NZEZ—FR_ZF-_ZFFA
=T EMEWER (kR EIEEE)

BIE -
Carrying amount
Effective REE
Principal amount Maturity date Security  Guarantee interest rate 2021 2020
piXeE H#A ERm R BRTI= —B=-F —Z%fF
(per annum) HK$'000 HK$'000
(§F) TARL THT
RMB180,000,000 12 July 2021 No Yes 5.5% 216,784 197,764
(2020: RMB180,000,000) (2020: 12 July 2021) (2020: 5.5%)
(note (j)
AR #180,000,00070 I S35 +—E| it B 5.5%
(ZZ-Z%: ARE (Z2=% (Z2-%F:
180,000,007 ) (As2() === ﬁtﬂ +ZR) 5.5%)
HK$9,694,000 27 July 2023 No No 12% 2,997 8,602
(2020: HK$10,000,000) (2020: 27 July 2023) (2020: 12%)
(note (i)
9,694,000 7 :2:‘%)%‘%5 i E 12%
(%% (Z2== (Z2-%F:
10,000,000/ ) (Azt)) :Z:_ﬁtﬂ —+tA) 12%)

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AV HRARNTEE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE_ T —F A=1tHItFE
19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. EIRE R @)
(@ (Continued) @ (&)
Carrying amount
Effective REE
Principal amount Maturity date Security  Guarantee interest rate 2021 2020
b2 H#A il BR BRR= —Bz-fF It S X5
(per annum) HK$'000 HK$'000
(B%) FHx ThT
HK$33,333,000 14 July 2021 Yes Yes 24% 31,755 38,644
(2020: HK$40,000,000) (2020: 14 September 2020) (2020: 24%)
(note (i)
33,333,000/ 7T “Z--FtATEA B B 24%
(ZZE-%%: (ZZ2-%%: (ZZ-%%:
40,000,007 7T )(Héi) “Z-REAATHEA) 24%)
RMB109,000,000 30 December 2022 No Yes 5.8% 133,079 123,046
(2020: RMB109,000,000) (2020: 31 December 2021) (2020: 5.8%)
(note (iv))
AK%109,000,0007 “EF+-A=tR B B 5.8%
(ZZ-Z%: ARE (-5 25--% (ZZ-%%:
109,000,0007T)(His ) TZA=+-R) 5.8%)
A$15,500,000 31 July 2021 No Yes 7.3% 86,971 -
(2020: nil) (note (v)) (2020: N/A) (2020: N/A)
15,500,00027 “EI-EHAST-A & B 7.3%
(ZE-25:)WHy)  (ZB-%%:TER) (ZZ2-%%:
TER)
HK$28,771,000 30 March 2021 Yes Yes 42% 22,264 -
(2020: nil) (note (v}) (2020: N/A) (2020: N/A)
28,771,000 “E--%=A=1H B B 42%
(Z222F B)(Watw) (22225 1ER) (Z2-%F:
TER)
Nil N/A No No N/A - 17,125
(2020: HK$17,170,000) (2020: 26 July 2021) (2020: 7%)
(note (vi)
z TNEA i i TER
(ZZ2ZFF 17,170,000 (ZZ=%F: (Z22%F:
BT (M) B2 -ErA=15A) 7%)
Nil N/A Yes No N/A - 83,695
(2020: HK$81,469,000) (2020: 5 September 2020) (2020: 17.5%)
(note (vii)
z TEA B i TNER
(ZZZFF : 81,469,000 (2222 (ZZ2-%%:
AIL)(Wati) “Z-TENARA) 17.5%)
493,850 468,876

TARFERAT
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

@

(Continued)

Notes:

0

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 23 May
2019, 14 June 2019 and 9 July 2019, and the circular of the Company
dated 20 June 2019, on 23 May 2019, the Group as the lender entered
into the loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with the borrower and
a listed company as the guarantor, pursuant to which, the Group agreed
to, among other things, make available to the borrower a revolving loan
(the “Loan Facility”) in the amount not exceeding HK$235,000,000 (or
an amount equivalent to HK$235,000,000 in such alternative currency as
acceptable to and agreed by the Group) at an interest rate of 5.5% per
annum, secured by a guarantee and indemnity provided by the listed
company and repayable on 24 months from the date of first drawdown.
The borrower is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the listed company.

On 9 July 2021, an ordinary resolution was passed at a special general
meeting of the Company for the approval of a supplemental loan
agreement dated on 10 May 2021. Pursuant to the supplemental loan
agreement, the maturity date of this loan was extended from 12 July
2021 to 12 July 2024 and the revolving loan limit is increased from
HK$235,000,000 to HK$260,000,000.

The principal amount of RMB180,000,000 is equivalent to
approximately HK$216,225,000 out of the revolving loan limit of
HK$235,000,000 (2020: HK$197,361,000 out of the revolving loan limit
of HK$235,000,000).

The contractual interest charged at 5.5% per annum is payable monthly
by Best Advantage.
On 14 July 2020, the maturity date of this loan was extended from

16 March 2020 to 27 July 2023.

The contractual interest charged at 12% per annum is payable quarterly
by the borrower.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 20z

HE=T

——FRA=ZTHRILFE

19. ERER @0

(i)

BIMARRIBPAE-_ZT—NLFRA
_‘f“ H—%— hE/\HJr@E
—NELANBZRAENUR
m;waﬁﬂ;%,%fni/\ﬁ +
HZBEAHEE R-T—NFhH
AZ+=8 A£E{EAERA)
BERAR—EETAREAER
NI ER % ([ERGE]) -
Bt AEBRE(HFPE) RE
AR & B8 T 8 8 235,000,000
BLT(AEBRERRRE A
235,000,000 TE B A EB S
%ﬁ)ZﬂEiﬁEm(rﬁ R@E ) - FF
R E55% ALl EMARREZ
BREBEERPILERERIER
Elﬁﬁwrzztlﬂfaiﬁ 1ﬂ /\i%t
ARIZZERBER

RZZEZ—F+tANB RARA
BRI ARG @B —BL @R
EER OHERBMA-T-—FH

Afk 2R
ATENBAESRHE - RER
FER M ZE 'EZETAEﬁilJﬁHEHﬂ_

F--—FELA+tZHERZE
ZWMELA+TZR XK ?JEI&,\
K L IR | 235,000,000 7T 1% hn =
260,000,000/ 7T

A4 %8 5 AR %180,000,0007T * #8
ERERE R 235,000,000 7T
AR 49216,225,0008 T ( —E =&
& JEIRE X R 235,000,000/ 7T
R E9197,361,000/87T) °

BHF BIRFEFEL55%:TH - BH
Best Advantage® A X f+f ©

RIZZE-_ZFELA+IEAE - EX
ZEBMHB T -_TF=A+XH
ERE-T-_=FtA-t+tH-

BRI B IRF R E12%5TF
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

The loan is guaranteed by shareholder and director of the borrower,
and also guaranteed by certain individuals related to the borrower. The
loan is secured by a share mortgage over the entire issued capital of the
borrower.

On 8 September 2020, the Group has entered into the supplemental
loan agreement with the borrower. Pursuant to the supplemental loan
agreement, the maturity date of the loan has been extended from
14 August 2020 to 14 September 2020. On 23 September 2020,
the borrower proposed to further extend the loan repayment date to
March 2021 and the directors of the Company intend to extend the
loan repayment date to March 2021. On 9 February 2021, the Group
has entered into the second supplemental loan agreement with the
borrower. Pursuant to the second supplemental loan agreement, the
maturity date of the loan has been extended to 14 July 2021.

On 15 September 2021, the borrower proposed to further extend
the loan repayment date to 15 October 2021 and the directors of the
Company intend to extend the loan repayment date to 15 October
2021. The negotiation of the other terms of the third supplemental loan
agreement is still in progress at the date of this report.

The contractual interest charged at (i) 36% per annum for the first
and second interest period; (i) 18% per annum until 13 August 2020;
(i) 32% per annum for the period between 14 August 2020 and
13 September 2020 (both dates inclusive); (iv) 32% per annum between
14 September 2020 and 13 October 2020 (both dates inclusive); and (v)
18% per annum for the period between 14 October 2020 to 13 January
2021 (both dates inclusive); (vi) 32% per annum for the period between
14 January 2021 to 15 February 2021 (both dates inclusive); and (vii)
18% per annum thereafter is payable monthly by the borrower.

BE-T-—FAASTALTE

19. ERER @)

liogz3

(i)

D)

EFAERANBRRIERER
TRERETHBERABBENALE
&’ BERABRAZBDEITRA
Eoirevizics ittt

RZBEZZFANANB - AEEH
BRAR LB ERHE - IRIEH
TERM®E  ERZHHBHABARAZ
TEFNAtTHBEERE_Z =
ZFAATIEA - RZZEZZFH
AZ+=8  BRARZRE—TLT
FEERERAHE-TS=-—F=
A ARAESBEEBERERB
PERERE-_E-_—F=ZH R=_ZT
——FZANA AEEHEERA
FVE—MEARERBE - IRIEE
—HERERGE  EXRNEEA
BERE_Z-_—FtA+mWmA-

RZZE=Z—FNAA+HAB  BRA
ERE—SEREREERAHEC
E-—F+A+HB ARFTES
BEEREERPERE_T——
FE+HA+HB - FZHERERD
N EMIEROEERARE BH
TEHETT ©

RIBBRRRETEHTFI6% ;
(WEE-_ZT_TF\A+=AEF
18% : (iR —_Z-_TFN\A+MHE
2T -_TFAA+=ZH(BIEH
EMB)HEEF32% : (VAT
—EFEANATNBE_ZT_TF+
A+=R(BEEREMB)HEF
32% : RVWVRZZE-_ZF+ A+
AE=Z=-—4—A+=RA(8#Ey
EMB)HBHETF18% : ViR=F
- At+tHBEE-ZE-_—F_
A+HB(BIEEEMB) IREF
32% i R (vi)E BT F18%HIF =5t
ERENNESERERATAZN
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

@)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(v)

The loan is guaranteed by the ultimate holding company of the borrower
which is a company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange.

The maturity date of this loan was extended from 30 September 2019 to
31 March 2020 during the year ended 30 June 2019. On 13 September
2019, the Group has entered into the loan agreement with the borrower
and its guarantor. Pursuant to the loan agreement, the maturity date
of the loan has been further extended to 31 December 2021. On
16 December 2020, a supplemental loan agreement was entered into
by the Group and the borrower and guarantor, pursuant to which the
repayment date of the loan is further extended to 30 December 2022.
Details of the loan agreement and supplemental loan agreement are
set out in the Company’s announcements on 13 September 2019 and
16 December 2020 respectively.

The contractual interest charged at 8% per annum is payable quarterly
by the borrower.

On 27 July 2020, the Group as the lender entered into the facility
agreement with the borrower and its certain subsidiaries as the
guarantors, pursuant to which, the Group, make available to the
borrower a loan facility in the amount of A$26,000,000 at an interest
rate of 1% over Bank Bill Swap Bid rate, which is secured by a
guarantee provided by certain subsidiaries of the borrower. The loan
facility is originally terminated on 31 January 2021.

On 15 December 2020, the Group and the borrower further entered
into a deed of variation to increase the loan facility by A$5,000,000 to
A$31,000,000. Furthermore, the termination date of the loan facility was
extended to 31 July 2021. Details of the facility agreement and deed of
variation are set out in the Company’s announcements on 27 July 2020
and 15 December 2020 respectively.

On 31 July 2021, the termination date of this loan was extended from
31 July 2021 to 31 January 2022.

The principal amount of A$15,500,000 was equivalent to approximately
HK$90,486,000 at 30 June 2021.

The contractual interest charged is payable quarterly by the borrower.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

@

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The loan is guaranteed by the sole shareholder of the borrower and
is secured by a share mortgage over the entire issued capital of the
borrower and is secured by a debenture creating first fixed and floating
charge over the undertaking, property and assets of the borrower.

On 16 September 2021, the borrower proposed to further extend the
loan repayment date to 31 January 2022 and the terms of extension are
under negotiation.

The contractual interest charged at 3% per month is payable by the
borrower on the maturity date.

On 21 August 2020, the Group has entered into the supplemental
loan agreement with the borrower. Pursuant to the supplemental loan

agreement, the maturity date of the loan has been extended from
24 July 2020 to 26 July 2021.

The contractual interest charged at 7% per annum is payable monthly

by the borrower.

The loan was fully settled on 8 January 2021.

Details of the securities are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 29 September 2018 and 19 July 2019.

At 30 June 2020, the effective interest rate comprises fixed interest rate
of 17.5% per annum.

The loan was fully settled on 3 September 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED A HmARNE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 HE-T-—FA=1THIEFE
19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. EIRE R (@)
(b) The movements of loan receivables during the year are set out as (b) FREWERZ EEHEIINT -
follows:
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 July 2019 RZZE-NF+HA—H 401,418
Interest income (Note 6(a)) FBUWA (Hi26() 68,385
Interest received BHFE (60,015)
New grant of loans FIZER 347,981
Repayment of loans BEER (278,527)
Modification (Note 7) &8 (Hat7) 5,934
Impairment loss, net (Note 7) BEBEFEN A7) (4,048)
Exchange adjustments PE 3 %8 (12,252)
At 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2020 RZBEZZEFA=+HEK 468,876
e S =
Interest income (Note 6(a)) FEWA (H1:76() 46,748
Interest received BHFE (49,620)
New grant of loans R EN 201,331
Repayment of loans BEER (197,560)
Modification (Note 7) &8 (H1eE7) 5,010
Impairment loss, net (Note 7) BEEEFEN L) (19,218)
Exchange adjustments PE H aEE 38,283
At 30 June 2021 RZZE-_—FA=+H 493,850
(c) Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising ) BRAREEEEERIEERER
from loan receivables are set out in Note 31(a). EEZEERR 2E—FHBERER
BtEE31(a) °
20. LOAN NOTES 2. EREE
2021 2020
ZE--F —T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T
Loan notes issued by Sun Hung Kai & Co.  Sun Hung Kai & Co. (BVI) Limited 3,924 3,916
(BVI) Limited (“SHK BVI") ([SHK BVI | ) #1777 EE

202 APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

20. LOAN NOTES (Continued)

The movements of loan notes during the year are set out as follows:

&

ETE-—FRAZTHILEE

20. ERREE @)

FRAERRBZEHHIMT

HK$’'000

FHET

At 1 July 2019 RZE—NFtA—H 51,168
Interest income FBUA 1,010
Interest received BUYFE (1,3693)
Redemption of loan notes BRERERE (46,997)
Exchange adjustments PE 5 JEE 98
At 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2020 RIE-_ZEFA=1THK 3,916

—E-FF+H—H

Interest income B A 180
Interest received BUFE (180)
Exchange adjustments PEE 5 ZR 8 8
At 30 June 2021 N-E-_—%FXA=1+H 3,924

On 24 May 2016, the Group subscribed loan notes with a nominal
value of US$4,000,000 from SHK BVI, a limited liability company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), which carry 4.75%
coupon interest per annum and originally mature on 31 May 2021.
SHK BVI early redeemed the loan note on 15 November 2019.

On 1 September 2017, the Group subscribed loan notes with a
nominal value of US$2,500,000 from SHK BVI, which carry 4.65%
coupon interest per annum and will mature on 8 September 2022.
SHK BVI early redeemed 80.1% of loan note on 15 November 2019.

Loan notes issued by SHK BVI are guaranteed by Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited (“SHK?”), a limited liability company incorporated in Hong
Kong whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. SHK BVI is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of SHK.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising
from loan notes are set out in Note 31(a).

R-ZB—XERA-TIUH AEEMA
SHKBVI(—MREBERE LS ([XB
BELZBE|AMKIZZBRAR)RE
ME{E 54,000,000€ T2 ERERE - &
EMENKBLTS% RFEANR T = —
FRA=+—RHEH - SHK BVIRZZE
—NE+—A+hBREEBERERE
&

R-ZT—tFNA—H  KEEESHK
BVI:R 8 (B 42,500,0003% 7T 2 B 3
i EEEFHER4.65% @ WiHR
—ZE-—FAA/\BHEIH - SHK BVIR
— - hAF+—A+EBRRER

80.1%EHREE -

SHKBVIE{TZ EREBAFIEESR
RAR(HFRE | —HREBEMAK
N ZBRAT] BRI )
R - SHK BVIEFTIREZ ZEHB R
ajo

FRAEEEERREBHERERE
2 EERR 2 E—FFHBEHNM T
31(a) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

AN
/é\\ﬂ—\lil

B RR MR ()

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

NEFREMEWERFTUKA

RENTAL DEPOSITS s%e
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade receivables designated at BERAFENERREE 106,299 6,273
FVTPL (note (i) 2B SRR (A))
Other receivables and deposits HEMEBERRRIZS 3,680 32,090
Rental deposits HERe 578 546
Receivable from securities brokers FEU B A 40 TR 9,979 4,485
Prepayments TESRIE 773 713
121,309 44,107
Representing: ElVE
Current assets REhEE 121,070 43,568
Non-current assets FEREEE 239 539
121,309 44 107
Except for the non-current rental deposits, all of the trade and other RIERBEEZ SN  EEEFES R

receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense

within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

2. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
RENTAL DEPOSITS (continued)

Note:

U

Aging analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade receivables
designed at FVTPL based on invoice date which approximates the revenue
recognition date, is as follows:

/ﬂ'\

HE—-Z

N.EFREMEWERR

BB RRMTE(E)

——FXA=THIEEE

X CA K 36

EZTw

it -

0)

BREC DT

HERSHR - BEERATFERERERER
TEZT’\’%F@&EE ?ﬁz?ﬁémﬁﬁﬁ(ﬁﬁ\”ﬂlﬁ?ﬁ@

2021 2020

—E—-F —EoTF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHExT FHT

0-30 days 0-30H 106,299 -
31-60 days 31-60H - 6,273
106,299 6,273

The Group sells iron ore commodities under provisional pricing arrangements
where final prices are based on prevailing spot prices over a quotation period
after shipment to the customers. These trade receivables are designated at
FVTPL on contract by contract basis.

The Group allows an average credit period of 90 days to its trade customers
from commodity business. Before accepting any new customers, the Group
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits to it.
The credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. Further details
on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are
set out in Note 31(a).

AEERBEHEELFHEHROE
i RRERRTET R RENERE
HABITREERRE - 2S5E SRR
RIZER & BT RRATER RS
AREZTE -

REERTHEAMERZEHEFI0BHK
TEEH - BREMMESA - ANEE
BT EPNEEERTEER,E
ERE - ARENEEHRRAELHEE
fREE - BREAAEBEEEBRRBE HEK
IRREEZ EERBRZ E— SR En i
#£31(a) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH, PLEDGED
BANK DEPOSITS AND OTHER CASH FLOW
INFORMATION

uﬂ'\

BB RRMTE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

22, SR 1T

HBRREE  SEFR

TEFNHMBEESREER

a) Cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank a) BEREEREURB KW
deposits: RITFER
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily BITRSESHBTEREZ
bank deposit rates, ranging from 0.001% to 1.00% (2020: F B R R B EA iﬂ$)\ I
0.001% to 2.08%) per annum. 0.001% F£1.00% ( =T — T 4 :
0.001%%E2.08%) °
Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to EERBRITERIEEASERESE
secure the Group’s trade and banking facilities and carry variable SRBITHREMBERTRIT 2T
interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.31% (2020: 0.15% to N BZ0.01%£031% (=T =
3.62%) per annum. TF 1 015% £3.62%) 2 ZEF
FIEETE -
b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) MMEEFEBHMEXEEZHE
financing activities
Dividend Lease
payables liabilities Total
EARE HEEE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET
(note (i) (Note 24)
(B1aE) (Bfzt24)
At 1 July 2019 RZZE—-NF+HA—H 767 4,863 5,630
New lease entered I EHHEE - 2,608 2,608
Changes from financing cash flows Bt& IR & & E) (121,890) (4,145) (126,035)
Lease modification HEBNR - 939 939
Cash dividend declared (Note 13)  EEIRREME (A7213) 121,890 - 121,890
Interest expenses (Note 9(a)) MERZ (Hi#9aE) - 240 240
Exchange adjustments M X AR = (1) 1)
At 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2020 W-ZT=F ix\ﬁ +8 767 4,504 5,271
k=T =TF+H—H
New lease entered R EHHEE - 3,022 3,022
Changes from financing cash flows Ei&IH & gt (121,890) (4,284) (126,174)
Lease modification HEBWR - (79) (79)
Cash dividend declared (Note 13) B EIRE &I E (H1:713) 121,890 = 121,890
Interest expenses (Note 9()) M BRZ (H779aE) - 162 162
Exchange adjustments PE 5 A% - 94 94
At 30 June 2021 R_ZE-_—F,A=1+H 767 3,419 4,186
Note: Hrat -

()  The closing balance is included in other payables (Note 23).

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

E=PAN
%T\Cl

B

z=

=g

Bk MR ()

T —FAASHAILSR

23 EZ R E A IR

2021 2020
—E=-—F T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade payables designated at FVTPL BEEATERERRERE 2 28,916 61,852
(note (i) B SNSRI a0)
Other payables measured at TR SR ARG E A H A 70,921 23,591
amortised cost FEITHRFR
99,837 85,443
Note: Hiat -
()  Aging analysis () BRERDMT

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade payables
designated at FVTPL based on invoice date is as follows:

BEREEF - HERATENESER
B E 5 AR E B R
o

2021 2020

—E-—F ZETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHExT FHT

0-30 days 0-30H 28,916 56,529
31-60 days 31-60H - 5,323
28,916 61,852

The Group purchases iron ore commodities under provisional pricing
arrangements where final prices are based on prevailing spot prices over a
quotation period after shipment by the supplier, MGX. These trade payables
are designated at FVTPL on contract by contract basis.

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within
one year or are repayable on demand.

AEERBEHEELHRBEREOS
i REMRHERIMCXEERENE
BEPNBTREBERRE - ZS5EHE
MERFIZE R & HELEIETE RRATER

B2 AL 5 M EMRENRRER —F
WEMNREEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

24. LEASE LIABILITIES

At 30 June 2021, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

e P BHmRE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

24, HEEE

RZZT-_—FA=+H  EEENHE

EgENT
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within 1 year —FR 2,181 3,743
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFRA 1,190 664
After 2 years but within 5 years WMEBRERFR 48 97
1,238 761
Balance at end of the year FRES 3,419 4,504

Total cash outflow for leases

Amount included in the consolidated statement of cash flow for

HERSRHAHE

HFEEMAAGRABESRERNSEL

leases comprise the following: I
2021 2020
—E-—F T -THF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FAT
Within operating cash flows KEBSREN 38 89
Within financing cash flows BMERSREAN 4,284 4,145

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AV HRARNTEE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE_ZE-_—F X A=Z+tHILFE
25. DEFERRED TAX 25, IEAEBLIE
(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (a) ERFELERIEEERER
Deferred tax assets EEBEEE
Credit loss
allowance
of loan
receivables Tax losses Total
ERERHN
FEBERE HIAEE @st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHIT
At 1 July 2019 R_ZE-NFt+tHA—H S = =
Credited to profit or loss SHANEBR (i 10@) 646 - 646

(Note 10(a))

At 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2020 NR-EBE-ZEFXA=+H 646 - 646
;r—ZE-ZF4+A—H
Credited to profit or loss STAB®(HE10aE) 969 4,348 5,317

(Note 10(a))

At 30 June 2021 N-ZT——%,A=1H 1,615 4,348 5,963
Deferred tax liability EEHEARE

Financial assets

at FVTPL

BAFEREBEREE

BECEMERE

HK$'000

T

At 1 July 2019, 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2020 RZZE—NFEtA—H ZZ-=F =

NAZ+HBER-_Z-_TFE+H—H
Charged to profit or loss (Note 10(a)) KRBz (K5 100@) 12,050
At 30 June 2021 R-E-_—FA=+H 12,050

TARFERAT
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

25. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

——FRA=ZTHRILFE

25, IEFEFEIE (&

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of SEMBRRAEREE
financial position
2021 2020
s T T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET BT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the  FA4E S BAFEAR N R HEREY 1,615 646
consolidated statement of IR IE & EE)F 5
financial position
Net deferred tax liability recognised in the #4R& BTSN RIERH (7,702) =
consolidated statement of BRI IEB EF5E
financial position
(6,087) 646

As at 30 June 2021, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$187,441,000 (2020: HK$198,526,000)
available for offset against future taxable profits. No deferred tax
asset was recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2021 (2020: nil) since it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses can be
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

Except for tax loss of nil (2020: HK$1,846,000) which will
expire in 2025, the remaining tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

R-ZT-—FA=1+H AEH
BARB)AIAEIE4187,441,000
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BB KA e Al AR S S 18 Y
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

25. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

At 30 June 2021, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries in PRC amounted to
HK$21,476,000 (2020: HK$14,275,000). Deferred tax liability
has not been recognised for taxes that would be payable
on these unremitted earnings as the Company controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been determined
that it is probable that these profits will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

26. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$323,000 (2020:
HK$317,000) represents contributions paid or payable to the
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the respective
schemes.

&

ETE-—FRAZTHILEE

25, IE FEFE I8 ()

REFELEMRERE B-FTF
NE—A—HEE  FEMNBARA
FhELERER 208 M P B K 2 BB AR
B o

RZE-—FA=+H HPH
ME A RMR D IKaF B B TR
EHE /21,476,000 (=%
& 1 14,275,000787T) © M ARFhZ
LRIE T BT A BITEREREL
MEAE  BAERARIESZEN
BARMBREBER  WEHTEZSE
EAFEAITE R AR ATBETE DK ©

26. & TRIKEF

REBRBEESRSIMEAESETENED
AXEBREEMNEEZ AAER 22
BEERTBHMATESTE([aES
T8l - BB ERABULTAAE
1B 7 BRI - IRIERESET
2 BEXREESBHAEREEBBK
AZ5%AFTEELER - MBS AERH
WA 2 EBR A&30,000/8 7T  5HEIH &
BB SR -

AEEZTBENERR 2 EEH/TE
BFEE 2 B2 RABHFEI2KE -
ZEMBRRIARFHRAZIEEB D
LR RAE AR BIHSR - BN A RETR
M REBBERRAKBRNEZEE
ERIEHREZHK -

A 18 25 1 Bk 19 42 R AN 323,00078 7T (=
—Z 4 : 317,000 0) IEAEEE
ek 7B {E BT8R Al AT s e b R M)
3245 2 5K -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

27. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

e P BHmRE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

27. AREIEBEMNB AR TR

POSITION
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
it FHET FET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in an associate R—EBER T 2 RE 22,716 22716
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZIKRE 5,383 5,383
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHT B A BIFRIE 1,442,489 1,206,683
1,470,588 1,234,782
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS B B A B FIE 1,511,249 1,310,754
Other receivables and HAb AR K 524 864
prepayments TEfFE
Bank balances RITEERR 125,759 184,698
1,637,532 1,496,316
Total assets EEHAE 3,108,120 2,731,098
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Capital and reserves BEAXRGHE
Share capital [N 28(b) 1,218,894 1,218,894
Share premium and R0 (B R H AL A 28(a) 346,271 346,271
other reserves
Accumulated profits 2% F 28(a) 1,206,260 928,777
2,771,425 2,493,042
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R H R BREX 54,568 3,989
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN NG e 282,127 233,167
Total liabilities BEHAE 336,695 237,156
Total equity and liabilities REREEEE 3,108,120 2,731,098
Net current assets REBEERE 1,300,837 1,259,160
Total assets less total liabilities & E & &R S EHE58 2,771,425 2,493,942

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity
(other than share capital as disclosed in Note 28(b)) between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

The Company

&

z=
/=

—E-—FXA=+tHLFE

28. IRA K fifs

AEBEGAEREBOMNFE
FREGHHRIANGAERE
R - ARANER AR (T
28(0) B VAR ARR SN B FHEF
ROEEFEHIIAT ¢

AT

Share Other Accumulated
premium reserves profits Total
R 1E Hitf#E R5taA ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT FTET THT
At 1 July 2019 RZE-NF+HA—H 206,694 139,577 756,454 1,102,725
Profit and total comprehensive income 4 & i FIl & 2 H Wi 4258 - - 294,213 294,213
for the year
Dividends recognised as distribution  #2A 2 REIALE - - (121,890) (121,890)
(Note 13) (Fist13)
At 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2020 RIZZZEXA=TAK 206,694 139,577 928,777 1,275,048
“Z-TELA-H
Profit and total comprehensive income EE & F| % 2 H iz 858 - - 309,373 399,373
for the year
Dividends recognised as distribution ~ #2A2 REIRE - - (121,890) (121,890)
(Note 13) (K7:£13)
At 30 June 2021 R-ZE-_—%XA=+H 206,694 139,577 1,206,260 1,552,531
DAERERATF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

SRE SRR MR (4)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

28. PR A K {48 o)

(b) Share capital (b) 27
Number of
shares Amount
BROEE X
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: EIE
At 1 July 2019, 30 June 2020, RZE—NF+tHA—H" 2,000,000,000 2,000,000
1 July 2020 and 30 June 2021, —E-EFXA=FH
ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each ZEZTFLA-AR
—ZE-—FXA=1+H"
EREET.00BTZ
TRk
Issued and fully paid, ordinary BERTRBE  SREE
shares of HK$1.00 each 1.00 8 T2 EBR
At 1 July 2019, 30 June 2020, RZE—-NF+tA—H" 1,218,893,914 1,218,894
1 July 2020 and 30 June 2021 ZEZTFERA=TH

72’?7%%‘{:)5]_5&
—E-—®XA=+H

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally
with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 28. AR @4 )

(i) Share premium

Share premium arose from the issuance of share by the
Company at prices in excess of their par value, and may
be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. The
application of the share premium is governed by section 40
of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(ii) Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the sharing of
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity instruments
designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that are held by the
associates at the end of the reporting period.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(r).

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that they
can continue to provide returns for Shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, and maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The
Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment
of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new
debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

(i) BRAD=E

P&tn i B AR RIIR S P
EEMNERETRMNKEL -
WA AR R AL P A 0K o
B HENEAYAREDN
(ARE-NN—FREVE)E
405 °

(i) REEMRHE

REEHRBERERIRES
ABPBHREER TR - 15
BAHENEMEEK R EE
B AR AS T A (70 3R & HA 2K e B
BRAIFKE) RAQATEED
R o

(iii) BE X (B

B 3 G/ R R ST B
1 38 25 T 2 4 0 7 7 51 E 22
5 o R TR 20 B
R EH BT -

AEEEREARN B NRRELRE
RERER - ARREMFNES
KA - I B ERREENERBN

AEERERLLIEEERNESE -
7R 5 [ (A e AR AR O B B K% AR
BENRBRFEEERE R BABRERLG
B RERUREELER A&
Bk HEMMRMNRE - BITH
B~ EEERRDD - #TIRETS - BEHR
BEHS L EEEARDET o

ZAYNCIEEsR b NG sy
B EARFRTE PR
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

29, SUBSIDIARIES 29, M B2 ]
The Group'’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 and 2020 are N - —FR—_E-_FTFE, A=+
as follows: B AEENZEMBARNAT :
As at 30 June 2021 As at 30 June 2020
Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of ownership interest
R-Z--FXA=+A \ZZZ2FRA-TH
BERRERLA RERRERLY
Place of
incorporation/  Particulars of Group’s Held Held Group’s Held Held
principal place  issued and effective by the by effective by the by
Name of company of operations  paid-up capital interest  Company subsidiaries interest Company  subsidiaries  Principal activities
HMRY/  BEAR xEEy  ALR  WEQE  AEr  ANE  KERE
AFER FTELEHY  BRRAFE BRER 58 BE BN #E BE IEER
Accardo Investments Limited  BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Principal investment
share and financial services
HERAHEE  1ETEER FERERERRY
APAC Resources Asia Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Resource investment
Limited share o
SRERENERAR 0 TETERR BRREA
APAC Resources Assets BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited share )
SREREEARAT RERRHES  1ETEBER REER
APAC Resources Beijing Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Principal investment
Limted share and financial services
SRERLRERAH B TR FERERERRE
APAC Resources Commodity BVI/HongKong ~ US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Resource investment
Trading Limited share o
SRERERESRRAT %%%ﬂi%/ 1ETEER ERiE
27
APAC Resources BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Principal investment
Investment Holaing Limited share and financial services
TREFREERERAR HERLHEE  1XTLER FERERERRE
APAC Resources BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Investment holding
Investments Limited share .
TAERREERLA EBRLEE  1EnEER REER
APAC Resources Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Provision of
Management Limited share management services
GRERERERDA ) BT RR REERRS
APAC Resources Mining BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited share .
TREREXERAR HERRHEE  1ETEER RERR
APAC Resources Shanghai  Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Principal investment
Limited share and financial services
TRERHEARAR BE BT RR FERER SRR
APAC Resources Strategic ~ BVI/Hong Kong ~ US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Investment holding
Holdings Limited share )
BAERERERERLA ﬁ%g%ﬁﬁ%/ 1ETEER REER
2N
APAC Resources Treasury BV US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Principal investment
Management Limited share and financial services
TRERMAEREARAT HEBRLHE 1EXTLAER TERERSREH
Asia Cheer Trading Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Investment holding and
share principal investment
and financial services
ELESERAA B BTEER REZRNEZRE
R&rR%

21 6 APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

29. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 29. fff B A B ()
As at 30 June 2021 As at 30 June 2020
Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of ownership interest
A\=E--FxXA=1+H RZZ-TERA=
BERRERLA BEEERLD
Place of
incorporation/  Particulars of Group’s Held Held Group’s Held Held
principal place  issued and effective by the by effective by the by
Name of company of operations  paid-up capital interest  Company subsidiaries interest Company  subsidiaries  Principal activities
ERRL/  2RAR KEMY ALY WEAF  AEEr  ALs  KERE
AFER TELEHYE  BRRAFE BRER 58 BE BN o) BE  IEER
Fortune Arm Limited BVI US$1 ordinary 100% - 100% 100% - 100%  Principal investment
share and financial services
RERAHE 1ETEBR FERERLBRY
Fortune Desire Investments ~ BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited share .
EBRTEE 1EnEER REZR
Genuine Legend Limited BVI/Hong Kong  US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Principal investment
share and financial services
RBRAER/ 1ETEER FTERERERRE
B
Mount Sun Investments BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited share .
ARBEERAT EBRAEE 1ETEER REER
Sino Chance Trading Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Trading of commodities
Limited share
IEESHEBRLT Bt BTEER BmES
Ultra Effort Limited BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Principal investment
share and financial services
RBRAHE 1ETEBR FERERLBRY
Zenith Element Limited BVI US$1 ordinary 100% - 100% - - - Investment holding
share
BBRAR EBRAHE 1ETEER RERR
TRER(EE) BRAA*  ThePRC Registered 100% - 100% 100% - 100%  Trading of commodities
capital of
US$29,800,000
H AMER BnES
29,800,000%7T
I (B8) ’RE7%H The PRC Registered 100% 100% - 100% 100% - Provision of
BRAFN capital of consultancy service
US$3,600,000 in corporate
management,
metallurgy
technology,
investment and
development in
\ mineral resources
e afas REEATER )5
3,600,000%7C &mm};éﬁﬁﬁ?xé
RE R B 2R
*  This subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the * BARREDBEEEM AN EEE
PRC law. ¥ o
The above list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which, in $’AET?§%§%7% J:i%%@ﬁ -
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the ALKEXE AENRBECHBEARA
results, assets or liabilities of the Group. #} e
Unless otherwise stated, the principal place of operation of each %gjﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁ\i‘ 5@ AlZ EEL B
company is the same as its place of incorporation. SRR FER PR S o R AE
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of TR AP /28 2 ) 1A S {181 4F S SR sk R BN S
both years or at any time during both years. A EEFJHF'??’*TTT?ET—HEE&M%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

30. CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

AR MRS ERaR AT L (4

=)
&)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

0. ¢TI AEZER

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZE-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets SRMEE
Other receivables and deposits Hih R ML & 11,868 31,086
Loan notes ENEE 3,924 3,916
Loan receivables W E R 493,850 468,876
Pledged bank deposits EIRIRIRITIF X 18,266 88,611
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RS 420,389 564,039
Financial assets at amortised cost R SERATY IR S B E 948,297 1,156,528
Financial assets at FVTPL, mandatorily AT ERIBRREE 2
measured at FVTPL TRUEE - RH|HRATE
PIBR IR TR
— Listed equity securities held-for-trading —EBEBEZ FTHRRAEA 1,134,298 629,058
— Listed equity securities not held within —WIEREZHEANEEZ 205,206 58,398
the trading portfolios ETRAES
— Unlisted equity investments —JE ETRR AR E 52,406 8,291
— Derivative financial instruments —fTEemTA 44,236 11,414
- Warrants — Rk EE
— Convertible notes — Al R IR = 9,690
1,436,146 716,851
Trade receivables designated at FVTPL EERATFEREREK 106,299 6,273
BB SRR
1,542,445 723,124
Financial liabilities -y =R
Other payables HAtb TR TR 70,921 23,591
Lease liabilities HEBRE 3,419 4,504
Financial liabilities at amortised cost TR BRSBTS 74,340 28,095
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BRATERERREREZ
TRIBE
Trade payables designated at FVTPL BEEATERESREEZ 28,916 61,852
B SRR
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and other
price risk. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage
these risks are described below.

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, loan receivables,
other receivables, loan notes, convertible notes, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, except that the credit risks
associated with certain loan receivables is mitigated as they are
secured (Note 19).

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers.

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had concentration of credit
risk in respect of trade receivables of HK$106,299,000 (2020:
HK$6,273,000) in to a customer. Taking into account the
historical settlement record of this customer, the directors of the
Company considered that the Group’s credit risk in respect of
this trade receivable was insignificant.

Except for trade receivables designated at FVTPL and
convertible notes measured at FVTPL, the Group performed
impairment assessment for financial assets under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related impairment
assessment are summarised as below.

BE-T-—FAASTALTE

NBKEREEREMIAZ
NFE

AEEeRITAMEENEERRRE
ER - REERER - FIRER - B
[\ Ko LA (ERE R o T B A R E
ERNZERR LA EEERAEEZ
FRR AT RBRREIEBR LB -

FEERREASENZSEHHER
HANEAMERAEBRZHH
EENRE - AEENEERRE
DRAE SRR - BIRER
Hib EUCGIE « B EIE - AT
ZE - BEMROTERERRTE
£ o AEEWEF G AR MK
HipZEEBIERAAESREE
HREER BRI AIRE - HEB T 0
EREZFEBENEERREG KT
A P (fisE19) o

B 5 B AR

AEENEERREBEZEEPH
ERIEF# - MIEREFEEER
TERIERATE - FEAREKE
R ER &P AR ERRERE - 5
SELBRNEESTEAR -

RZE-—FXA=1+H &&E
B —NEFPFHNEZREKER
106,299,000/ L (ZE =T F
6,273,000/ T ) E EEEEF R
B ZEINZEFMBELER
8% ARREFRANEBRZE
SEWEZRNEERBRBTEK -

BEERAFENERREEZE
5 RUER S IR RIR A FE
RB&@REIEIN - AEERIZEN
EEBEEAHEREELETRE
il - FREAEEEERRER -
RaEERRKERBERGNE
BT e

DAERERAE
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BXEKMETERSRMIAY
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) NEE @)

220

Financial assets at amortised cost

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies general
approach on loan receivables to assess for ECL prescribed
by HKFRS 9. To measure ECL of loan receivables, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its borrowers and they are
assessed individually by reference to their past default records,
their current past due exposure and an analysis of their current
financial position. The ECL rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
loan receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking information
(for example, the current and forecasted global economy and
the general economic conditions of the industry in which the
borrowers operate) that is available without undue cost or effort.
Such forward-looking information is used by the management
of the Group to assess both the current conditions and the
forecasted direction at the reporting date.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BXEKMETERSRHITAY
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) NEE @)

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The bank balances are placed in various authorised financial
institutions either with high credit ratings or good financial
background and the directors of the Company consider the
credit risk of such authorised financial institutions is low. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each debtor. As at 30 June 2021,
the Group had concentration of credit risk on pledged bank
deposits of HK$18,266,000 (2020: HK$61,771,000) in a bank
in Hong Kong and on bank balances of HK$206,813,000
(2020: HK$194,968,000) in a bank in Hong Kong. In the
opinion of directors of the Company, the credit risks on pledged
bank deposits and bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.

Loan receivables

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had concentration of credit risk
in respect of certain loan receivables of HK$349,863,000 (2020:
HK$320,810,000) from two borrowers. The management of
the Group reviewed the public announcements and financial
information of the guarantors of these loans receivable, the
records of continuous settlements of interests and the value of
the underlying securities, if any, in order to assess their credit
quality. In this regards, the directors of the Company considered
the Group’s concentration of credit risk in respect of the certain
material loan receivables as at 30 June 2021 was significantly
reduced.

CEFRTERARRIT
REER

RITEBTHREREESEET
BIRTVBEENRES B
BEANREFRAZERESR
BEMNEERRRIE - XEB 215
BERBEEZZEBHA BRI
BN E-—FA=1+A -
REBMPE B —BIRITZ ERMER
1T1F 718,266,000 T(—Z T =&
& 161,771,000/ 0) R ES —
IR 17 2 SR 17 45 ££206,813,000/%
TT(ZE =T F : 194,968,000
TGFEEFEERR - AARE
ERE - ARRBUFHFASEER
IR RIT - REDEMEBITER
LRI 2 EERBER -

BB ER

R-ZT-—FXA=1+H " &x&EE
REMEEBRAZE FTERKER
349,863,000 T (Z T & F :
320,810,000/ ) FEEESEF R
o AEBETEEEMEREIE
RABDAAERMIEER - 78
S BB ERA M ARRE B A B
B(E)UFHHEEEERR - Bt
mE @ ARAESERE  AEER
—E-—EXA=tHEEETE
AEREZNEESTRBRD AR
PR o

DAERERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

The directors of the Company estimate the estimated loss rates
of loan receivables based on historical credit loss experience of
the debtors as well as the fair value of the collateral pledged by
the customers to the loan receivables. Based on assessment by
the directors of the Company, the amount of impairment made
and movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loan
receivables during the year is as follows:

Not credit-impaired

e P BHmRE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

NUBEREERSBIAY
YNSZERT )

(a) EERM @)
EWE R @)

ARREFRBEEBAZBEREE
BERERANEFIREKERME
MERmz 2T E - EETRKRE
Rt ERE - RIBARFES
ZFHE - FRRERT IR MBI
B EERER s ZEIT

Credit-impaired

AREEERE BREEENE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£-Ka £-khk R st
Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance

exposure  forECL  exposure
AXER  RMEE  AGEE
BEAE  BEER  BhEE
HK000  HKS000  HKS'000

Thn TR TR

forECL  exposure  forECL  exposure  for ECL
BEEE ASER  BEMRE  A3FE  EEGE
EEBG BESE  FEEE  RBEE  BEER
HKP000  HKS000  HKS000  HK000  HKSI000

Thn TR TR TEL TEx

At July 2019 R-F-NELA-A 210515 (058 191,461 - - - 401976 (558
New loan/financing originated KaiEn/BE 369,731 (2089  466% (2,049) - - 416366 (4,139)
Loansffnancing derecognised ERALRD
orrepaid during the year FEERNET/ BE (19479 169 (143,750) = - - (33854 169
Modification By 5934 = - - - - 5,934 -
Movements due to changes in credit sk RfESERER S HHEY - 79 - - - - - 9
Exchange difference EHEE (12.252) - - - - - (12259 -
At 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2020 RZE-FE A=A
R=2-%£¢A-H 379,136 (2.587) 94,346 (2,049 - - A4 (4,606)

New loan/fnancing originated REFES/BE 212778 (3.257) 2999 - 32362 (B433) 248079 (11690)
Loansffnancing derecognised ERELED

or repald during the year HERENED/ A (169,047) 164 (86634 = (1.499) - (A80) 164
Moofication B 5010 - - - - - 5010 -
Transferto fetime expected creclt ~~ BEFRREEEHEN 2

loss credit-mpaired [stage 3) EEEBR(E=RR) = - (10651 2049 10851 (2049 = =
Movements due to changes in creditrisk Rz S B IRER S BAES - (1922) - - - (,770) - (7.69)
Exchange difference Er<g 36,283 - - - - - 32 -
At 30 June 2021 R-E--FrA=1H 476,160 (7.572) - - 41514 (16260 517,674 (23.824)
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BXEKMETERSRITAY

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) NEE @)
Other receivables H {th & UK BR FX

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the Company
make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables and deposits based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The directors of the Company believe that there
are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based on
12-month ECL. For the year ended 30 June 2021 and 2020,
the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits
were insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Loan notes

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had concentration of credit risk
in respect of loan notes of HK$3,924,000 (2020: HK$3,916,000)
into one entity. The management of the Group reviewed the
public announcements and financial information of the guarantor
of these loan notes as well as subsequent settlements of
interests in order to assess their credit quality. In this regard, the
directors of the Company considered that the Group’s credit risk
in respect of these loan notes was significantly reduced.

REMERERERRZEMS © AR
FIEERBEBEEMNLE  BAK
BUMAEABKRENNEE TS
KEMHER - BEMBKRER I
S H AT YB3 1T RE B B F T o
RARIEBRE B VIRFERARZ
EHENEERBY EEEENE
REFIRE12(6 AR EEEER
HBRE BE-_T-_—FK-_F=
TFEANAZTHILEFE  AEERF
HEMERERRIESNBHEE
FEEWTAEKX - A EEREE
B o

CEEED

R-_E-_—FA=+H " K
SERE—HEENERER
3,924,000 T (=& ZF F :
3,916,000/ L) FEEFEESEH A
o AEBEEEERMZEERE
BRERANRARAIERMEER
AR E BRI SEMERATEESE
EEx= M E ARAIESR
B AEBBEZSERZENE
BEBE KIERIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

e P BHmRE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

N HBEREERSMIAEZ
YNSRERE )
(a) EERMR @)

REBEZ AEMEERB R EE
AR

Internal credit rating Description Financial assets at amortised cost
R EB1E EFPAR 5 RBHERATIRNERMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts
{liVERNES RESGHFHANENRREE - BW&EER  12@ARREEEE
BHARIR
Medium risk Debtor frequently repays after due dates 12m ECL
but usually settle in full
o BERAREREHAREN  EREEHE  12@AENEEER
iC
High risk There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

=R

Loss

BB

Write-off

s

credit risk since initial recognition through

information developed internally or
external resources
RIFAE SN RIRIGENERL - BE
R\ B B IR HER AR AR N
There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

BERERTEECRLERRE

There is evidence indicating that the

debtor is in severe financial difficulty and

the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

BEBRBTEFSARBABRENMBRER

AREE AR AR AT E A B FOR

2HBEMEEER - ARBELEEERE

Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

2HBEMEEERR -CREEERE

Amount is written off

B BRI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s

e B EHmRIE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

NFBEREERSBIAY
DFE )

(a) EERMR @)
TEHFAEESREETMGNE

financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment: B ZEomEREBmETaH
EEEBTE
2020
Gross Gross
External Internal 12m ECL or carrying carrying
Notes creditrating  credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
128525 —E-EF
M HBEETR  ABEETR BHEERR RHAE FEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAL
Financial assets at amortised cost
REMRATIRNERER
Loan receivables 19 NA Low risk 12m ECL 476,160 379,136
[ERER &R KRR (not credit impaired
and assessed
individually)
12EARSBEEER
(REEEERER
ETERE)
High risk Lifetime ECL - 94,346
Sl (not credit impaired
and assessed
individually)
PHRSEERE
(REEESRER
EITEREHE)
High risk Lifetime ECL (credit 41,514 -
BER impaired and
assessed
individually)
PHRSEERE
(BBEFERER
ETERHE)
EAERERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED A HmARNE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE_ZE-_—FA=Z+tHILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. Bi¥EKMEERSMIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) DFE@)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERM @)
2021 2020
Gross Gross
External Internal 12m ECL or carrying carrying
Notes ~ credit rating  credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount

12 A28 - S 3 ZTCFTE

W7 SHBEETR ABEETR RHEERE RHEAE FHEE

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET TEL

Loans note 20  NA Low risk 12m ECL 3,924 3,916
EXEE ISl KRS (not credit impaired
and assessed
individually)
PEARSBEEER
(REERERER
ETTIERIEE)

Other receivables and 21 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 11,868 31,086
deposits (note (j) TNEH i (not credit impaired
HinRUERT Rk (i) and assessed
individually)
12EAREEERR
(REEEERER
EITERITE)

Pledged bank deposits 2 A N/A 12m ECL (not 18,266 88,611
BIEBRITER TNaf credit impaired
and assessed
individually)
12EARSBEEER
(REEEERER
ETERHE)

Bank balances 22 BaaltoAal N/A 12m ECL (not 420,389 564,001
RITER BaaiZAal  TNEF credit impaired
and assessed
individually)
12EARBEEER
(REERERER
EITERHE)

7

972,121 1,161,096
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Note:
()  For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses

past due information to assess whether credit risk has been increased
significantly since initial recognition.

=AN
%T\DE\

F ISR M L (4]

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

NFBEREERSBIAY
DFE )

(a)

EE R @)
() FBAPEERREEMS  AEE

RABHEHUFEERERR B
IRHER G RERAEILE -

2021 2020

ZEZ-F —Z-%F

Not past Not past

due/no fixed due/no fixed

repayment repayment
Past due terms Total Past due terms Total

3k Ko/
Bl SEEERH @t Bl EETERH w@it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET TAT TAT TAT

Other receivables and deposits ~ E i fEUBR 37 &2
b - 11,868 11,868 - 31,086 31,086
(b) Liquidity risk (b) REVE =R B

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent company’s
board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables set out the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting
period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

For trade payables under provisional pricing arrangements
and are designated at FVTPL, the amount is derived from the
estimated future cash payments with reference to the Platts Iron
Ore Index Price at the end of the reporting periods.

AEEAERNEEEREERE Y
ReEHEH  BREASAKCIE
HREMBEEFENFARREH
Ko AR ARESSHAET A
1FE - AEBECBRAEMERE
MBESHFL  NHEREERTRE
RefHt NWENREHMZRBE

AN
Emm= °

TRINFAREZTESRAR
RBERRZHF T EOMR - HE
RAHMNRBRASRE(BERE
MR REFE - RIIRREH
RERNERGFEZ BN RA
SEATNZ&EEHAY -

AR EELHEZE S ENHIA
s ARSBEINR2ENREH
RZBEARKREMERMAEZ
AREBENHKEFESDL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED A HmARNE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE_ZE-_—FA=Z+tHILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BiIREKMEEREM I A

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) AEE @)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REVE &= B (@)
2021
—B--F

More than More than Total Carrying
Within 1 year but 2 years but contractual amount at
1 year or less than lessthan  undiscounted 30 June
on demand 2 years 5years cash flows 2021
RZB=-§
—FR -EHRE mERL FFRAH ~A=tH

BEX  ERENR BEFNA  REREAE HRRE(E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FhL ThL FHr ThL FHr
Non-derivative financial iabilties HTEERAR
Other payables EftEMRR 70,921 - - 70,921 70,921
Lease liabilties HEEE 2,235 1,283 50 3,568 3419
73,156 1,283 50 74,489 74,340
Trade payables designated at FVTPL  #EEHRAFERNERER 28,916 - - 28,916 28,916
REZESEAER
102,072 1,283 50 103,405 103,256
2020
“T-TF
More than More than Total Carrying
Within 1 year but 2 years but contractual amount at
1 year or less than lessthan  undiscounted 30 June
on demand 2 years 5 years cash flows 2020
RZB-ZF
—FR —EN0E RENE  AFRED ~A=1H
BEX BRENA BRENA  ReREHs MEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL Fhr TEL THT TAT
Non-derivative financial liabilties FELREE
Other payables L AES 23591 = - 23591 23591
Lease liabilties HEERE 3838 707 12 4,657 4,504
27,429 707 112 28,248 28,095
Trade payables designated at FVTPL  #5iE /A TERE AR 61,852 = - 61,852 61,852
R 7 B HEMAER
89,281 707 112 90,100 89,947
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR MEEREEREMIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) ARSI )

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate loan receivable, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances as at 30 June 2021 and 2020. The Group is exposed
to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate loan
receivables, convertible notes, loan notes and lease liabilities as
at 30 June 2021 and 2020. The Group currently does not have
any interest rate hedging policy. The directors of the Company
monitor the interest rate exposure and will consider necessary
actions when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

(i) Interest rate risk profile

The following table, as reported to the management of the
Group, details the interest rate risk profile of the Group’s
loan receivables at the end of the reporting period:

MERERIESR TANAFESR
R B E A T 5 &R 28 i
BhHI R ©

RZEZ—FRZZFZZF A
—t8 AEBAESZZEESRE
PR ET B EKER - 2R
RITERRIRITERER - RF
ZFRZTEZFFRA=TH
$EIEJEE JEWER - =
B BEXERLEEEAEERAT
TE%'JZ‘:\J—L @ o ANEEEE BIARFEE
M RERHR - KRB EREE
PR - WHERBHLERE
KA R b5 B R A S 245G o

(i) FZEEER
TEDAREEEEREER -
ST A E R HA R R
ZEFIREBRBER -

Notional Amount

H{E
2021 2020
—E-—-F —ET-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Loan receivables JEWE TR
— Fixed rate —EL 427,446 473,482
— Variable rate —% B8 90,228 =
517,674 473,482

TAEFRERAT
Fif 2021
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 30 June 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased
the Group’s profit after tax and accumulated profits by
approximately HK$902,000 (2020: nil). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable rate loan receivables.

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis points
(2020: not applicable) increase or decrease in variable rate
loan receivables is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the
same basis as 2020.

No interest rate sensitivity analysis is disclosed for pledged
bank deposits and bank balances, as in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the interest rate sensitivity does
not give additional value in view of insignificant exposure of
interest bearing pledged bank deposits and bank balances
as at the end of the reporting period. The Group’s exposure
to interest rates on financial liabilities is detailed in the
liquidity risk management section of this note.

Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases and provision of loan financing which
give rise to receivables, payables and bank balances that
are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other
than the functional currency of the operations to which
the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily Renminbi (‘RMB”), United States dollars
(“US$”), Australian dollars (“A$”), Canadian dollars (“CAD”)
and British Pound (“GBP”). The Group ensures that the net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling
foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address
short-term imbalances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

e B EHmRIE(E)

7N

BHE_ZT—

—FXA=ZTHILEEE

NFBEREERSBIAY
YNSTERE )

(d) ZhEE R B ()

(i) Exposure to currency risk (Continued) (i) Zhe&s B ()
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the TRFAMAREBRREBHREA
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from ERRERSREENEES
recognised monetary financial assets and monetary financial MEE(UNEELAGBHEBEE
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional B E B IAIINEEEE) M
currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation EENEERR - L2251
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong = AR eETIAETY
Kong dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end R ERFELE B RNEE
date. KIpHE o
2021
—E--F
us$ RMB A$ CAD GBP
EYH ARH B’ mx iy
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR THER
Other receivables and HitERERREERE 1,112 363 336 20 430
rental deposits
Loan receivables ERER - 349863 86,971 - -
Loan notes EXZE 3,924 - - - -
Bank balances RITER 33,609 883 38,943 189,192 12,526
Other payables HibEAERK - - (3,319) (2,883) (346)
Net exposure arising from ERREERARBEE 38,645 351,109 122,931 186,329 12,610
recognised assets and liabilties 7 B FEE
2020
—RCEF
Us$ RVMB A$ CAD GBP
e AEH BT il R
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
T THET THET THT THT
Other receivables and Hith KRR REERS 2,196 - 5,735 3,688 678
rental deposits
Loan receivables W ER - 320,810 - - -
Loan notes BEHEE 3,916 = - - -
Bank balances RITEERR 21,893 786 225995 55,319 21,056
Other payables H i ERBRR = = (1,091) (7,435) =
Net exposure arising from ERREERARBEE 28005 321596 230,639 51,572 21,734

recognised assets and liabilties 7 %48

TARFERAT
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in
the Group’s profit/loss after tax (and accumulated profits)
that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the
Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed
that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the
United States dollar would be materially unaffected by any
changes in movement in value of the United States dollar
against other currencies.

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

NUBEREERSBIAY
YNSENT )

(i)

HREDH

TRETASERBIEEF,
BB (R RFTE M) BAARE BT
AR EARBIE XS NRE
HIREE(REMEEBRER
RS TE) MENR HE N
B - ptms - RRETE
R ZHBERERARE L
BAZETHLEMER ZEE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —TTF
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Decrease/
(decrease) (decrease) (decrease) (increase)
in foreign in profit in foreign in loss
exchange after exchange after
rate income tax rate  income tax
MRAT1EHLE BRATISBi1E
RN, SBFGM ERENS  BERDS
(m2) (R4 OR) (3 hn)
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
FET FAET
RMB AREE 10 35,111 10 32,160
(10) (35,111) (10) (32,160)
A$ JRIT 10 12,203 10 23,064
(10) (12,203) (10) (23,064)
CAD i 10 16,045 10 B, 187
(10) (16,045) (10) (5,157)
GBP g 10 1,063 10 2,173
(10) (1,063) (10) (2,173)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on
each of the group entities’ profit or loss after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional currencies, translated
into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period for presentation purposes.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those
monetary financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2020.

(e) Foreign currency price risk

The Group is engaged in equity securities trading and
investments which are denominated in foreign currencies
and is therefore exposed to foreign currency price risk. 74%
(2020: 69%) of the Group’s equity investments, including listed
securities held-for-trading, listed securities not held within the
trading portfolios, unlisted equity investments, and derivative
financial instruments are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s major foreign currency
denominated equity investments and derivative financial

SRe SRR M (48)

HE_Z-_—FXA=THILFE

NFBEREERSBIAY
DFE )

(d) s B ()
(i) BRE D @)

R E 9 1T R 3% I FEE 2R 2 B
EEAREF T EAEER®R
%%XEE&&I\EHW’JT%@%
BTA - DMRE-_FT-FF
R EERETT -

(e) FMEEHE EER

REBMBERAFHFEEMEE
EXrZEREMNAINE - FtE%
ZONEBRER o AEET4% (=
TTF 1 69%) ZBARE (BIE
HEBEELMES WIERESEHA
ARBEZ LEMES - IELETHRA
RERTESRITA) 2 EMEA
WIEEEER 2 EE -

RB|EIR - AEBIATZINEFT
BEZBRARERTESRMTAZER

instruments at the end of the reporting period are set out as EEEY T :
follows:

2021 2020
—EB-—-F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FA&T
US$ ETT 79,339 17,052
A$ JEIT 646,856 359,920
GBP HgE 88,015 11,092
CAD T 198,635 98,081

TARFERAT
o0 | 2933
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e) Foreign currency price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% (2020:
10%) increase and decrease in HK$ against foreign currencies
and all other variables are held constant. US$ is not included
in sensitivity analysis, as HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group
does not expect any significant movements in the US$/HK$
exchange rate. 10% (2020: 10%) is the sensitivity rate used by
the management in the assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in post-tax profit (2020: decrease in post-
tax loss) for the year where foreign currencies strengthen 10%
(2020: 10%) against HKS. For a 10% (2020: 10%) weakening
of foreign currencies against HK$, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the post-tax profit (2020: post-tax loss) for

31.

B BHmRMEE(E)

T —FRA=ZTHLEFE

BERBREERSEMIAZ
YNSENT )

(e) FMHE{EHE LB ()

HREDM

T%Ei’i%%%ﬁ%ﬁ%&l\%‘
R EARTKRION(ZZE-F
10%) 2 8RS - A HAb! *E
%TW """"" o LW ARFAMBURE
DT - ESITEETEE - AEE
%E%%T’EPL?%?EZETT\@%E
AIEREE - 10%(—BE-TF :
10%) HEREFHINSER A
Bl B ATE A 2 BURELLE o
TEIJE%%E\M\%E}E%%@O%
(_7_? 10% ) BFEBRI
BN ZE_ZF : RE&EE
)R IEIR o BINE KB E

the year. 10%(Z BT : 10%) JA¥T
FEBRBRREMN(ZT-TF :
BIEER) ERERRRTE
2021 2020
—EB=-—F —TEHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT
Increase in post-tax profit FE %%R?éiﬁ%'ﬁbﬂ 93,351 46,909
(2020: decrease in post-tax loss) (ZE-ZF : BFiE
for the year EERL)

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments, including listed securities held-for-trading, unlisted
equity investments and listed securities not held within the
trading portfolios. The management of the Group manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk and return profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the listed equity securities exposure to price risk at the end of
the reporting period. If equity price (in the relevant currencies in
which the investments are denominated) had been 30% higher/
lower (2020: 30% higher/lower) and all other variables are held
constant, post-tax profit for the year ended 30 June 2021 would
increase/decrease by HK$383,448,000 (2020: post-tax loss
would decrease/increase by HK$206,237,000). This is mainly
due to the changes in fair value of listed securities held-for-
trading and listed securities not held within the trading portfolios.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the unlisted equity investments at FVTPL exposure to price risk
at the end of the reporting period. If equity price (in the relevant
currencies in which the investments are denominated) had
been 30% higher/lower (2020: 30% higher/lower) and all other
variables are held constant:

— post-tax profit for the year ended 30 June 2021 would
increase/decrease by HK$15,722,000 (2020: post-tax loss
would decrease/increase by HK$2,487,000) as a result of
changes in fair value of unlisted equity investments at FVTPL
of HK$52,406,000 (2020: HK$8,291,000).

B 7% B B
DNEE @)

——FXA=THILFE

EEREMIAZ

Zii’illﬁhé{(&%?ﬂ

E5 3E£mﬂx$&,§&1#
Hf’EE‘iE%ﬂ/\ZLm B 75 ) A
RERR AEEEEEEBHA
g e BRER TR 2R EHE T
EEERERER

HREDN

A TBREED T IR REAR LT

BARFES 2 BREKRET o BRER
REE(AZSREZRBESR
BEHE) EF TRR30%(ZZE=F
F 0 BFREE30%) AT A E A
HERFINE HE_Z-_—FX

B=1+BIFEZBRB&REREE
hn /@ 40 383,448,000 T ( — =
ZEF - BREEBEBEM RS
206,237,000/ 7C) ° I ZHFIE
BEEZCEMESRWIREEHRE
AEBEZ L&A AT EEEM
Sl#e o

A TEBE DT TYIRREPRIZAD
FENBRRERIE Y IE FTHRAR
B2 ERRARET - BRRBAER
(AZERE 2 HBEHEEEE)
FE,/ TH30%(ZE-T4F : F
=,/ NF30%) META H e R
BHAE

— HAREAFEREZEKRER
ZHEETRAEE 2 AFEE
52,406,000 T (=& = F
& 1 8,291,000/8 T ) B A #
B BE_T-_—FXA=1
B It FE 2 BT 1& 5w A5
0,/ 3@ 415,722,000 7T (=
T_TF : REBREEBR
L /18 902,487 00078 7T) °

BAERERAR
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHEZ-_—FA=THLFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BXEKMETERSRMIAY
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) ANEE @)

236

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its convertible
notes at FVTPL, which were issued by the Private Entity, and
derivative financial instruments (the warrants) at the end of the
reporting period with changes in fair value to be recognised in
the profit or loss. The fair value adjustment of these financial
instruments would be affected positively or negatively, among
others, by changes in equity price of the issuers.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 30 June 2021, if the equity price of the unlisted convertible
notes at FVTPL and the underlying equity securities of the
warrants had been 30% (2020: 30%) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the fair values of the unlisted
convertible notes at FVTPL and the warrants will increase/
decrease and the Group’s post-tax profit would increase/
decrease by HK$13,271,000 (2020: the Group’s post-tax loss
would decrease/increase by HK$6,331,000).

Commodity price risk

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk as the
Group’s sales and purchases are subject to provisional pricing
arrangements, predominantly iron ores prices. The Group has
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

This note provides information about how the Group determines
fair values of various financial assets and financial liabilities.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

RRERR  AEEREZATFE
KB REIENMLATRMEITH
MEEERITAES M T AGRR
) mMmisEmERRR - B
RNHEEHRBEAER - ZF
MTANDFEFBAER(ES
B BT ARTBE A ER S M
XEEEHEEZE -

BRED

R -—FNA=1+H  &&%
NFERERREEANIE AR
[& = MR RERE AR AR AN B 5
R ARERE EF TRR30% (==
ZEF  30%) M A EMmEER
BFAE - B AFERNERREE
K IE T AT R AR R X FR AR A RE A
NFERE I, 5D M AN E B G
i 1% i A& 00, 4> 13,271,000
BL(ZEZFF : X5EKBRH
1% E518 8 8 > 15 506,331,000
JT) °

& R B AR LR

AEETAZEMERRR - E&
AEBEERGREERHHELER
(X2 RAKIHE) - AREERE
FrRlE A SR ER R - WH
R E BEPEL o

AW R EA B AR R A S (T
EETASHEERSRABZA
i -



For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial instruments are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at Fair value as at
Financial instruments 30 June 2021 30 June 2020
RZE--FXA=+tR RZZ-TE A=1H
$MIA ZAVE ZDRVE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
(1) Equity securities held within
the trading portfolios
REBEERIE L RAES
- Listed equity securities 1,134,298 629,058
- FikAES

- Unlisted equity securities 33,874 -
- LMRAES

- Unlisted equity securities 4,280 =
-3k FRAES

- Unlisted equity securities 11,224 -
— 3 EMRAES

——FXA=THILFE

BRREEREMIAEZ
DFE )

Fair value
hierarchy

DYEER

Level 1
2R

Level 2
2R
Level 2
FR

Level 3
E=

NEREERAFENEY
AEESHEERSMAM
2 AV

AEEzHheREENSRAR

REERERRIEATHESAE - T
REJIARN M EE XSS TA
ZAFEER (KR 2 RAN
HERIM REARE) -

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

EERNRBRGARE

Quoted bid prices in active markets
RS RGN EAE

Recent Transaction Method under market approach
Tk MRAR S A

Index Retum Method under market approach

mimA MERORA

The market approach was used to determine the
valuation by volatiity and the lack of marketabil'rty
ﬁgg GERBRERRZ NS RAENET

At 30 June 2021, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of discount for lack of
marketabiity by 5%, with all other variables held
constant, would have decreased/increased the
Group's fair vale of investment by HK$471,000.

RIB-—ExA=1H EfEERESR

WERT BT %//\LL‘%E’]EE

BEEEN/B5% AERRANATE

5D,/ 4T1,000 7T °

BAERERAR
3R 2021
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value as at Fair value as at
Financial instruments 30 June 2021 30 June 2020
R-B--£AR=+R WNT-FFAA=TH
$RIA ZDTE ZATE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL Tin
() Convertible notes
AREE
- Issued by the Private Entity - 9,690
-ERAERET
(8)  Equity securities not held
within the trading portfolios
VFREERENEEL
- Unlisted equity securities - 7,067
—FETRAES
- Unlisted equity securities 3,028 1,224
— 3 ETRAES
- Listed equity securities 205,206 58,398
— ERAES

238 APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

N KEREEREMIAY
YNSZLERT )

UREEERANFEFEZ
rEEEHMEERSHMERE
ZAFE @)

Fairvalue  Valuation technique(s)
hierarchy  and key input(s)
AVHEER MHERNRBRBANE

Level 3 Binomial model with an expected volatility of
F=H 20% (notes () and i)
ZIRA R REERER R20% M) K i)

Level 3 Discounted cash flow and a discount rate of
E=H 27.9% for business valuation (notes (j) and (i)
HREKGE RRRRESRE  BRXA

21 % R i)

Black-Scholes Option Pricing model and an
expected volatiity of 20% for equity allocation

HRERAE  RARRR - FRMNHE
EEER - BEREER0%

Level 3 Price to book multiples with reference to

2= the market price of companies comparable
to the investee and the investee’s net asset
value and a discount rate of 13%
(2020: 13%) (note (j)

FRERNG2ZAWENBERERAM
ERBBRENAEEFERMREMNI13%
(ZBF 13%)(frzy)

At 30 June 2021, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of discount for lack of
marketability by 5%, with all other variables
held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group’s post-tax profit by
HK$173,000.

RZBZ—ExA=1R EFfFAREZER
BAEMEAT itz manditai
BEREN/F 5% AEBHRFIERT
WD,/ 1173,000 7T °

Level 1 Quoted bid prices in active markets
NIRRT ARNEAE

Eﬁlﬁ
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value as at Fair value as at
Financial instruments 30 June 2021 30 June 2020
RZBZ-£XA=+R HZZ-ZF, A=1H
$RIA AN LATE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THR T
(4)  Derivative financial 44,236 11,414
instruments - Warrants
(TESBIA - TR
(5) Trade receivables designated 106,299 6,273
at FVTPL
RERATEREREREL
BRI
(6) Trade payables designated 28,916 61,852
at FVTPL
EERATERERRRE .
B HENES
Notes:

()  The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the discount rate.
(i)  The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the volatility.
(i)  The investee is in solvency problem which the management of the

Group expects the fair value of such financial instruments are of nil value
as at 30 June 2021.

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3 during both
years.

E - —FRNA=ZTHIEFE

HE-Z

N KEREEREMIAY
YNSRERE)

Fair value
hierarchy

LVEER

Level 2
FZf

Level 2
B

UREEERANFEFEZ
rEEEHMEERESHEE
ZAFE @)

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

fhERNRBERBARE

Black-Scholes Model with references to
the quoted prices in active markets and
volatiity of underlying shares

KRN - SRERRT2EERTSRE
MiABRGH R

Derived from quoted prices in active markets
after considering credit risk of the assets

FENEREEL FRRRK CRRNSRE

Derived from quoted prices in active markets
after considering credt risk of the liabilties
RERZRAR FERRE L ERTSRE

it -
() AFEFEHEAREKRLEEE -
(i) AFETEEFEEBBKIELER -

(i) WILEQRHIBEBEHEE &
EEEEEES  RZTEZ—FAX
A=+tBE@emIANAFES

=

RREFEAR - E—FK  F_BR
FE=R oz EA R o

BAERERAR
3R 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE_ZT-—FX A=1tHILtFE

e P BHmRE(E)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3i.
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

BERBREERSEMIAZ
YNSENT )

(h) eI AEZAFETE@

(h) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

CREEZE=RATE

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

measurements of financial assets EZHER
Unlisted
Convertible equity
notes securities
at FVTPL at FVTPL Total
BAYE BAYE
RIBRER REEFR
BBz BEZHE
MERBREE LHRAERS &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET FAET
At 1 July 2019 KRB NF+A—A 10,873 21,369 32,242
Interest income (Note 8) FBWA(HEES) 1,100 = 1,100
Addition RE = 1,361 1,361
Loss arising from changes REEBER 2 ATE (2,283) (14,439) (16,722)
in fair value recognised FBEELE
in profit or loss (Note 7) B8 (HaE7)
At 30 June 2020 and RZZE-ZEFXA=+H 9,690 8,291 17,981
1 July 2020 - FF+HA—H
Additions NE = 8,262 8,262
Loss arising from changes RERER 2 ATE (9,690) (2,301) (11,991)
in fair value recognised FEELEEE
in profit or loss (Note 7) (H1z27)
At 30 June 2021 R=ZE=—FA=+H = 14,252 14,252

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



For the year ended 30 June 2021 BHE_FT-—FA=THIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BXEKMETERSRHITAY
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) ANEE @)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements of financial assets (Continued)

The net unrealised loss during the year ended 30 June 2021
relating to financial assets that are held at the end of the
reporting period which are measured at fair value and are in
level 3 in the fair value hierarchy is HK$11,991,000 (2020:
HK$16,722,000). Such fair value gain/loss is included in “other
gains and losses” line item in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities carried at other than fair
value

The management of the Group estimates the fair value of its
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost using the discounted cash flows analysis and considers that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurement and valuation process

The chief financial officer of the Company is responsible to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of financial instruments, the Group
uses market observable data to the extent it is available. Where
level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The chief financial
officer of the Company works closely with these valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in
determining the fair value of various financial instruments are
disclosed above.

ERMEEZE=ZRDFE
EZHR@)

HE-_Z-_—FXA=1+HLF
B RBEBRREEEZEAFER
2EABRE=ZHRATEELZ®
MEENHEBEARERFEEA
11,991,000 T (=T Z T F -
16,722,000 7T ) - Z A FE W
/BB ARG A BERIEM
s R EE]—I8 -

W FEEXFEIIRZAEH
TRHEERERMAEBZILT
|

AEEEEEGFTENMRRSR
ENMEBHRAAEZSREE
keE@MaEzAYE BRBHEE
FATEARN R A IR SHA AN R 8% 2 &
MEEMERABZEMERLA
FERE °

DNTEFERMAERRE

ARBEEMBERERAFER
EEEEENGERNRE AR
e

R —BE R T AN R FER -
AEERAAFNHSABREHK
% o HE—MBARBTASG - A
SEZREE=AEBRMEMETT
e - ARBERMBE EZEMS
EMZ Y& EAE A E 1
B ERIT R ABUE -

BREESRT R T AR FEMK
REERM LB ARBNERR £
XK

DAERERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

e P BHmRE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

32. COMMITMENTS 32. &I
() Capital commitments (i) BEAHKIE
Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting RNIRE R ETA B SN RIEZREE
period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows: BEREARFAENT -
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Contracted for: BETH)
Acquisition of an associate through i i@ Ug B — &2 &) 2k 102,582 -
acquisition of a company L BE Bt 22 N &)

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY AND/OR
CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related
parties and/or connected parties during the year and balances with
related parties and/or connected parties at the end of the reporting
period:

(a) Transactions and balances with subsidiaries of

e B EHmRIE(E)

HE_Z-_—FXA=THILFE

BEXBBLIR REESXS

FRAM IS mR BB et 2 22 5
O REERF N R T S
FTEUATR G R s BIR A LA T E2RE
BTN Sk REE T 2 AR

(a) EAEEE R BIMGXZ & 2 |

an associate, MGX: RN
2021 2020
—EB=-—F —TEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Purchase of commodities EEEm 330,329 398,350
Trade payables designated EEERAFERBSERERE 28,916 61,852

at FVTPL (Note 23) 2B HRNERR(H:t23)

Other receivables (Note 21) Emb U Rk (A at21) - 4,769

The Group entered into several commodity contracts with MGX
to purchase certain quantities of iron ores from MGX for which
the prices were based on the respective lump and fines Platts
Iron Ore Price. The Group is required to take physical delivery
of the iron ores from MGX in accordance with terms of the
commodity contracts.

The trade payables due to subsidiaries of MGX is unsecured,
interest free and repayable in cash within 90 days of invoices.

The other receivables due from subsidiaries of MGX is
unsecured, interest free, repayable on demand and will be
settled in cash. No provision for doubtful debts for the other
receivables was recognised during the year ended 30 June 2021
(2020: HK$ nil).

REBEMCXATZE TEMA K
ABIMGX R B — & # &/ # &
A ARERDREBREINES A
MEXHBEAEMETE - RIEER
BRIER - NREBEZABMGXEY
ZWEHEA ©

F& 1t MGX Y B 2 7] 8 B 5 FE 1 AR
FIEER - 2B RANERMN0
BAMAREX

JE U MGX EL At Y 8 2 =) 1O & 5 &
WRRR Ty IR - 2 B RAREK
MRS &N - RBE-FT——FX
A=1THLEFE  EREEK
ERERARERE (T _FF
FHIL) -

BAERERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED A HmARNE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE_ZE-_—FA=Z+tHILFE

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY AND/OR B.EABEAIR HEBEHX

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) Z ()

(b) Transactions and balances with Allied Group (b) EFESEEARA T ([ B
Limited (“AGL”), a substantial shareholder of EEB|)( AEXATNEER
the Company exercising significant influence R O RKATITEEARE
over the Company, and its wholly-owned EH)REZEWELATZ
subsidiary: R NEEe

2021 2020
—E=_—F —T_EHF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Reimbursement to AGL the actual 1R iE 4 TTBZHW%&”@EE il5 2,332 2,078
costs incurred in respect of Bolihs o sM
administrative services and a ZERERENEE E’ME
portion of actual costs incurred B MAEBREITHARS
in respect of management, FrEEH 2 BN R R {1
consultancy, strategic, internal EIE - BRI - KRS - b
audit, management information EZ - BEREAMARSEMN
system consultancy and business  } 275525 RIS FTE L 2
advice services provided by senior BB A (A HE S EE
management and selected staff of  {EHES
AGL to the Group in accordance
with the relevant sharing of
administrative services and
management services agreements
Reimbursement to Allied Properties 1B 5 48 8 & 12 R 7% 9 # 13 = 164
(H.K)) Limited (“APL”"), a substantial % & Bt AME(EB)E
shareholder of the Company and RAGI([BEE] - A
a subsidiary of AGL, a portion of ARAREEBRREBEE
actual costs incurred in respect of HBAR) 2 ke
management services provided BEMETREB MAS
by senior management and E R ERRIGFTEE 2
selected staff of APL to the Group 310 B FRE AN (A5 & H E
in accordance with the relevant VEH Bt
sharing of management services
agreement
Rental and building management A EERS & 1,567 1,609
expenses payable to AGL (note () 1EFEIRE (K1)
Amount due to AGL (included in FENE S EEZB(GTAEM 726 725
other payables) (note (i) FESHBRFR) (H7a2i))
Future minimum lease payments FEISEE A B A RRKIE
payable to AGL (note (i) THET‘JL R ( Hiat)
— within one year —F LA 1,441 1,207
— after one year but not more than ~ — —¢{§15 NEBARF 1,081 -
five years
2,522 1,207
Present value of lease liabilities ENBASEHERERE
payable to AGL (note (i) ( BiEE0)
— within one year —F R 1,402 1,182
— after one year but not more than ~ ——FR&EBTBBAF 1,006 -
five years
2,408 1,182
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY AND/OR
CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances with Allied Group
Limited (“AGL”), a substantial shareholder of
the Company exercising significant influence
over the Company, and its wholly-owned

subsidiary: (Continued)

Notes:

e B EHmRIE(E)

HE_Z-_—FXA=THILFE

WEXEBIRRBAELTX

2 (i)

(b) BB S EEARA A (B
SEE D) (RERATETER
R AHARATEERY
EHREZERBATZ
REREEE - @)

WizE

0

(i

The Group entered into a two-year lease in respect of a leasehold
property from AGL for use as office. The amount of rent payable by the
Group under the lease is approximately HK$120,000 per month (2020:
HK$134,000 per month).

At 30 June 2021, the total future minimum lease payments and present
value of lease liabilities in respect of the leased property payable to AGL,
which is included in lease liabilities as set out in Note 24 are disclosed
above.

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the lease rentals and building
management expenses paid or payable to AGL is HK$1,567,000 (2020:
HK$1,609,000) as disclosed above.

The amount due to AGL is unsecured, interest free and repayable in
cash on a monthly cost basis.

(i)

AEBRABAEERARENE
EABRAE  FTUMFEMRL - K
SEREBEHAONESNHESESALN
120,000/ T(ZZE -2 : & A
134,000 7T) °

R-ZB-—FXxA=+H HEE
L G Ty L e Ve s
4 B RE R B R - 5 AR
H2BIBMAEERE  YEREX
W -

REBE-Z=-—F< A=+BLHF
B ENEMTHASENHEE
HeREFEEE HB1,567,000/4 T
(ZZ=Z4F :1,609,000/87T) ' B
R -

A RENFERERR 2
BRERGAEMEENRSEE -

DAERERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED A HmARNE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE_ZT-—FX A=1tHILtFE

/|

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY AND/OR 3. EAEHAK REEHRX
CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 5 (1)

(c) Transactions and balances with Best (c) EEEf & &R B 2 Bt & A R Best

Advantage, an associate of AGL:

AdvantageZ X 5 R & 6f -

2021 2020

B ZETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Interest income from loan receivable JEUE = > FI| B WA 11,630 10,692
Loan receivable (Note 19) FEWE R (HaE19) 216,784 197,764

On 23 May 2019, the Group entered into a revolving loan
agreement with Best Advantage to make a revolving loan in
the amount not exceeding HK$235,000,000 available to Best
Advantage. Details of this revolving loan agreement are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 23 May 2019.
This transaction is a continuing connected transaction and is
approved by shareholders of the Company in the special general
meeting held on 9 July 2019.

On 9 July 2021, the maturity date of this loan was extended
from 12 July 2021 to 12 July 2024 and the revolving loan limit is
increased from HK$235,000,000 to HK$260,000,000.

At 30 June 2021, a reversal of expected credit loss of
HK$96,000 (2020: an expected credit loss of HK$221,000) was
recognised for the outstanding loan receivable due from Best
Advantage.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

RZZT—NAEFEA-_+=ZH ' K
% [F 22Best Advantages] M ERE
% o LAAIBest Advantaget® i
1B 35235,000,0008 T B IR E
H o BRZBREN BRNFIEH
RARBBEA-_Z—HLFERA
ZH=B2RE - HBERSARFE
BELS IR -—E—NFLAR
AETHRREFRIAE LERAF]
R B4 o

R-ZB-—FtANB  WEZRN
AR E-—F+A+=H
EE—T-_NF+A+=HREEE
IR B 7K PR %8 /1 235,000,000 7T 1%
Z£260,000,000/ 7T ©

RZZE=——F"A=1+AH ' 5EK
Best Advantagef #1828 B ZUHER
TEHi = BB 1B 1 [2196,00078 T (=
T_ZTF  REEEEE221,000
EIT) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY AND/OR
CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d) Transactions and balances with SHK BVI, an
indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL.:

e B EHmRIE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

BEABEHSR, REEHR
2 (%)

(d) EBESEEREETEES
2K B A TISHK BVIZ X 5

Nisek .

2021 2020

—EB-—fF —TEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Interest income from loan notes ERER ZF B U A 180 1,010
(Notes 6(a) and 8) (H1:£6(a)%8)

Loan notes (Note 20) BERER(MiE20) 3,924 3,916

(e) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management who are directors of the
Company and members of the senior management of the Group
during the year, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in Note 11 is set out as follows:

(e) TEEE A B R

TREBAB(RARAEERAR
SESREREKB)RNFAZH
B(REMHE N AREZENE
RAEFFR)FINMOT

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHT

Short-term employee benefits MHEIEE T 19,244 8,479
Post-employment benefits BB ET 165 158
19,409 8,637

The remuneration of key management is determined by
the remuneration committee having regard to the position,
experience, qualification and performance of the individuals and
market trends.

Certain key management personnel of the Group received
remuneration from AGL and APL which provided management
services to the Group and charged the Group a fee for services
provided by these personnel. Details of the management
services and the related expenses are set out in Note 33(b) and
such key management personnel related expenses are included
in the amounts disclosed above.

TREBABZHFMIBFMEE
SREBEMAL 2B - £
BEMKRUARMEBBEE -

AEBETEZIBEEAEBRAAXR
SERHE IR IR 2 B S 5 B e
B HEEEGHBN - kA 5 R
BHERZFABREZREFAA
SEWRER - AREIERYE M
BRI X 2 FIEHN B0 R E
WIEEEABRBRAXEIALX
P EE SRS -

DABERERAA
F 1R 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2021

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY AND/OR
CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(ff Compensation of senior management
personnel

Included in the key management personnel of the Group are
three (2020: three) senior management personnel of which
two (2020: two) are also directors of the Company. An analysis
of remuneration paid and payable to the senior management
personnel of the Group during the year is set out as follows:

e P BHmRE(E)

HE-T-—FRA=TALEE

BEAEEAIR, BREEHFR
2 (%)

() SREEASRM

AEETBZEEABBRE=R(Z
T_TEZR)RREEAE
HPME(ZE_ZF : WB)NAE
ARBES - FRDN RENAE
EeREEABZEHFMOMAOT :

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Short-term employee benefits 45 HAE B 1& K| 17,378 6,538
Post-employment benefits BRI R T 157 151
17,535 6,689
The emoluments were within the following bands: BENFATEE -
2021 2020
2 —T_TF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AH A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1 1

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L% 1,500,000 7T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000 7T
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7T Z5,000,0005 7T
HK$15,500,001 to HK$16,000,000 15,500,001 7T % 16,000,0005% 7T
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

&

z= —

4= —

——FXA=THILFE

34. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING 34. $R&HiRE =18
PERIOD

Other than these disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, there are other significant events after the end of the
reporting period, as follows:

@M

(i)

(i)

On 2 August 2021, Mr. Andrew Ferguson, the director and
chief executive officer of the Company had been appointed as
director of Mabuhay Holdings Corporation (“Mabuhay”) of which
29.83% equity interest was acquired by the Group during the
year ended 30 June 2021. On 2 August 2021, Mabuhay became
an associate of the Group. Mabuhay is a company incorporated
in the Philippines with its shares listed on the Philippine Stock
Exchange. Mabuhay is a holding company principally engaged
in the acquisition and disposition of investments in securities,
stocks, real properties and of investments in other entities.

On 29 June 2021, the Company proposed a bonus issue of
warrants to the qualifying shareholders of the Company on
the basis of one warrant for every 5 shares held on the record
date. A total of 243,778,782 warrants have been issued by the
Company on 7 September 2021 pursuant to the bonus warrants
issue, conferring the rights to the holders to subscribe in cash for
243,778,782 new shares of the Company at an initial exercise
price of HK$1.20 per new share (subject to adjustment) at any
time during the period of thirteen months from 7 September
2021 to 6 October 2022 (both days inclusive).

On 14 May 2021, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Purchaser”) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with
Allied Properties Overseas Limited (the “Vendor”), being an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, (i) the Purchaser shall acquire and the Vendor shall
sell the entire issued share capital of Allied Properties Resources
Limited (the “Target Company”); and (i) a shareholder’s loan
in the principal amount of HK$412,260,366 due to the Vendor
by the Target Company shall be assigned by the Vendor to
the Purchaser, for a consideration of HK$102,581,817.50
(collectively, the “Transaction”). The principal asset of the
Target Company was 41,032,727 shares or approximately
25.83% of issued share capital of Dragon Mining Limited
(“Dragon Mining”), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. Dragon Mining is principally engaged in the operation
of gold mines and processing facilities in Finland and Sweden.
All conditions precedent of the Transaction were fulfilled and
the Transaction was completed on 13 August 2021. After
completion of the Transaction, Dragon Mining becomes an
associate of the Group.

(i)

(i)

% Te M EmER A E Mo PR
RIREHARE AU THMERSE
RZZ_—F)\AZH  ARA7A
B E 1T F Andrew Ferguson
%t 4 ¥ £ 1T A Mabuhay Holdings
Corporation ( [ MabuhayJ ) By E
FAEBRRBE-_TS_—F X
A= +E¢¢FW%§%&%
pE- R E-—FENA-H "
Mabuhay (AR BB AT

Mabuhay?%—FﬁﬁAﬁﬁ?igﬁfﬂﬁﬁX_L
MR HRGEFEEEFEFR
%ﬁﬁtm Mabuhay & — R A

A TEREURBREEES H“
%\%iﬁ?ﬁﬁ&,\ AMREAE
BHRE -
R-ZZB-_—FXNA_1TNAH AR
AEFEMANR RS BERRRIRERL

B HEEAESRRHEE1HR
PR S Hy £ EHEITAL R Hﬁﬁé;’i%ﬁ
TeARRFECR-_ZE-_—FNA
t HIRELAFR Hxﬁé"*%ﬁ:./\
?’*ﬁ2437787821ﬁp AERERE i
%hﬁM&ﬂTEﬂ_Zﬁ:—in
AtHZ-_ZE-_—_F+AXB(E
FEREMX)+=EA B AR
Tﬁ%ﬂfu/u,ﬁfﬁlﬂx%ﬁﬂxf’ﬁ1 20/%7'5
(AT FHAE)  LBRESREARQ
243,778,782 # A% {7 °

=T FRA+TWA @ AR
MNEEZEWNBARI(TER])®
Allied Properties Overseas Limited
([EF] - A :.;‘%@E’Jf'%%iﬁ
MEBAR - MEEEEEAERRD
E@Exﬂxﬁ)ﬂjﬁﬁfﬁzmwﬁﬁ
gl - RIBEERZ)E 7K
8 i B 77 19 I & Allied Properties
Resources Limited([ BE2R T )&
EREBEITREAS ¢ K (i) B 2 A B FEST
FE 5 A% 58 5412,260,366 78 7T
MR R SRS hE S EETE S -
KB 5102,581,817.5078 T (478
BIXB]) - BIEARTE 5?‘7%
41,032,727l g fn - IEBE B R
Fﬁtﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁiﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬂﬂﬁéﬁ
R BT AR 4)25.83%  BE&
7‘%1%&%@%&%@%%“%%%
MINTEHE - RSB FTAE RGN
BEENK  REFR_ZT=_—F)\A
T=A%M - RHTRE AR
MAERNEE—[EEE A a o

RZE——
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

34. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, there is a decline
in share price of MGX. At the date when the consolidated
financial statements are authorised for issue, the fair value of the
Group’s investment in MGX reduced to HK$1,165,440,000. The
decline in fair value may impact the impairment loss on interests
in associates for the year ending 30 June 2022.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the directors of
the Company recommended a final dividend of HK10 cents per
share and a special dividend of HK10 cents per share for the
year ended 30 June 2021 (2020 interim dividend (in lieu of a final
dividend): HK10 cents per share) subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the directors
of the Company proposed to seek shareholders’ approval
by way of a special resolution to adopt the new bye-laws
of the Company and by way of an ordinary resolution to
increase the authorised share capital of the Company from
HK$2,000,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares to
HK$3,000,000,000 divided into 3,000,000,000 shares by the
creation of an additional 1,000,000,000 new shares. These
resolutions will be proposed for shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

E - —FRNA=ZTHIEFE

HE-_Z

34, HEAREBEE @)

(v)

(vi)

RBEBHRE - MGXHIRE T
B o MRS IRREREERE
B AEBERMGXH R E M A F
&R 2 1,165,440,000/8 7T ° A F
ETUAeerE =S -_—F
NA-THEIEFERBE QAR E
= RBEEE -

RImERRR - AARESZHIK
BHE_T-_—FRA=1HIL
FEZRBREERI10EBM(=F
—EERHRE(RERBERE

A0 RAF R E 1078
il EBFARRBRRRNEREAR
AIBCRIBF ARG EHER T A {E

E==

g °

AMmEBRE - AR ESFHEI
B RIR R I TR AR R R AR
RABFAFME A HE - A
RAEBRZRAN - BIER
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

35. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments and a new standard which are
not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2021 and which have
not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments’
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?
Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Phase 24

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related

amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)!
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies!
and HKFRS Practice
— statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 16

Disclosure of Accounting Estimates!

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20202

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

None of the amendments have had a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any
new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

B

pay

ETE-—FRAZTHILEE

B.ERMEHEE—_Z-_—F

A=+t HILEFEHRERD
1E7] ~ AT ER R 2RBAY A
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BERSUWBHHRERTIE LB BESR
RSB RITEZHEIAR—HME
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=tHIEFERRER - BEAREZEY
TR RA - BARERBEAIEEEAR
SEABN TIIAR :

ERORREENE TR RRADRABEEIN

BiBES RS Rt SER:
ERGACHES!

EEMBREEDEE . RREENE-
BESHERNE0% - FoBR
BB REERET -

BB RS RS R
BN BREE
F165(BFE)

EANBRSENSE10% REBEEBENAY
REEGERE85H RELEHMEE
(1B3IA) HETES

BiEeshERE15 BEBNBERDYE
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E5FEERE A
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY B TS HLE

The results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five T ARNEBBT ABAVREE Y £ER
financial years, as extracted from the Group’s published consolidated EBEMEAE @ N AEEE A 248

financial statements are set out below: B TEERE
RESULTS -
Year ended 30 June
BERA=tHLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

B C—E-%F —E-NF ZE-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FET FET FHET FET
(notes (a) (notes (a)
and (b)) and (b)) (note (b))
(Hii#a) (H132(a)
K(b)) Kb) (Hiizw)
Revenue Uz 564,600 436,527 109,227 156,200 100,476
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRELRTR T (E518) 1,367,970 (429,402) 609,260 321,145 617,373
Income tax (expense)/credit Fisfi(Fx) Bk (10,680) 1 (828) 6,970 (68,778)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable Zx A 7] B A FE(S
to owners of the Company FERF/(BE) 1,357,290 (429,401) 608,432 328,115 548,595
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
As at 30 June
RAB=1H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$°000 HK$ OOO HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR TR THET THET

(notes (a) (notes (a)
and (b)) and (b)) (note (b))
Wee (e
Eb) Eb) (Hitw)

Total assets BERE 4,937,783 3,526,631 4,027,529 3,111,495 2,916,650

Total liabilities BEQRE (114,190) (90,823) (13,042) (69,171) (28,300)

Equity attributable to owners ViN/NGIL =D

of the Company (RS 4,823,593 3,435,808 4,014,487 3,052,324 2,888,350

Notes: Hiat -

(8) The results of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020 and the assets (@) AREHE—T - —FR_F_FHXA= +
and the liabilities of the Group as at 30 June 2021 and 2020 are figures after EUJ:ir_Z%ZE M&$E@EA T —FER—
application of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (‘HKFRS”) 16. Therefore, TTFAA=1+H Zﬁ?fﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂgﬁﬁ BB
the financial information for years 2021 and 2020 may not be comparable to that MBREER ([ EBMHEWMERA ) F 165118
of the previous years. BT A B —FR-ZF_TFZH

BEAR AR EARBEFE VB ERLR

(b) The results of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2021, 2020 and 2019 and (b)) AKEHE—ZT -~ " T-_TERF T

the assets and the liabilities of the Group as at 30 June 2021, 2020 and 2019 —NEFERA=THIEFEZEBEUARREER
are figures after application of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15. Therefore, the financial —EREC—F —E_TER_FT-AFAA
information for years 2021, 2020 and 2019 may not be comparable to that of the —THZEAEMABERERES B 75 2 7 A
previous years. EOTE R BB B MELRIFE1SHE 2 HT -

By —Z=—F - —Z_ZEK TN F
%%%ﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁiﬁ@&i@Z%%ﬁﬂm
L ©
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